
 

                         

 

 

 

                             

 

 

 

 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 

 

 

 

REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

 

SEPTEMBER 18, 2024 

 

 

 

AGENDA PACKET 

 

11



 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

AGENDA SEPTEMBER 18, 2024 
 
MEETING AGENDA – ADDITIONS/DELETIONS/CHANGES – Pages 4-6     
 
CONSENT AGENDA  
A. Approval of the Special Town Commission Meeting final minutes September 6, 2024 – Pages 7-11  
B. Approval of the Special Town Commission Meeting – Tentative Budget Hearing final minutes 

September 6, 2024 – Pages 12-15 
C. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop final minutes August 27, 2024 – Pages 16-21 
D. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop final minutes August 22, 2024 – Pages 22-28 
E. Approval of the Special Town Commission Meeting final minutes August 21, 2024 – Pages 29-31 
F. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting action minutes August 21, 2024 – Pages 32-39 
G. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop final minutes July 3, 2024 – Pages 40-43 
H. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop final minutes June 18, 2024 – Pages 44-49 
I. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting final minutes May 15, 2024 – Pages 50-57 
J. Approval of the site plan for 1609 Atlantic St – new home – Pages 58-124 

 
PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS/AWARDS 
A. Proclamation recognizing September 17th through September 23rd as Constitution Week – Page 125 
B. Presentation from the Parks Board on updates and recommendations on ongoing projects – Pages 

126-156 
C. Presentation from the Planning and Zoning Board on the tree cutting and replacement ordinance – 

Pages 157-162 
D. Recognition of Boy Scout Logan Knolmayer for the completion of his Eagle Scout project – 

Installation of fire hydrant reflectors throughout the Town of Melbourne Beach – Pages 163-164 
 
FINANCE/BUDGET REPORT – Pages 165-181 
 
DEPARTMENT AND BOARD/COMMITTEE REPORTS 
A. Public Works Department – Pages 182-183 
B. Building Department – Pages 184-191 
C. Code Enforcement – Pages 192-197 
D. Fire Department – Pages 198-201 
E. Police Department – Page 202 
F. Town Clerk – Page 203 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT – Pages 204-205 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
A. Consideration on filling the Town Commission seat vacated by Commissioner Adam Meyer – Pages 

206-220 
B. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop final minutes March 6, 2024 – Pages 221-229 
C. Consideration to offer reduced pricing on non-resident parking passes – Page 230 
D. Consideration on the design for an ADA compliant ramp on the Community Center – Pages 231-233 

22



NEW BUSINESS 
A. Consideration to allow legal team to put together a process and plan of action regarding 

investigating allegations of a toxic workplace – Pages 234-237
B. Consideration on holding a Town sponsored meet the candidate forum at Town Hall– Pages 

238-240
C. Materials and information related to mental health awareness and suicide prevention – Pages 

241-339
D. Consideration on a formal investigation into a complaint received by Human Resources – Pages 

340-346
E. Consideration on a private provider for the Building Official – Pages 347-378
F. Consideration on changing the date for the October Regular Town Commission Meeting – Page 379
ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS 
A. Town Attorney – Outline of the code enforcement process – Pages 380-382
B. Town manager – Page 383

TASK LIST – Pages 384-385 

33



Town of Melbourne Beach 
 

REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

Wednesday, September 18, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

AGENDA 
 

 

The Town Commission will conduct a Regular Town Commission Meeting 

on Wednesday, September 18, 2024 in the Community Center 

to address the items below 

 

 

Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 

 

 

Notice: Commission discussion and possible action may occur during any Commissioner Meeting. The following sections 

of the Agenda are always subject to such discussion and possible action without further motion by the Commission: 

Changes to the Agenda, Public Hearings, Unfinished Business, and New Business. 

The public is advised that members of the Town Commission may be in attendance and participate in proceedings of the 

board. Attorney General Opinions (AGO) AGO 91-95, AGO 98-14, AGO 2000-68. 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 286.0105, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE TOWN HEREBY ADVISES THE PUBLIC THAT: In order to appeal 

any decision made at this meeting, you will need a verbatim transcript of the proceedings. It will be your responsibility to 

ensure such a record is made. Such person must provide a method for recording the proceedings verbatim as the Town 

does not do so. 

In accordance with the Americans with Disability Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons needing special 

accommodations for this meeting shall, at least 5 days prior to the meeting, contact the Office of the Town Clerk at (321) 

724-5860 or Florida Relay System at 711. 

 

44



1. Call to Order  
 

2. Roll Call  
 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 
 

4. Meeting Agenda – Additions/Deletions/Changes 
 

5. Consent Agenda 

A. Approval of the Special Town Commission Meeting final minutes September 6, 2024 

B. Approval of the Special Town Commission Meeting – Tentative Budget Hearing final 

minutes September 6, 2024  

C. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop final minutes August 27, 2024 

D. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop final minutes August 22, 2024 

E. Approval of the Special Town Commission Meeting final minutes August 21, 2024 

F. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting action minutes August 21, 2024 

G. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop final minutes July 3, 2024 

H. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop final minutes June 18, 2024 

I. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting final minutes May 15, 2024 

J. Approval of the site plan for 1609 Atlantic St – new home 

 

6. Proclamations/Presentations/Awards  

A. Proclamation recognizing September 17th through September 23rd as Constitution Week 

B. Presentation from the Parks Board on updates and recommendations on ongoing projects 

C. Presentation from the Planning and Zoning Board on the tree cutting and replacement 

ordinance 

D. Recognition of Boy Scout Logan Knolmayer for the completion of his Eagle Scout project – 

Installation of fire hydrant reflectors throughout the Town of Melbourne Beach 

 

7. Finance/Budget Report 
 

8. Department and Board/Committee Reports 

A. Public Works Department 

B. Building Department 

C. Code Enforcement 

D. Fire Department 

E. Police Department 

F. Town Clerk 
 

9. Public Comment (Non-Agenda Items) 

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any 

topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   
 

10. Public Hearings/Special Orders 

 

 

55



11. Unfinished Business 

A. Consideration on filling the Town Commission seat vacated by Commissioner Adam Meyer 

– Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

B. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop final minutes March 6, 2024 – Town Clerk 

Amber Brown 

C. Consideration to offer reduced pricing on non-resident parking passes – Town Manager 

Elizabeth Mascaro 

D. Consideration on the design for an ADA compliant ramp on the Community Center – Town 

Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

 

12. New Business 

A. Consideration to allow legal team to put together a process and plan of action regarding 

investigating allegations of a toxic workplace – Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

B. Consideration on holding a Town sponsored meet the candidate forum at Town Hall – 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

C. Materials and information related to mental health awareness and suicide prevention – 

Mayor Alison Dennington  

D. Consideration on a formal investigation into a complaint received by Human Resources – 

Town Manager 

E. Consideration on a private provider for the Building Official – Town Manager Elizabeth 

Mascaro 

F. Consideration on changing the date for the October Regular Town Commission Meeting – 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 

13. Administrative Reports  

A. Town Attorney 

1) Outline of the code enforcement process 

B. Town Manager 
 

14. Commission Reports 
 

15. Task List 
 

16. Public Comment 
 

17. Adjournment 

66



1 | P a g e  

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 
SPECIAL TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 6, 2024 MEETING 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 
MINUTES 

 
Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Call to Order 

Mayor Alison Dennington called the meeting to order at 6:38 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Town Clerk Amber Brown   

Commissioner Marivi Walker     

          

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

 

77



2 | P a g e  

 

4. Public Comments – 2:13 

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any 

topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   

 

Gail Gowdy – 215 Ash – Congratulated the Mayor on the announcement today from the 

League of Cities. 

 

Jean Lewis – 506 Hibiscus Trail – Congratulated the Mayor. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about being appointed to the legislative advocacy committee 

for the League of Cities and being elected to the Board of Directors for the League of Mayors. 

 

5. New Business 

A. Discussion and Consideration on how to fill the Town Commission seat vacated by 

Commissioner Adam Meyer – 3:37 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about Commission vacancies are governed by Section 

2.04 of the Town Charter. The Commission has two options. One option is to appoint a 

qualified elector of the Town within 30 days, which in this case is by September 27th. The 

appointment would be for one year until the November 2025 election. Since there are 

four Commissioners, it would require an affirmative vote of three Commissioners. The 

second option is to have a special election and the Town would have to pay for that since 

it is not part of the general election. Those are the two choices. The Commission needs to 

decide which course of action you’d like to take. The second issue to consider is the cutoff 

date for any interested qualified electors to submit their name for consideration for 

appointment, if the Commission chooses to go that route.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the Commission is deciding if they would like to do 

it at all and if so decide on the procedure. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about if people want to submit their names for 

consideration, then set a cutoff date for that. You could have a cutoff date of next Friday, 

then hold a special meeting if you would like to speak with the individuals at a public 

hearing, or push it to the Regular Town Commission Meeting to make a decision on an 

appointment at that time.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about if they open the process for appointment and 

people apply that meet the minimum qualifications, but nobody likes anybody then it 

leaves it open, so it is not clear. Would prefer to vote on the process, get applications 

from that process, as long as one or more applicants meet the minimum qualifications 

then there is already a vote that someone is going to be chosen from that group. It would 

be more fair to agree ahead of time before you start receiving applications.  

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about if there is no appointment within 30 days then it 

has to go to a special election.  

88



3 | P a g e  

 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about appointing someone because a special election 

is too expensive and not necessary. Interested citizens should submit their resume by next 

Friday, and then vote on it on September 18th. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about agreeing with Commissioner Marivi Walker. 

Cannot agree to the unknown of an appointment regardless of who submits. If only one 

person applies and the Commission does not feel it is a good fit then the Commission can 

proceed in a different direction.  Have a deadline of next Friday and vote at the Regular 

Town Commission Meeting. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro asked about holding a Special Meeting before the 

Regular Commission Meeting to appoint someone. 

 

The Commission agreed to have a Special Commission Meeting at 5:00 pm. 

 

Gail Gowdy – 215 Ash Ave – Asked if the person is being appointed until November 2025. 

The Charter says until the next general election.  

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about the qualifying for this year's election has already 

passed, so it is too late to do it on this election. In order to get on the ballot, there is a 

qualifying period that has passed. Since you cannot get on the ballot for this upcoming 

election in November 2024 the only alternative would be through a special election. 

 

Pat Scordino – 500 Harland Ave – Spoke about being confused and asked if you appoint 

someone how long would they be in the seat, and does the Commission have someone in 

mind yet? 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about receiving emails from a couple of residents who 

are interested. The Commission has to appoint someone within 30 days otherwise they 

can no longer appoint someone and then it has to go to a special election. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about anyone can apply until next Friday. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the Town had to wait to update the 

residents on this until the Commission decided how to proceed. Now that they have, the 

Town will notify the residents, and anyone can apply by sending an email of intent, a 

resume would be great to her or the Town Clerk.  

 

Dawn Barlow – 1710 Pine St – Asked for clarification can any of the current candidates fill 

the seat.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the candidates can apply, but they might have to 

withdraw from running in the election. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about if a candidate was appointed they could not be 

elected in November because you cannot hold two seats at once.  

 

99



4 | P a g e  

 

Tim Reed – 302 Fourth Ave – Asked about the criteria for the people who apply for the 

appointment. Will it be similar to what the candidates have to do? Spoke about the Code 

says until the next general municipal election.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about they have to have the same qualifications, but 

they do not need to do the campaign documents. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about if there is a referendum between now and 

November 2025 would that end the term of the appointed Commissioner, and wanting 

the Town Attorney to go through the provisions to make it more clear. 

 

Tina Bove – 216 Ash Ave – Asked for clarification on how many candidates are running 

and about one of them filling the vacancy. Let the residents vote do not appoint someone. 

Let the residents put forth people then the Commission votes.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how before Commissioner Adam Meyer resigned 

there were two seats up for this election and there are 4 candidates. If the Commission 

decides to appoint then a list of interested people would be posted and then it would go 

to a meeting. Spoke about having interested people go out and get signatures like they 

are a candidate.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about being fine with that. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about how we have never done that previously, and it 

is a volunteer position for one year.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about how there is only one week to complete this. 

Thinks the signatures are a bad idea because people might be out of Town or unavailable 

to get signatures in that timeframe. Would be fine with a special election if it were not so 

expensive. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte left at 7:15 pm. 

 

Frank LaGrassa - 412 First Ave – Spoke about Commissioner Corey Runte being concerned 

about the cost of a special election, but approved the budget.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about not voting for it unless the signatures are required. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about the vote to appoint someone would take a 

majority of the Commission.  

 

Mike Bove – 216 Ash Ave – Urged the Commission to do an election and not do an 

appointment. Charge the residents to cover the cost of a special election.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte returned at 7:20 pm. 

 

 

 

1010



5 | P a g e  

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call 

 

Commission Members Present    Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington     Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Town Clerk Amber Brown  

Commissioner Marivi Walker  

 

Erika Orriss – 263 Loggerhead Drive – Spoke about other places that have had people 

apply, then do a speech, and allow the public to comment. 25 signatures is reasonable.  

 

Jean Lewis – 506 Hibiscus – Spoke about being concerned about the obvious fighting 

going on up there. Would rather see the residents vote even at $20,000 if it will avoid the 

fighting. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to proceed with the appointment process in lieu of a 

special election with the following conditions all applicants shall submit some form of application 

or resume and shall meet all qualification requirements set forth by our Charter due by Friday close 

of business the 13th of September and it will be voted on with applicants or not at the Regular 

Town Commission Meeting September 18th  with no signature requirement due to extenuating 

circumstances; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 3-1 with Mayor Alison 

Dennington dissenting. 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about voting against it because the cost of an election 

wasn’t too much, and not having the requirement of at least 25 signatures.  

Commissioner Corey Runte left at 7:26. 

6. Adjournment 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie moved to adjourn; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion 

carried 3-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 7:26 pm.   

       

       

            

       ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________    ______________________________  

Alison Dennington, Mayor     Amber Brown, Town Clerk  

1111



1 | P a g e  

 

 Town of Melbourne Beach 

 
SPECIAL TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 6, 2024 MEETING 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 
MINUTES 

 
Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Call to Order 

Mayor Alison Dennington called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Town Clerk Amber Brown   

Commissioner Marivi Walker     

          

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

Mayor Alison Dennnington led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

1212



2 | P a g e  

 

4. Public Comments – 1:23 

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any 

topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   

  

5. Public Hearings – 2:52 

A. Public Hearing on the Town’s Fiscal Year 2024/2025 (FY25) Millage Rate and Annual 

Budget – Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about being here tonight to vote on the tentative 

mileage rate and annual budget.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about getting the budget yesterday and wanting a 

document detailing the changes. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the changes that were made were at the 

direction of the Commission. They included the reduction of one police officer, moving the 

other police officer to be paid out of Ocean Park, addition of software for code 

enforcement, the addition of another part-time code enforcement officer, reduction of 

the millage which constituted a reduction in other line items to accommodate that, and 

eliminated the contingency.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked about where money was taken from. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about money was taken from several different 

places including the Fire Department, Law Enforcement, contingency, grounds keeping, 

reduced one officer and moved the other out of the Law Enforcement budget. Added 

money to legal fees, planning fees, and magistrate fees. Spoke about the Commission 

approved the Town Manager taking money from places to make the changes the 

Commission requested.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how hiring an additional officer might violate the 

Charter. Read and spoke about provision 3.06A of the Town Charter. Adding or removing 

positions changes the arrangement or potentially which the Charter says you have to go to 

referendum.  

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about the key provision of 3.06A is materially change. 

His interpretation of that would not be that the addition or deletion of a paid police officer 

would materially change the existing arrangement of law enforcement. Thinks what this is 

referring to is if the police force disbanded, or if the powers of the police shifted to the 

Sheriff’s office through an arrangement. Does not interpret staffing to be a material 

change to the police department.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about not agreeing because of the second provision. 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about staffing decisions would not need to go to the 

people through referendum. Staffing decisions are vested with the Town Commission to 

1313



3 | P a g e  

 

add or get rid of a police officer. Staffing is under 3.01B Powers of the Commission. Does 

not think it would be a violation of the Charter and believes any court would agree with 

his interpretation. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about disagreeing.  

 

Barbara Struttmann – 802 Pine St – Spoke about being against the Town raising property 

taxes. Against the 11% tax increase and anyone who supports it. Requested the 

Resolutions not be signed. 

 

Tim Reed – 302 Fourth Ave – Spoke about during the July 3rd Budget Workshop the 3 

Commissioners did not request any changes. The 5% pay raise across the board is very 

generous of that a flat 2% merit raise is unfair to the higher-performing employees. Using 

Ocean Park funds for a police officer is risky because the State might take the Park back.  

 

Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine – Spoke about echoing some of what Mr. Reed said. Does not 

think the current documents fully represent what was discussed at the last budget 

workshop. Due to the timeliness it is difficult to review and comment.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the document implies a decrease, but by State Law 

it is a tax increase.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the millage rate went down. The Town is 

earning more money in ad valorem taxes because of new construction.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about without a referendum, the Commission can 

increase up to 10%. The millage rate was reduced, but there is a 4.608% increase over last 

year. 

 

Jean Lewis – 506 Hibiscus Trail – Spoke about reading it on Nextdoor and thought it was a 

tax decrease because of the millage rate going down.  

 

Gail Gowdy – 215 Ash Ave – Spoke about the budget coming out so late and the 

misunderstanding that decreasing the millage means decreased taxes. Decrease it more.  

 

6. New Business 

A. Resolution 2024-06, Adopting the Tentative Millage Rate for the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 – 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro – 32:27 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH OF BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, 

ADOPTING THE TENTATIVE LEVYING OF AD VALOREM TAXES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024/2025; 

PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to adopt Resolution 2024-06 setting the tentative operating 

millage rate for fiscal year 2024-2025 at 4.4770 mills, which is greater than the rollback rate of 

4.2798 by 4.608%, and setting the tentative debt service millage rate at .2350 mills.;  

 

 

1414



4 | P a g e  

 

Roll Call Vote by Town Clerk 

Mayor Alison Dennington – Nay 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie – Aye  

Commissioner Corey Runte – Aye  

Commissioner Marivi Walker – Aye 

 

Resolution 2024-06 carried by a vote of 3-0 

 

B. Resolution 2024-07, Adopting the Tentative Budget for the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 – Town 

Manager Elizabeth Mascaro – 35:17 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH OF BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, 

ADOPTING THE TENTATIVE BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024/2025; PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to adopt Resolution 2024-07 setting forth the appropriations 

and revenue estimate for the tentative budget for fiscal year 2024-2025 in the amount of 

$4,582,113;  

 

Roll Call Vote by Town Clerk 

Mayor Alison Dennington – Nay  

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie – Aye 

Commissioner Corey Runte – Aye 

Commissioner Marivi Walker – Aye 

 

Resolution 2024-07 carried by a vote of 3-0 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about voting no because she believes this violates the 

Town Charter because any additions or deletions of positions for the police have to go to 

referendum. That money is the cause for the tax increase.  

 

7. Adjournment 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to adjourn; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion 

carried 4-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 6:37 pm.   

       

       

            

       ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________    ______________________________  

Alison Dennington, Mayor     Amber Brown, Town Clerk  

1515



1 | P a g e  

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 
TOWN COMMISSION WORKSHOP 

AUGUST 27, 2024 MEETING 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 
MINUTES 

 
Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

Commissioner Adam Meyer 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 
 
 

 

 

 

1. Call to Order 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Police Chief Tim Zander 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Town Clerk Amber Brown 

Commissioner Marivi Walker     

Commissioner Adam Meyer    

    

        

            

1616



2 | P a g e  

 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the supporting documents that were provided 

including a comparison of all positions with salaries from Melbourne Beach, Indialantic, and 

Satellite Beach, the second document is a quote from Garber for a police vehicle, and the 

third document is a list of the police department employees that were hired and left within 

the year’s time. 

 

4. Public Comments -  

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any 

topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   

  

Gail Gowdy – 215 Ash Ave – Asked about the recording and the capturing of the audio. Can 

that help to do the minutes? 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown spoke about the software does capture the audio, however, it is not 

completely accurate, it does not capture names, and it does not capture if someone’s 

microphone is off. She has spoken with other clerks around the State and no one has a perfect 

software to capture audio. Plus we do not do verbatim minutes, so parts would need to be 

deleted. She does not think technology is there quite yet. 

 

5. New Business 

 

A. Discussion regarding the FY 2024-2025 budget 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about suggestions from the last Budget workshop 

was to add a Deputy Town Clerk, increase the Code Enforcement Officer to full-time or 

hire a second part-time, reduce or eliminate a position the Police Department is asking for, 

and review the flat pay increase for the Police Department. She provided salary data from 

Satellite and Indialantic and reviewed the provided document.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about having enough information to make a decision, 

and thinks the best comparable is Indialantic. The questions to answer, are we adding 

employees if so one or two, and what salary modifications.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about wanting to reallocate some money to where it’s 

needed, have a moderate raise, and lower taxes. There are years that it will need to be 

raised, so when it can be lowered it should be. There has not been a large increase in 

population or crime. Does not think this amount of raise will make a big change in what 

officers we will get. Would like to see an organization chart, listing of all benefits by 

department or employee, and a list of the positions in the police department and how 

long they were empty.  

 

1717



3 | P a g e  

 

Police Chief Tim Zander spoke about not being able to compete with other county’s, but 

we need to compete within our county. Not asking to be in the top, just don’t allow us to 

be the bottom. This agency has been behind on officer safety for a really long time. Next 

year we will be in the same position like every other agency and position, but hopefully, 

the request will be for less.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about Melbourne Beach’s budget is a little less than 5 

million and Indialantic’s is 9.44 million.  

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about understanding being proportional based on 

revenue, but if you have one community with rich people and one community with poor 

people it doesn’t mean the poor people need fewer police officers. There are several 

factors. We need to 100% be able to compete with other Towns in our County. Whatever 

the amount is to be able to compete either $7,200 or $7,000. If we don’t deal with it now, 

next year we will still be in last and push the issue down the road. It needs to be dealt with 

at some point. It is concerning having an officer out on the road on their own without 

having any backup. However, the amount of increase in the budget is also a concern. 

There are a lot of places in the budget that can be adjusted to fund the officers, and not 

increase the budget. Could some parking funds cover part of an officer? Public safety is 

very important and there are a lot more people coming through Town. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about retention is important, and a part of that is 

environment, safety, and pay. We need to have at least two officers that are capable of 

protecting our citizens at any time. Perhaps we could push the capital projects like a police 

vehicle over one year, if it will make a difference in the budget. Another item that might 

be able to be adjusted is gas and oil for all of the departments. Look at the current years 

budget and how much has been spent and perhaps those numbers for all departments can 

be increased. Perhaps equipment maintenance across the board could be slightly reduced. 

Is in favor of the increase because we cannot lose our safety.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about Fund 351 Land and Road Improvement will 

have a substantial amount of money left in the current budget, so we can remove the 

$40,000. All of the money in this fund is from Ryckman Park parking fees. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about if you use parking fees then they have to be used 

every year because the position is not going to go away.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about agreeing with increasing the salaries and thinks 

we need more officers, and thinks we can afford one. Does not want to start gutting the 

parking funds to fund other things. The original intent for the parking fees is for 

beautification of the parks and to keep the money in the parks. 

 

Commissioner Marivi walker spoke about agreeing with what the Police Chief is 

requesting. Spoke with 24 residents, 17 said increase the pay but not add officers. They 

thought doing all of the requests in one year was too much. In favor of the salary increase, 

but not adding 2 officers, unless the money comes from somewhere else.  

 

1818



4 | P a g e  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about agreeing with having a competitive salary. The 

question is how much should the pay raise be. Asked for the data of the vacancy rate. She 

is against adding 2 officers. If it is truly about safety pull the money from fluff places. 

Suggested only doing the pay raise, and track the vacancy rate until next year to see if 

salary makes a difference. Regarding overtime, after a large pay raise the overtime is going 

to be higher. Spoke with the Police Chief and he is not going to force officers to come in 

when someone calls out sick, so no matter how many officers there are, if no one 

volunteers to come in then the officer is on their own anyway.  

 

Recess 7:15 – 7:20 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call 

 

Commission Members Present    Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington     Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Police Chief Tim Zander 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Town Clerk Amber Brown 

Commissioner Marivi Walker     

Commissioner Adam Meyer  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked for data on the vacancy rate. If we don’t have a policy or 

train officers on what needs to be enforced it does not matter how many officers there 

are. She asked how much is the gas and oil expenses for the marine rescue units.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about being here to decide if the Commission wants 0, 

1, or 2 officers and the pay raise. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about there should be a portion of the parking funds 

going to the Police Department in order for their presence and patrols for safety. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about being in favor of one additional officer, and the 

$7,200 raise to get the starting salary to $50,000. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about being in favor of the full pay raise. Hold off until 

next year on the additional officers.  

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about being good with the pay raise and the 2 additional 

officers. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about being in favor of the balance budget which had 

the two officers and the pay raise. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about being in favor of the $7,200 pay raise and one 

additional officer with the majority ($40,000) of the funds coming from parking funds 

every year.  

 

1919



5 | P a g e  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about being in favor of a pay raise between $3,500-

$5,000 without any additional information. With more data she might be okay with a 

higher raise. Not in favor of additional officers. If the Commission approves additional 

officers then take the money from the parking funds, so if the money goes away so does 

the position. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about the money should be taken from both parks and 

disagrees with tying the position to parking funds.  

 

Anna Butler – 312 Avenue A – Spoke about having a background in corporate recruiting. 

Anytime someone addressed staffing then data was required.  

 

Mark McBride – 310 Second Ave – Asked what is going to be done about the short term 

rental situation. What has been allocated for enforcement of short term rentals? You 

cannot change anything that does not have a budget. 

 

Marivi Walker spoke about adding a 20-hour part-time Code Enforcement Officer or 

having a full-time Code Enforcement Officer. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about having a $3,500-$5,000 raise, no additional officers, 

and adding a second part-time Code Enforcement Officer. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about the Police Department needs to be involved in the 

code enforcement process. 

 

AnneMarie McBride – 312 Second – Spoke about being tired with the fighting and the 

Commission not listening to what the residents want. We do not need extra police officers.    

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about being in favor of adding one 20-hour Code 

Enforcement Officer, and only one additional Police Officer.  

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about being in favor of an additional 20-hour Code 

Enforcement Officer and one additional Police Officer. 

 

Gail Gowdy – 215 Ash Ave – Asked if the Commission is in favor of keeping the millage rate 

the same. Times are tough and these are the years where you can roll back. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about wanting to lower it. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about with the reductions that have been discussed he 

would expect the millage rate to be reduced. 

 

Tim Reed – 302 Fourth Ave – Spoke about the County taxes are reducing, but Melbourne 

Beach is not. There are two ways to adjust the budget reduce spending or increase 

revenue. He is in favor of an appropriate pay raise, but not in favor of adding 2 additional 

police officers because there has not been sufficient justification. 

 

2020



6 | P a g e  

 

Frank LaGrassa – 412 First Ave – Spoke about the town needs to be run like a business. 

Things are too loose. Government inherently runs things defectively. Postpone any pay hick 

and make the pay retroactive pending more data. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro recapped: 

 Police Pay Raise - 3 in favor of $7,200, 1 in favor of $5,000, 1 in favor of $3,500-

$5,000 

 Additional Officers – 1 in favor of 2 officers,  1 in favor of 0 officers, 2 in favor of 1 

officer 

 Code Enforcement 4 in favor of adding a 20-hour Code Enforcement Officer 

 

Steve Walters – 416 Sixth Ave – Asked how we got 17% behind on pay raises. There were 9 

officers when he was in the department and 10 for 3 years and there were always 2 people 

on. Pay is one thing that you should keep as average. Are you going to give the new staff 

members the same raise as well to be fair?  

 

Frank LaGrassa – 412 First Ave – Why not go by the rule of thumb of doing what it takes to 

get the job filled? Don’t compare to other governments that is how the country has gone 

bankrupt. 

 

Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine St – Spoke about we need to pay them what is fair. There needs 

to be a lot of data for staffing. Our revenue has gone down, but our taxes have gone up. It is 

unacceptable to have an officer working on their own and Indialantic is too far to respond 

when you need help now. The numbers in the summary sheet do not make sense. A starting 

salary of $50,000 seems low. 

 

6. Adjournment 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to adjourn; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion 

carried 5-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 8:34 pm.    

       

       

            

       ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________    ______________________________  

Alison Dennington, Mayor     Amber Brown, Town Clerk  

2121



1 | P a g e  

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 
TOWN COMMISSION WORKSHOP 

AUGUST 22, 2024 MEETING 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 
MINUTES 

 
Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

Commissioner Adam Meyer 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 
 
 

 

 

 

1. Call to Order 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Town Clerk Amber Brown   

Commissioner Marivi Walker        

        

Commission Members Absent 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Adam Meyer 

       

2222



2 | P a g e  

 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

Mayor Alison Dennnington led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

4. Public Comments -  

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any 

topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   

  

5. New Business 

 

A. Discussion regarding the FY 2024-2025 budget 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about being against the amount of the police department 

raise but agrees that there needs to be some type of raise. Would like to see the data on 

overtime and the percentage of when the department is understaffed to see if there is a 

correlation. The overtime does not seem like a huge expense compared to the cost of 

increasing everyone's salary by $7,500 plus benefits. Would like to see a list of all of the 

benefits staff get and a comparison to other municipalities that are comparable. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about having salary surveys of current and proposed 

within Brevard County, and Melbourne Beach is always near or at the bottom along with 

Indialantic. This is why the Police Chief would like to increase the starting wage which would 

require everyone else’s pay to increase as well. Just because we are small does not mean the 

risk is not there. The current starting wage is $42,800 and the proposed is $50,000. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about getting a comparison statewide with other small 

coastal communities to figure out how much the raise should be, and compare the benefits as 

well because we might have better benefits.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about offering the least amount of benefits as well, 

and reviewed the numbers on page 20.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker asked about the police being salary versus hourly, and spoke 

about the proposed wage would be above the new fair labor threshold for overtime which is 

around $48,000.00.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about officers are hourly, and there is certain criteria 

to be considered an exempt employee.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about other municipalities have more detailed budgets 

including comparisons, lists of all benefits, and a breakdown so residents can understand it 

more easily. Recommended having the page updated to show how hiring additional officers 

will affect other items such as purchasing guns, but that the department will stay within the 

current budget for those additional expenses. 

 

2323



3 | P a g e  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about once the budget is approved then the 

department has to stay within it.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about wanting to see all of the additional compensation and 

be able to compare the starting salary current and proposed and all of the additional 

compensation. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about how we do not have a lot of additional 

compensation. The health insurance is worse than an HMO because we have under 50 

people. Even Indialantic has significantly better insurance because they have enough 

employees to go to the next tier. Some employees pay out of pocket as if they do not have 

insurance at all because it is cheaper since the deductible is so high. We do not offer vision or 

dental. Spoke about having the salary information that can be sent out now, and next week 

will send out the additional data on benefits.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about overtime should go down by about $10,000 with 

additional officers, but the cost of the overtime will increase due to the salary raise.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about needing to have two people on and there are 

only a few people that can come in, so the same people are asked to come in and it can erode 

morale, but they do it because that is the structure of the department. A lot of times they 

take comp time instead of overtime. One employee who has been with the department for 

almost 20 years has only been home on Christmas 3 times, which is unacceptable. If fully 

staffed there would be other employees that could come in instead of there only being a few 

that can come in.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the department adding days for training would 

decrease their days off, and just because there are more people does not mean those people 

will come in. 

 

Steve Walters – 416 Sixth Ave – Spoke about there being 10 officers when he was in the Police 

Department. The Police Chief just came on 90 days ago and now he says he needs 2 more 

officers. Regarding the raise what about the rest of the staff? 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about having a new Police Chief, a $7,200 proposed raise, 

plus 2 additional officers just seems like a lot. Spoke about how the budget for Satellite Beach 

is wonderful.  

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about one of the current officers is an SRO and the County 

pays for it, and how each department is very committed to their budget.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the Police Department is asking for the largest increase 

in this budget, and that the budget is lacking detail. She spoke about how the Town Clerk 

needs help, but we are going to hire additional police. Do the comparison places have deputy 

clerks? There is an actual defined need for why we need a deputy clerk even if it is a part-time 

or contracted position. We need more than a part-time 20 hour Code Enforcement Officer. 

Would be more willing to the Police Department requests if more traffic stops received 

2424



4 | P a g e  

 

tickets. Thinks some of the money should be transferred from the Police Department to have 

a full-time Code Enforcement Officer and a Deputy Clerk. 

 

Steve Walters – 416 Sixth Ave – Spoke about the clerks at the meeting last night are the Town 

Clerk’s friends and they are going to poach her. Town Clerks work all the time and still don’t 

get caught up because there is a lot of work. Confident that she needs help, you can’t keep 

putting this pressure on her.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the Town Clerk needs to be able to go on vacation or 

go to training. Went in when the Clerk was gone, and was told you cannot see anything until 

the Clerk is back. It is becoming more apparent that we need a Deputy Clerk. Give the police a 

moderate increase, but not the 2 additional officers. Then transfer some of the money to get 

a Deputy Clerk and a full-time Code Enforcement Officer and then decrease taxes.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about how she had a meeting today with the Town 

Clerk and will meet tomorrow with HR to discuss in more detail about the Clerk’s duties and 

what would be taken on by a Deputy Clerk. Believes it is very important that the Police 

Department get at least one new officer and the $7,200 increase. There is the potential to 

have the Code Enforcement position be full-time, however, she is unsure if the current 

employee would want to be full-time. Also, does not think that needs to be budgeted this 

year. Another option is having a second part-time Code Officer. We are going to lose Officers 

if we are working them to death, or if they can go to another close municipality for $10,000-

$15,000 more.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about needing the comparison data to prove the increase is 

needed then she would vote for it. If you want to challenge something, the timeframe is 

based on when the minutes are signed. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about we can drop an Officer to get a Deputy Town 

Clerk, but it would not be in the best interest of the community to drop both Officers.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about if the Town is going to update the code on short term 

rentals, and get strict on them, then one part-time Code Officer is not going to be able to 

keep up.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about a starting salary of $50,000 is $24.00 per hour for a 

Police Officer. 

 

Frank LaGrassa – 412 First Ave – Spoke about wanting a budget that is easy to understand. 

These jobs could be filled in a heart beat. How many cops do you think will walk away if they 

don’t get that much of a raise? Is turn over something we have always dealt with. Questions 

the need for a white glove service. Why compare to other Towns; instead see what it will take 

to get the job filled. Get someone in here that really knows how to recruit because it is a great 

job. Wants to see all of the benefits and salary.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about officers have left for other agencies. Our 

benefits and compensation are really low, so it makes it difficult to recruit even individuals 

right out of the academy.  

2525



5 | P a g e  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about getting another employee when the cost of overtime 

covers the cost of the additional employee and asked for staffing data to compare each 

position per year. If there hasn’t been an issue with staffing the current positions, then why 

add additional? 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about how staffing is currently at the bare minimum, 

and residents expect what resident LaGrassa called white glove service. Indialantic’s budget is 

over 6 million dollars, which is about 2 million dollars more than Melbourne Beach, which has 

a very limited income. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about wanting a table of contents, an organizational chart 

plus additional pages with more information. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about this being only the budget workbook, and 

those additional pages will be included.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about how people cannot make a living off of a $42,000 

salary. Does not want to pay more in taxes, but she is thinking of the working people.  

 

Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine St – Spoke about when doing comparisons one of the most 

important parts is similar revenue. Then go into geographical things and crime rate, size, etc. 

Thought the fiscal year 25 budget was done pretty well and well thought through. You need to 

have data to show a reason for things.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the 2 budget meetings in September are 

hearings to vote on the millage and budget, so the budget needs to be set before those 

meetings.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the Town Manager asking her if there were any 

projects she would like to budget for, and she said nothing, she does not want to do anything 

other than reduce taxes and put 10-15% of the budget towards stormwater. Would like a 

policy on comp time where the salary is locked into the salary at the time it was earned not 

when it is used. Spoke about and asked questions related to the budget for Planning and 

Zoning, the Board of Adjustment, and the Town Planner.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about on page 15. The cost for the Town Planner is 

never fully used, so it was reduced. Increased legal to cover the special magistrate hearings. 

Spoke about page 5 is revenues, and to go to the Board of Adjustment it is really expensive 

with a $5,000 deposit. Planning and Zoning reduced because we are now following the Code 

more closely which only requires multi-family and commercial go to the Board. In the past 

everything was going to Planning and Zoning Board even when it was not required by our 

Code.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about wanting to keep the legal for Code Enforcement at 

$26,000 and tightening the budget elsewhere to transfer to other places such as a Deputy 

Clerk and additional Code Enforcement. Would like to keep the Special Magistrate, but also 

have a Code Enforcement Board. Have the easier cases such as mowing the grass and 

2626



6 | P a g e  

 

unregistered vacation rentals go to the Code Enforcement Board to lower the costs and 

streamline things.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro asked if the Commission would be willing to allow her to 

figure out where to pull money from in order to budget for the things they requested.  

 

Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine – Spoke about there being enough funds for 10-15 magistrate cases. 

You are about 25% funded to handle all of the code enforcement cases. There will never be 

enough resources with what is currently budgeted. The upcoming short term rental magistrate 

case is the first one the Town has done, so let’s get through one and see how it goes but the 

budget needs to be doubled, tripled, or quadrupled. We are running out of time, so focus on 

the big-ticket items in the budget.   

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about only convening the Special Magistrate once a 

month to hear all of the cases.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the police can have cards to complete while they drive 

around Town, to document any needed maintenance such as lights out, and also track any 

code violations for evidence for a case. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about how the police can occasionally assist, but 

they cannot be dedicated Code Officers.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about wanting to see global totals for items that are in 

multiple different departments. Asked for an email of all of the items that have been 

discussed so far. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about allowing her to figure out how to budget to 

add a Deputy Clerk, and add an additional part-time or full-time Code Enforcement Officer. 

 

Frank LaGrassa – 412 First Ave – Spoke about not needing to worry about Officers not doing 

their job because of low morale because they did not get a record breaking pay raise or having 

to work overtime because that is just part of the job.   

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked for the expenses related to the Volunteers in the Fire 

Department, and the cost of gas for the marine rescue program.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the only expense for Volunteers is the stipend. 

 

Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine St – Spoke about focusing on the big-ticket items such as Airbnbs 

that have homestead exemptions. 

 

6. Adjournment 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker moved to adjourn; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion 

carried 3-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 8:33 pm.   

2727



7 | P a g e  

 

       

       

            

       ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________    ______________________________  

Alison Dennington, Mayor     Amber Brown, Town Clerk  

2828



1 | P a g e  

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 
SPECIAL TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

AUGUST 21, 2024 MEETING 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 
MINUTES 

 
Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

Commissioner Adam Meyer 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 
 
 

 

 

 

1. Call to Order 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington called the meeting to order at 5:01 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Town Clerk Amber Brown   

Commissioner Marivi Walker  

 

Commission Members Absent 

Commissioner Adam Meyer   

          

2929



2 | P a g e  

 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

Mayor Alison Dennnington led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

4. Public Comments – 1:24 

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any 

topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   

  

5. New Business – 1:56 

 

A. Confirm Qualified Commission Candidates and order names to be printed on the 

November 5, 2024 Municipal Election Ballot  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington introduced the candidate packet for Joyce Barton. 

 

Tina Coppick – 505 Avenue B – Spoke about candidate Joyce Barton and what she has 

done for the Town, and about someone being afraid to allow her to run. Allow the public 

to choose with their vote. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about some citizens' questioning if Joyce Barton could 

run because of a provision in the Code. The Mayor sent it to the Town Attorney who 

wrote an opinion on it. She agreed with the Town Attorney's opinion that there is no 

reason Joyce Barton cannot run.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to approve Joyce Barton as a qualified candidate for 

Commissioner-at-large 2024 as presented; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 4-0. 

Mayor Alison Dennington introduced the candidate packet for Anna Butler. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to accept Anna Elizabeth Butler’s application for 

Commissioner-at-large; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 4-0. 

Mayor Alison Dennington introduced the candidate packet for Tim Reed.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to approve Tim Reed for candidate for Commissioner-

at-large for the Town of Melbourne Beach 2024 election; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; 

Motion carried 4-0. 

Mayor Alison Dennington introduced the candidate packet for Marivi Walker. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker recused herself from the vote for herself. 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown reminded Commissioner Marivi Walker to file a Form 8b. 

 

3030



3 | P a g e  

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to accept Marivi Walker’s application for Commissioner-

at-large; Commissioner Corey Runte seconded; Motion carried 3-0 with Commissioner Marivi 

Walker abstaining from the vote. 

The Commission allowed each candidate to briefly address the public. 

 

Candidate Joyce Barton spoke about who she is and her vision for the Town. 

 

Candidate Anna Butler spoke about who she is, why she is running, and her vision for the 

Town. 

 

Candidate Tim Reed spoke about who he is and being open to listening to the residents. 

 

Candidate Marivi Walker spoke about who she is and her vision for the Town. 

 

6. Adjournment 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to adjourn; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 

4-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 5:24 pm.   

       

       

            

       ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________    ______________________________  

Alison Dennington, Mayor     Amber Brown, Town Clerk  

3131



1 | P a g e  

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 
REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

August 21, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 

COMMUNITY CENTER - 509 OCEAN AVENUE 
 

ACTION MINUTES 
 

Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

Commissioner Adam Meyer 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 

 
1. Call to Order 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted a roll call 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Town Clerk Amber Brown 

Commissioner Marivi Walker  

       

Absent       

Commissioner Adam Meyer   

        

 

3232



2 | P a g e  

 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

4. Meeting Agenda – Additions/Deletions/Changes – 2:18 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about Unfinished Business Item D - Fee Schedule is related to 

New Business Item C.  

 

New Business Item C was moved up under Unfinished Business Item D. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington removed New Business Item E. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to approve the agenda with the changes as discussed; 

Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 4-0.  

 

5. Consent Agenda – 5:17 

A. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting action minutes July 17, 2024 

B. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting final minutes April 17, 2024  

C. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting final minutes March 20, 2024 

D. Reappointment of Planning and Zoning Board Member Kurt Belsten 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about being fine with Items A and D but has issues with 

Items B and C. Pulled Consent Agenda Items B and C and put them at the end of New 

Business. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to move Consent Agenda Items B and C to New Business G 

and H; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 4-0.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as amended removing 

Items B and C; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 4-0.  

 

6. Proclamations/Presentations/Awards – 8:34 

A. Proclamation recognizing the month of September 2024 as National Suicde Prevention 

Month 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington Presented a proclamation recognizing the month of September 

2024 as National Suicide Prevention Month.   

 

B. Presentation of Certified Municipal Clerk designation to Town Clerk Amber Brown – 11:50 

 

FACC Central East District Director Gwen Peirce presented Town Clerk Amber Brown with 

her Certified Municipal Clerk designation. 

 

Recess 6:18-6:26 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted a roll call 

3333



3 | P a g e  

 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie   Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Commissioner Corey Runte   Town Clerk Amber Brown 

Commissioner Marivi Walker  

  

Absent       

Commissioner Adam Meyer  

 

7. Finance/Budget Report – 19:33 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to approve the Finance Report as presented; Vice Mayor 

Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 4-0.  

 

8. Department and Board/Committee Reports  

A. Parks Board – 22:08 

B. Public Works Department – 23:50 

C. Building Department – 30:11 

D. Code Enforcement – 33:48 

E. Fire Department – 37:22 

F. Police Department – 38:21 

G. Town Clerk – 42:02 

 

9. Public Comment (Non-Agenda Items) – 43:25 

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any topic(s) 

related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   

  

Frank LaGrassa – 412 First Ave – Spoke about budget transparency and having a budget that is 

easier to understand. 

 

Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine St – Provided handouts and spoke about vacation rentals. 

 

JoAnn Degel – 217 Second Ave – Spoke about there being more short term rentals than what 

has been identified.  

 

Anna Butler – 312 Avenue A –  Spoke about Indian Harbour Beach recently hired a company for 

short term rentals. 

 

AnneMarie McBride – 310 Second Ave – Spoke about ongoing issues with vacation rentals and 

asked what is being done. 

 

Mark McBride – 310 Second Ave – Spoke about ongoing issues with vacation rentals and asked 

what is being done. 

 

3434



4 | P a g e  

 

Gail Gowdy – 215 Ash Ave – Spoke about residential is not a business, and a home is not a 

hotel. 

 

Ken Lebrato – 213 Cherry Drive – Spoke about needing to enforce the present ordinances that 

are not being enforced. 

   

10. Public Hearings/Special Orders  

 

11. Unfinished Business  

A. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop final minutes March 6, 2024 – 1:20:59 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to table the minutes; Commissioner Corey Runte seconded; 

Motion carried 4-0. 
 

Tina Coppock – 505 Avenue B – Spoke about the Mayor’s comment about there being two 

Commission seats up this year, so maybe the meetings will be shorter then is uncalled for. 

 

Gail Gowdy – 215 Ash Ave – Spoke about not understanding action minutes and final 

minutes. 

 

Mark McBride – 310 Second Ave – Spoke about mismanagement and not getting minutes 

in a timely fashion. 
 

B. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting final minutes February 21, 2024 – 

1:34:47 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to approve Item B Unfinished Business approval of Regular 

Town Commission minutes for February as presented no changes; Commissioner Marivi Walker 

seconded, Motion carried 4-0. 

 

Steve Walters – 416 Sixth Ave – Spoke about the minutes being an age-old problem which is 

why the Town had a Deputy Clerk because the Town Clerk needs help. Put the Deputy Clerk 

back. 

 

C. Consideration to renew the South Beaches Coalition Interlocal Agreement – Town Manager 

Elizabeth Mascaro – 1:38:44 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to approve the South Beaches Coalition Interlocal Agreement as 

presented; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 4-0.  

 

D. Resolution 2024-04 Fee Schedule – Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro – 1:41:00 

Also added was New Business Item C – Consideration on leasing the Community Center 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, 

FLORIDA, AMENDING THE TOWN FEE SCHEDULE; AMENDING TOWN 

RESOLUTION 2022-05 TOWN FEE SCHEDULE; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 

3535



5 | P a g e  

 

Gail Gowdy – 215 Ash Ave – Spoke about there being history to this Town and this building, 

and would hate to eliminate the ability for residents to use this building.  

 

Frank LaGrassa – 212 First Ave – Spoke about rentals and accountability and does not want 

the government to do more than is required. 

 

Steve Walters – 416 Sixth Ave – Spoke about the damages are not from renters. This is the 

Community Center and belongs to the Town. You cannot take it away from them. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to keep the leasing of the Community Center open to the 

public; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 4-1 with Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

dissenting.  

 

Frank LaGrassa – 412 First Ave – Asked if this was your building with all of the equipment 

and everything inside would you feel comfortable renting it out with that low of a deposit? 

Proposed at least $7,000.00 deposit. 

 

Tim Reed – 302 Fourth Ave – Spoke about the fee schedule and asked why vacation rental 

fees are on their own fee schedule.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to approve the proposed fee schedule with the following 

changes: to change the hourly rate to a lump sum based on 6 hours at the current hourly rate, with a 

refundable security deposit of $2,500.00; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 4-

0.  

 

E. Consideration on creating a Citizen Advisory Board – Mayor Alison Dennington – 2:17:04 

 

Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine – Spoke about there only being one vacancy on any of the Boards, 

and thinks it would be important to have this Board. 

 

Failed for a lack of motion 

 

F. Consideration on creating a Municipal Citizens Academy – Mayor Alison Dennington – 

2:23:36 

 

Gail Gowdy – 215 Ash Ave – Spoke about when she moved into Town she took an 8 week 

course from the County and it was a wonderful opportunity.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to approve proceeding with the Municipal Citizens 

Academy concept subject to further information such as a framework for scheduling, costs and 

responsibilities; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 4-0.  

 

12. New Business – 2:30:34 

 

At the request of Mr. McBride Commissioner Marivi Walker made a motion.  

3636



6 | P a g e  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker made a motion to direct the Town Manager to meet with Mr. Larson 

this week to discuss the information and data he presented to see about taking immediate 

corrective actions against illegal STRs; Commissioner Corey Runte seconded; Motion carried 4-0. 

 

A. Consideration to increase the amounts of accrued annual leave and compensatory time 

caps – Finance Manager Jennifer Kerr – 2:33:15 

 

Frank LaGrassa – 412 First Ave – Spoke about government employees being compensated 

lavishly. Keep the bottom line in mind. 

 

Steve Walters – 416 Sixth Ave – Spoke about the policy now is due to the auditors. Does 

not see a problem with what the request because in the long run, it will save money 

because employees will opt to earn comp time instead of being paid overtime.  

 

Ken Lebrato – 213 Cherry Drive – Spoke about most companies do not pay out comp time, 

and have a time limit of when you have to use it. Manage the Town properly.  

 

Failed for a lack of motion 

 

B. Consideration of recognition of Olympic gold medal winner Caroline Marks – Commissioner 

Corey Runte – 3:01:48 

 

Kristen Brunosson – 408 Surf Rd – Spoke about being very close with Caroline Marks and 

the family, and they are open to anything the Town would like to do.   

 

Gail Gowdy – 215 Ash Ave – Spoke about this being a good idea.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker made a motion to recognize Olympic gold medal winner Caroline Marks 

as renaming Ocean Park and work on the potential of a celebration; Commissioner Corey Runte 

seconded; Motion carried 4-0.  

 

C. Consideration on leasing the Community Center – Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie – Moved up to 

Unfinished Business to be combined with Item D. 

 

D. Consideration on providing direction to the Planning and Zoning Board – Mayor Alison 

Dennington – 3:10:28 

 

Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine St – Spoke about after the Commission voted to have PNZ review 

the Code the PNZ Board did not meet the following month. Give the Planning and Zoning 

Board direction to review the entire Code.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte read a memo from resident Dan Harper who is a member of the 

Planning and Zoning Board who does not agree with reviewing the entire Code without any 

direction or specifics. 

 

3737



7 | P a g e  

 

Todd Albert – 1710 Pine St – Spoke about communication is everything and they are not 

getting the why they are looking at something, and the items the Planning and Zoning 

Board has looked at. 

 

Commisisoner Runte left at 9:35 pm.  

 

Failed for lack of motion 

 

E. Discuss the Mayors’ Fitness Challenge hosted by the United Way of Brevard – Mayor Alison 

Dennington – Mayor Alison Dennington pulled this item from the agenda. 

 

F. Consideration of establishing a Youth Mayor for a Day program – Mayor Alison Dennington 

– 3:31:01 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker moved to establish a Youth Mayor for a Day program; Vice Mayor Sherri 

Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 3-0.  

 

G. Consideration of amending building height restrictions – Mayor Alison Dennington – 

3:34:04 

 

Steve Walters – 416 Sixth Ave – Spoke about this being put on a referendum in 2004 and 

was approved. Reaffirm the building height is 28 feet, without any gimmicks to take out the 

ambiguity.  

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to have the Town Planner work with the Town Attorney on 

the maximum height; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 3-0. 

 

H. Consent Agenda Item B Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting final 

minutes April 17, 2024 - 3:48:23 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to approve the minutes with the provision that Mayor 

Alison Dennington recused herself underneath 11 A; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; 

Motion carried 3-0. 

 

I. Consent Agenda Item C Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting final 

minutes March 20, 2024 – 4:01:43 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to approve the minutes from March 20th; 

Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 3-0. 

 

13. Administrative Reports – 4:02:56 

A. Town Attorney 

B. Town Manager  

 

Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine St – Spoke about the most current plans show a sidewalk that 

goes through an oak tree. 

 

3838



8 | P a g e  

 

14. Commission Reports 

 

15. Task List 

 

16. Public Comment  

 

17. Adjournment 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker moved to adjourn; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded, Motion 

carried 3-0. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 10:21 p.m.   

 

 

 

3939



1 | Page 

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 
TOWN COMMISSION WORKSHOP 

JULY 3, 2024 MEETING 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 
MINUTES 

 
Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

Commissioner Adam Meyer 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 
 

 

 

1. Call to Order 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie called the meeting to order at 6:01 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Police Chief Tim Zander 

Commissioner Marivi Walker    Building Official Robert Bitgood 

    Fire Chief Gavin Brown  

Commission Members Absent   Finance Manager Jennifer Kerr 

Mayor Alison Dennington     Town Clerk Amber Brown  

Commissioner Adam Meyer       

     

  

4040



2 | Page 

 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

4. Public Comments - 1:15 

After being acknowledged by the Vice Mayor, members of the public should state their name 

and address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any 

topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   

  

Kate Wilborn – 502 Second Ave – Spoke about stormwater issues on Second Ave.  

 

5. New Business 

 

A. Discussion regarding the FY 2024-2025 budget – 5:02 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said the millage is the same as last year, 4.570. The 

millage rate for stormwater is .2350, which will pay off in full in 2026. Revenue expenses 

for Fiscal Year 2025 are less than Fiscal Year 2024. Said they are finally at a point where 

they are not in need of any more large capital items. Spoke about certain events/activities 

that are now being paid for through fund 107 which is the Parks Board fund and parking. 

The Parks Board funds have received grant money, general funds will give them $2,500. 

Said Police Chief Tim Zander has requested 2 more officers with starting pay at $50,000 

plus benefits. Also requested an adjustment for all officers of $7,200 to stay competitive 

in the marketplace. The Police and Fire departments have a one-time payment of $18,572 

to pay to Brevard County. Said that they have known radios are going to be changing, and 

they set money aside every year for that.  

 

Fire Chief Gavin Brown said the $18,572 is to upgrade the towers that the radios 

communicate to. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said the expenditures in general government have 

decreased year over year by 13.57% (12:25). These departments include legislative which 

is the Town Clerk, Executive which is the Town Manager, Finance which is Jennifer Kerr, 

Comprehensive Planning which is the Town Planner, legal, general services where bills of 

the Town are paid and Public Works and grounds keeping. Expenditures in public safety, 

which are Law Enforcement, Fire, Building and Code Enforcement, had an increase of 

13.76%. Primarily due to an increase in the Police budget. Remaining departments had 

4.1% increase, that was for Fire for the towers. Capital spend has lowered by 70.23%. Able 

to put $500,000 in storm water this year. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked about the miscellaneous income, the 20,000 that’s in 

interest on investments and the Town Manager said the market has been up. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro discussed salaries, asking for a 3% cost of living increase 

and 2% merit increase.  

 

4141



3 | Page 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte and Commissioner Marivi Walker said they both are in support 

of the additional police officers and the salary increases. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro discussed the budgets of each department (25:00), and 

the year-over-year budget for the most part seems to be trending down in each 

department. Added Code Enforcement Attorney and Code Enforcement Magistrate for 

$10,000 each. The Commission touched on restructuring where these funds are coming 

from, but not making any monetary changes. Insurances varied, some went up, and some 

went down. Workers comp went up substantially. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked about the transfer of long-term capital (39:00) and Town 

Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said that is for the fire alarm, the old Town Hall roof, and 

computer replacement. 

 

Police Chief Tim Zander spoke about the budget (41:35). Spoke about the pay increase of 

$7,200 to get to starting pay of $50,000. The Town has been in last place in the county for 

pay, so they want to increase it to be more competitive, get good people, and retain 

them. The police on average handle 50 things per day for the Town. Spoke about getting 2 

extra officers, they would be primarily traffic officers and would take some load off the 

current officers. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker touched on the fact that there is no back up if it is needed 

when someone is sick or can’t make it to work and is in support of the additional officers. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte mentioned that the additional pay is not considering the 

increases the other towns will be making as well, so they would likely still be towards the 

bottom in the county. Also spoke about how the lack of lifeguards will fall on the Police 

and Fire departments. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie is also in support. Asked if the Police department needed any 

new equipment. 

 

Police Chief Tim Zander said they had it within their own budget. 

 

Fire Chief Gavin Brown spoke about the budget with not much changing (57:00). Said they 

got a grant funded extractor washing machine. The surrounding beach towns use it and 

split the costs. Also touched on the difference between the Fire department and the Fire 

corporation, a non-profit whose official name is the Melbourne Beach Volunteer 

Firefighter’s Association. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said Code Enforcement had not changed (1:08:45). 

Public Works was able to reduce landscaping expenses, decreased budget 9.35%. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte said the town looked great except for Oak St from Surf to the 

end of town limits and the Commission was in agreement. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said the Parks and Rec fund is closing after FY24 

(1:16:30). Spoke about estimates for costs/donations. The fire donation fund estimates 

4242



4 | Page 

 

$5,900 in donations, possibly spend $3,050 in expenses. The Environmental Advisory 

Board, the general fund transferred $6,500 into their department. New Parks and Rec 

fund, going to fund them $2,500 for events in the parks. Police education fund, paid for by 

fines and forfeitures for tickets written. Building department education fund, state 

required fund, 10%, funded through permits through DBPR. Building fund was funded by 

the general fund and the Town Manager believes they need more time before paying the 

general fund back.  

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about how things will pick up after the election year 

and when interest rates are better (1:25:45). Also spoke about inspection rates. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the utility fee for stormwater which is $36 

per home (1:31:10). The Ocean Park revenue fund is down, hoping to redo the parking lot 

soon.  

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked about ADA ramp funding and for the sketch. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte said there should be money put in for playground equipment 

and Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said $10,000 per year is being put in. Commissioner 

Corey Runte said he did not believe that would be enough, suggesting $25,000 a year. 

Also mentioned putting in a barrier between the parking and the park on Ocean Ave. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie requested that the power line come down over the jungle gym. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro transferred $116,114 from the general fund, had 

$2,300 leftover from last year (1:43:30). Spoke about various funds including the 

stormwater bond fund which would be paid off early. The Commission also discussed the 

Town logo.  

 

6. Adjournment 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker moved to adjourn; Commissioner Corey Runte seconded; Motion 

carried 3-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 7:55 pm.         

       

            

       ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________    ______________________________  

Alison Dennington, Mayor     Amber Brown, Town Clerk  

4343



1 | Page 

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 
TOWN COMMISSION WORKSHOP 

JUNE 18, 2024 MEETING 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 
MINUTES 

 
Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

Commissioner Adam Meyer 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 
 
 

 

 

 

1. Call to Order 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington     Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Commissioner Marivi Walker    Police Chief Tim Zander 

Commissioner Adam Meyer    Building Official Robert Bitgood 

       Town Clerk Amber Brown  

Commission Members Absent 

Commissioner Corey Runte   

         

4444



2 | Page 

 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

4. New Business 

 

A. Discussion on short term rentals – 3:58 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight presented an appellate opinion, he spoke about code issues 

and enforcement. He specifically mentioned the 4th amendment which guarantees all 

persons the right to be secure from unreasonable government intrusion. And the 5th 

amendment, the right to due process. He is also going to cover a bill analysis on SB 280 all 

related to short term rentals.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked about not being allowed to enter because of technical 

codes versus health and safety issues. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight explained that a code enforcement officer would have to 

believe there was an issue of safety or health, i.e. they are standing in a place they are 

allowed to be and could clearly see a wall falling down, a portion of roof that is missing 

etc. The Town Attorney spoke about anonymous complaints, saying the legislature made 

it so that people need to give their name and contact info to file a complaint. If there is an 

anonymous complaint, an inspector cannot start an inspection based on that complaint, 

however they can pass by the house and if they see it for themselves they can report it.  

 

Annemarie McBride - 310 Second Ave (14:10) – Asked if the individual that files a code 

complaint is protected from public record. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about how the individuals’ information would not be 

protected from public records, mentioning Florida Sunshine Law.  

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about parking (15:30). Recommends putting all parking 

citations under the Special Magistrate, prudent to list the exact number of vehicles that 

are allowed to park at a vacation rental, owners should notify renters of Town Codes. 

Believes it would be a combination of code and the police department dealing with 

parking issues. If a car is parked on your personal property, you can call and have the car 

towed or have a citation written. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about a case in Tampa and asked how they obtained the 

records. Asked about parking issues on personal property. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked if one short term rental host has multiple issues with 

parking, would code or the police department address that.  

 

John Butler – 312 Avenue B (38:30) -  Asked if the issue here is that the officers have no 

way of knowing if it's a short term rental so it cant be enforced? 

 

4545



3 | Page 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington suggested having the officers carry the list of short term rentals 

so they know where they can give citations for parking.  

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight said it would be a notice of violation through code 

enforcement, and the disconnect is that one is governed by the Special Magistrate and 

one is governed by just writing a ticket.  

 

Mark McBride - 310 Second Ave (41:15) – Spoke about a gender reveal party that had 

cars parked all over the street. What can be done, and why can’t the police go to the door 

and tell them they cannot do that? 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington said that police officers are unclear on when they are and are 

not allowed to write tickets. Also asked if there could be one citation for the person 

parked and one for the owner of the short term rental for the same incident. 

 

Police Chief Tim Zander spoke about giving people the benefit of the doubt if they are 

parked illegally. The police would go to the individuals and give them the opportunity to 

move their vehicle first. Said there could be two citations for the same incident. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about Town codes related to noise and short term 

rentals (47:00). Said the penalty is to be punished by fine not to exceed $200. Said he has 

not spoken with Chief Zander about this yet. Believes he could figure out how that would 

affect the Magistrate budget by looking at other cities. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked the Town Attorney if he had figured out with Chief 

Zander how officers would write tickets after hours, what would go to what department. 

Asked about the $10,000 budget for the Magistrate, and if they would be able to figure 

out what that increase would be. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington suggested taking different provisions and creating forms for 

officers and code enforcement on these issues. 

 

Carol Crispen - 205 Elm Ave (56:22) – Asked why we are discussing how the Town is going 

to cover the budget for these issues. Why shouldn’t the Airbnb owner incur those costs 

instead of the taxpayers? Can’t you increase the registration fee? 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington said the Special Magistrate is a cost but when you go through 

procedure, they have to pay that back. Spoke about SB 280 if signed will remove the 

Town’s registration process.  

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about noise regulation (59:28). As of now it is 11:00 PM 

for the town, but he believes it could be changed to 9:00 PM for weekdays, 10:00 PM for 

weekends. Says loud is subjective but should not need a decibel level. There’s a code that 

says if the short term rental owner is notified of noise they must solve that issue within an 

hour. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked Police Chief Tim Zander if officers have a list of short term 

rentals and their owners so they can notify the owners of any issues. 

4646



4 | Page 

 

Police Chief Tim Zander said they do not currently have that list but will work on it. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight mentioned noise sensors that some short term rental owners 

have that help with this issue. Some towns have implemented a 24 hour hotline to call if 

there are noise issues. For code enforcement, the neighbors have to give testimonies so 

they do not rely on hearsay for evidence. Touched on unregistered short term rentals and 

how to deal with that. Had some recommendations (1:26:42) which include creating a 

policy for notifying owners, limiting the number of vehicles at short term rentals (have a 

specific number), limiting the amount of people between certain hours, establishing a way 

for residents to report issues after hours. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington referenced a code from the 1970s that had a duration for 

rentals, i.e. one week or more, one month or more. Wants to know when those were 

removed or if that was an error. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight said in December of 2017 the one week or more was taken 

out. It would have had to have been voted out by P&Z and the Commission. 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood said that building permit fees cannot be used for code 

enforcement, that’s why it would fall on the taxpayers. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker mentioned how this is going to increase costs and how to 

budget for it. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington said a realtor had published on a listing that the Town was 

lenient on short term rentals, and wants to change that opinion. 

 

Annemarie McBride – 310 Second Ave (1:48:30) – Does not want this to happen to our 

community. Was told there is nothing you can do.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington said if this is important to the Town, a fund should be set up to 

put money aside for issues like this so they can be addressed quickly. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie said the Commission needs an estimate and to know what they 

are looking at realistically to make a budget.  

 

Ken Lebrato – 213 Cherry Dr (1:57:45) – One of the most important things from this 

meeting was the ordinance from December of 2017. What did it change? Asked the Town 

to find the money to get it done. What happens if owners do not notify tenants. How many 

cases has the Special Magistrate heard in the last 6 months(calendar year)? Do not wait 

for SB 280 to be signed. Enact something now.  

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about an ordinance in 2017 that changed the definition 

of the dwelling unit and removed the 7 day minimum requirement.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington said she wanted to put on the agenda a request to have this be 

investigated, could potentially be in July. Asked what kinds of certifications that could be 

required of the renter of a short term rental. 

4747



5 | Page 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about part of the inspection is to have the 

documents posted in the house. Said they’ve taken about 5 cases in the last year, none 

having to do with short term rentals.  

 

Bruce Larson - 1507 Pine St (2:17:40) – SB 280 will be either signed or not signed by July 

1st. Add something to the Regular Town Commission Meeting agenda tomorrow.  

 

Mark McBride - 310 Second Ave (2:21:35) – Asked the police to knock on the door when 

vehicles are parked all over the road. When there are 20 vehicles outside and 35 people 

outside could they be requested to leave because they are violating the ordinance. Says 

the Town is fortunate that they can call the police if there is a noise issue. 

 

Police Chief Tim Zander spoke about if vehicles are illegally parked then the officer would 

knock on the door and ask for the vehicles to be moved. Said if a resident does not get an 

answer from a police officer that they agree with they can always call and speak with a 

supervisor. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about if vehicles are parked illegally then the police 

should handle it. The definition of occupant is someone who is spending the night. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington said the Town could add more restrictions in case SB 280 does 

not pass, including trying to change the definition of an occupant not necessarily being 

overnight.  

  

Charles Leps - 212 Cherry Dr (2:32:12) – Would the Special Magistrate accept testimony 

from another resident that would be willing to take photos and testify? 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about as long as it is not hearsay. If the resident who 

saw the violation, took the pictures, and testified then yes the Special Magistrate would 

accept it, no matter if they are a next door neighbors or live across town.  

 

5. Public Comments 

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any 

topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   

 

6. Adjournment 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie moved to adjourn; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion 

carried 4-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 8:38 pm.     

       

       

            

       ATTEST: 

 

4848



6 | Page 

 

 

______________________________    ______________________________  

Alison Dennington, Mayor     Amber Brown, Town Clerk  

4949



1 | Page 

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 
REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

May 15, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 

COMMUNITY CENTER - 509 OCEAN AVENUE 
 

ACTION MINUTES 
 

Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

Commissioner Adam Meyer 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 

 
1. Call to Order 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington called the meeting to order at 6:03 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted a roll call 

 

Commission Members Present  Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington   Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie   Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Commissioner Corey Runte   Finance Manager Jennifer Kerr 

      Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Commission Members Absent  Fire Chief Gavin Brown 

Commissioner Marivi Walker   Police Chief Tim Zander 

Commissioner Adam Meyer   Public Works Director Tom Davis 

      Town Clerk Amber Brown  

 

5050



2 | Page 

 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

4. Meeting Agenda – Additions/Deletions/Changes – 3:17 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to approve the agenda as presented; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

seconded; Motion carried 3-0. 

 

5. Consent Agenda – 3:46 

A. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting action minutes April 17, 2024 

B. Appointment of Edilene Johansson as an Alternate to the Parks Board 

  

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda; Commissioner Corey Runte 

seconded; Motion carried 3-0. 

 

6. Proclamations/Presentations/Awards  

A. Presentation of a proclamation recognizing May 18th through May 24th, 2024 as National 

Safe Boating Week – 5:20 

 

A member of the Coast Guard spoke about the Coast Guard being a group of volunteers, 

they provide educational classes, etc, which helps to fund them. Coast Guard and the Town 

have the same mission, to keep people safe and to have fun in a safe way. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte thanked the Coast Guard and told the people of the Town to 

take advantage of the services they provide. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington read the proclamation that declared May 18th to May 24th, 2024 

National Safe Boating Week in the Town of Melbourne Beach and encouraged citizens to 

acquire skills/knowledge to practice safe boating. 

 

B. Presentation by Town Attorney Ryan Knight – 12:19 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight explained the difference between legislative hearings and 

quasi-judicial hearings. Touched on the fact that legislative hearings create general rules or 

policies for a group of people, and spoke in more detail about quasi-judicial hearings, which 

are applied to more specific situations. He said you’re essentially taking an ordinance or 

regulation and applying it to one property, one person or one development instead of a 

group.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington mentioned there will be a workshop to deal with issues about 

short term rentals and Town Attorney Ryan Knight said it would mostly cover enforcement. 

 

7. Finance/Budget Report – 26:24 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to approve the finance report as presented; Vice Mayor 

Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 3-0.  

5151



3 | Page 

 

8. Department and Board/Committee Reports – 27:38 

A. Public Works Department  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about receiving an email about tree trimming and wants 

Public Works Director Tom Davis to look into the timing for that. 

 

Public Works Director Tom Davis said they already trimmed the trees. He also said the sign 

at Loggerhead Park has been removed and a new sign has arrived. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked about the broken sign at Loggerhead Park.  

 

B. Building Department  

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked about the reasoning for removing the oak trees on Sunset 

Blvd. 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood said the permit was applied for by the owner as the trees 

were posing a threat to a wall. Also says they are a small municipality so he is the one doing 

the inspecting, and the town manager is made aware of any conflict of interest.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked about how conflicts of interest are addressed. 

 

C. Code Enforcement  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte acknowledges there’s only two active cases/violations, the 

fewest number he’s ever seen. 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood says they have been doing a good job keeping an eye on 

everything, making sure it is resolved. Believes it would be beneficial to have body cams. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington mentioned getting body cameras for code inspectors. Also asked 

some questions about enforcement for short term rentals. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked if the cameras would come out of the building fund. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said it would come out of the building department, also 

they call the officers if there is an issue. 

 

D. Fire Department  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington mentioned there were two fires in town, but everything is okay. 

She mentioned that a boat was purchased with donations to the Firefighters Association. 

Also asked about paying firefighters instead of having them all be volunteers. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked if they dropped the idea of renovating the pier. 

 

5252



4 | Page 

 

Fire Chief Gavin Brown said they did drop renovating the pier, but are having an engineer 

do a sketch for a garage. He said that volunteer firefighters are in decline, places are even 

having trouble finding paid firefighters, might need to investigate paying them, hoping they 

could look at the SAFER grant. 

 

E. Police Department  

 

Police Chief Tim Zander said they have accomplished a lot in his first six weeks, specifically 

writing tickets, and made some clarifications about parking. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked for clarification about certain numbers. 

 

F. Town Clerk 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown said Computer Experts were working on the equipment, but it 

will be working for the next meeting. Said the cost for the business license portal was 

included in the BSA software. Said the election packet was about half done, just updating 

some dates. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington mentioned businesses being able to do more online and asked 

about the cost of that. Also asked about when the election packet would be ready. 

 

9. Public Comment (Non-Agenda Items) – 57:32 

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any topic(s) 

related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   

  

Frank LaGrassa – 412 First Ave – Frank Lagrassa held his comment until the parking 

restrictions agenda item. 

   

10. Public Hearings/Special Orders - 59:30 

A. Ordinance 2024-02 Repealing Ordinance 2023-02 Second Kitchens – Second reading  

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 

BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, REPEALING 

ORDINANCE 2023-02 IN ITS ENTIRETY; PROVIDING 

FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to approve Ordinance 2024-02 repealing Ordinance 2023-02 

Second Kitchens as presented second and final reading; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion 

carried 3-0.  

 

11. Unfinished Business 

A. Consideration of replacing all of the curbing on Riverside Dr as part of the repaving project – 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro – 1:00:48 

5353



5 | Page 

 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said to consider how much curbing needs to be replaced 

in order to get the cost. They are using a county contract which is the lowest price for the 

process. Suggests doing it all regardless of the condition so it won’t have to be done again. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington says it’s $500,000 and expressed her questions and concerns with 

the lack of information. 

 

Recess from 7:20 p.m. until 7:25 p.m. 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted a roll call - 1:17:50 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie   Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Commissioner Corey Runte   Building Official Robert Bitgood 

       Police Chief Tim Zander 

Commission Members Absent   Public Works Director Tom Davis 

Commissioner Marivi Walker   Town Clerk Amber Brown 

Commissioner Adam Meyer    

 

The Commission discussed their issues about curbing replacement and getting more 

information. 

 

Failed for a lack of motion 

 

12. New Business 

A. Consideration of changes to 7A-50 Off-Street Parking – 1:23:30 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about parking requirements for businesses. 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood said there are places to park that would be walkable from 

the businesses, so requiring less parking might make sense. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington said she is against it. Fears self regulation by the businesses. 

Suggests waiting to make changes until specific businesses say they need the changes. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about offloading requirements and also said she was 

opposed. Said to send this back to Planning and Zoning for them to review suggestions. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about the importance of salvaging what little green 

space there is left in the Town and helping save the lagoon. Believes a blanket change is 

not the way to go but thinks some updates are appropriate. Suggests putting in golf cart 

parking to save space. 

 

Mark McBride – 310 Second Ave – Spoke about decorum and not being in favor of anything 

that develops the Town more. 

5454



6 | Page 

 

John Butler – 312 Avenue A – Spoke about being uncomfortable with development and had 

a few questions. 

Frank LaGrassa – 412 First – Spoke about not wanting to see anything else on Ocean Ave. 

Mike Krajic – 2103 Neptune – Said a prayer and spoke about how businesses should have 

to apply for a variance. 

 

Failed for a lack of motion 

 

B. Ordinance 2024-01 Sheds – First reading – 2:15:35 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 

BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

APPENDIX “A” OF THE TOWN CODE OF ORDINANCES 

OF MELBOURNE BEACH, THE LAND DEVELOPMENT 

CODE; AMENDING SECTION 7A-57 RELATING TO 

UTILITY SHEDS AND SETBACK REQUIREMENTS; 

PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR 

CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 

PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about adding a clause to grandfather sheds in. The 

changes being made are that the sheds may not be larger than 160 sq. ft., 11.6 feet in 

height, foundation is being struck through, also clarifies that it should be a 2 ft. setback.  

 

Matt Harris – 314 Avenue B – Asked what the changes are. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to table Item B under New Business Ordinance 2024-01 Sheds; 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion failed for a lack of quorum 2-0 with Mayor Alison 

Dennington abstaining from the vote. 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown reminded Mayor Alison Dennington to submit a Form 8B.  

 

C. Ordinance 2024-03 Camping Prohibited – First reading 2:21:35 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 

BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, CREATING 

CHAPTER 73-20, “CAMPING PROHIBITED,” IN THE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR 

DEFINITIONS AND EXCEPTIONS; PROVIDING FOR 

CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington wanted clarification about why the Town would allow camping for 

72 hours, fears this will invite short term renters to camp in people’s yards.  

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight said he left the 72 hours in so that people’s kids could camp in 

their backyard, but it can be removed. 

5555



7 | Page 

 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to approve this Ordinance with one correction of zero 

hours allowed versus the 72 hours currently in the language; 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte amended his motion to approve as presented with Section B removing all 

words after Town limits; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 3-0. 

 

D. Ordinance 2024-04 Prohibit Smoking – First reading – 2:27:10 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 

BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, CREATING 

CHAPTER 73, ARTICLE VI, “PARKS AND BEACHES” IN 

THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TO PROHIBIT SMOKING 

IN TOWN PARKS AND PUBLIC BEACHES; PROVIDING 

FOR DEFINITIONS; PROVIDING FOR ENFORCEMENT 

AND PENALTIES; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; 

PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about vaping and e-cigarettes and banning them in public 

parks, but not being able to for public beaches. Also spoke about fines typically being from 

$25-$100.  

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked if marijuana should be included in the language for this and 

the Town Attorney said that would need to wait.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to approve Ordinance 2024-04 as presented with one 

change adding the restriction of vaping, adding the word vaping to section 73-60 within the public 

parks section; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 3-0. 

 

E. Consideration of transcription services for the Town Clerk – Town Manager Elizabeth 

Mascaro- 2:33:05 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro discussed outsourcing the transcription services. The 

individual would charge $20 per hour of their work, and would take typically 3 times the 

length of the meeting to complete. Funds would come from the Mayor’s donated salary. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked if it would be by contract.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked about using AI transcription services. 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown said no one could recommend a good AI service. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to approve transcription services for the Town Clerk with the 

following conditions: 1. Not to exceed an amount of roughly 3-4 thousand dollars whatever the 

factual amount is on record from the Mayor’s donation 2. Satisfactory review and execution of the 

5656



8 | Page 

 

contract presented by the service to the Town Manager and only the Town Manager; Vice Mayor 

Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 3-0. 

 

F. Consideration of purchasing a truck for the Building Department – 2:40:31 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the need for having a truck to carry ladders 

etc, so proposed selling the 2012 Camry then buy a truck. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked about the mileage on the Camry which was 144,000. 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood said it would be about $4,000-5,000 and the money would 

come out of the building funds so it is not a cost to the citizens. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to approve the request for the building department truck 

for the funds to come out of the enterprise fund of the building department offset by the sale of the 

Camry; Commissioner Corey Runte seconded; Motion carried 3-0. 

 

13. Administrative Reports – 2:53:10 

A. Town Attorney 

B. Town Manager 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said she got a letter from the Town of Indialantic that 

they are not participating/contributing to the lifeguard contract.  

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about inspections and who does them when he is 

gone. 

 

14. Commission Reports 

 

15. Task List 

 

16. Public Comment  

 

17. Adjournment 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to adjourn; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded, Motion carried 

3-0. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 9:08 p.m.   

 

 

 

 

 

5757



5858



5959



6060



6161



6262



6363



6464



6565



6666



6767



6868



6969



7070



7171



7272



7373



7474



7575



7676



7777



7878



7979



8080



8181



8282



8383



8484



8585



8686



8787



8888



8989



9090



9191



9292



9393



9494



9595



9696



9797



9898



9999



100100



101101



102102



103103



104104



105105



106106



107107



108108



109109



110110



111111



112112



113113



114114



115115



116116



117117



118118



119119



120120



121121



122122



123123



124124



Official Proclamation 
TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 

 
 

Constitution Week 
September 17th through September 23rd 

 

 

WHEREAS: September 17, 2024, marks the two hundred and thirty-seventh anniversary of 

the drafting of the Constitution of the United States of America by the Constitutional 

Convention; and  

WHEREAS: It is fitting and proper to accord official recognition to this magnificent 

document and its memorable anniversary; and to the patriotic celebrations which will 

commemorate the occasion; and  

WHEREAS: Public Law 915 guarantees the issuing of a proclamation each year by the 

President of the United States of America designating September 17 through 23 as 

Constitution Week,  

NOW, THEREFORE I, Alison Dennington, Mayor of the Town of Melbourne Beach, in the 

State of Florida, do hereby proclaim the week of September 17th  through September 23rd as  

CONSTITUTION WEEK 

AND ask our citizens to reaffirm the ideals of the Framers of the constitution had in 1787 by 

vigilantly protecting the freedoms guaranteed to us through this guardian of our liberties, 

remembering that lost rights may never be regained.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of the the 

Town of Melbourne Beach to be affixed this 18th day of September Two Thousand Twenty-

four.  

 
 
 
 

     day of                                       , 20  

 

 

              Mayor 

 

Attest:  

          Town Clerk  

125125



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   Parks Board  

Meeting Date:  September 18, 2024 

From:   Dawn Barlow, Chairperson  

RE:   Update/Recommendations on Parks Board Projects 

 

Background Information: 

The Parks Board has been working on a variety of projects.  At the June Town Commission meeting, a PowerPoint 

presentation showcased the below projects:   

Honor our Veteran's 

 Hometown Heroes 

 Veteran's Park/Circle Park 

o Refresh Circle Park 

o Military Honor Walk - Ryckman Park  

Bicentennial Park Water Feature 

For background and tracking purposes, slides have been added with updates, including recommendations.   The 

added slides have a “light grey” background.  For efficiency purposes, the Board does not anticipate speaking to the 

former slides, keeping focus on the update information and recommendations.   

Playground equipment continues to be evaluated, therefore no planned update/recommendation at this time. 

Recommendation:   

Please refer to the added slides in the presentation document: MB Parks Board – Sept 18 Town Commission Meeting. 

For summary purposes, I’m providing the below: 

Honor our Veteran's 

 Hometown Heroes – Approved (unanimous) 

 Veteran's Park/Circle Park 

o Refresh Circle Park – Approved (unanimous) 

o Military Honor Walk - Ryckman Park – Approved (unanimous) 

Bicentennial Park Water Feature – Not approved (not unanimous) 

 

 

126126



 

Attachments:   

 

Presentation document :  

MB Parks Board - Sept 18 Town Commission Meeting 

 

Supporting documents: 

  Circle Park Enhancement Final 

Melbourne Lawn & Landscape Estimate 

Melbourne Lawn & Landscape Digital Rendering and sample native plants 

Sun Harbor Response to Circle Park 

Bicentennial Water Park Feature 

240701 Parks Board Meeting Minutes 

 

 

127127



Parks Board
Honor our Veterans
Bicentennial Water Feature
Playground Equipment

Update/Recommendations
September 18, 2024

1

128128



Honor our Veterans
Town Commission asked the Parks Board to explore creating 

a memorial in Veterans Park to honor our military 
population.

Hometown Heroes
&

Veteran’s Park

129129



Hometown Heroes
Program Requirements

Honoree must be a United States Armed Forces active duty or honorably 

discharged service member or a military service member who has died in 

the line of duty.

Honorees must also be:

•A current Town of Melbourne Beach* resident, OR

•A business/property owner in the Town of Melbourne Beach*, OR

•An immediate family member** of a current Town of Melbourne Beach 

resident or business/property owner, OR

•A Town of Melbourne Beach employee.

**Immediate family members include wife or husband, son or daughter, 

mother or father, brother or sister, grandfather or grandmother, grandson 

or granddaughter, or son-in-law or daughter-in-law.

Banner placement – Ocean Avenue

Cost – evaluate Town or corporate sponsorship – cost est $100-125 per 

sign

130130



Hometown Heroes

Next Steps

Establish website and define process for ordering

Promote during July 4 and Melbourne Beach Facebook or other social

Determine when to showcase; for example, Memorial Day or Veteran’s 

Day

Things to Consider

Annual campaign

Establish website

Return banner to family

131131



Hometown Heroes
Update

Max capacity of 38 banners – displayed across 18 decorative posts

Costs

Anticipated total costs = $2,480

 Fastsigns = $1,440 double sided banners

 Hardware = $1,040

 Installation = MB Public Works to install

Timeline

Announce: Veteran’s Celebration on Nov 11, 2024

Application window: Dec 1, 2024-Jan 15, 2025

Display window: Memorial Day, May 26, 2025-July 31, 2025

Next steps

Establish/launch Town website

Finalize design

Return banner to family

Recommendation – Approved (unanimous)

132132



Veterans Park

Memorial Pathway or Honor Pathway

Personalized bricks/pavers with veteran's name/military 

emblem

Program requirements - same as Hometown Heroes

Cost for personalization covered by individuals/families

Possible vendor: Polar Engraving – Naples, FL (licensed to 

use military emblems/used by Gemini Elementary)

Refresh landscaping

Incorporate low profile native plants

Memorial/Honor path design

Option - Memorial/Honor stone (natural stone)

Option – 6 trees to represent branches of service

3 Vendors: Go Native Landscaping, Sun Harbor and 

Melbourne

133133



Veteran’s Park

Next Steps

Meet with Vendors and review Required Components

• Vendor submission deadline is July 1

Define process for ordering personalized bricks

Promote during July 4 and on Melbourne Beach Facebook

Things to Consider

Peaceful place to honor our Veterans

Pedestrian park

• No car parking

Immediate neighbors

• Promote greenspace

• Minimize hardscape

Additional future brick additions or one-time only?

Maintenance

Cost

134134



Veteran’s Park
Update

PB Meeting on 7/1/24 – Shift Veteran’s Memorial to Ryckman

Refresh Circle Park

Finalized selection of vendors: Go Native, Melbourne Lawn & Landscape and 

Sun Harbor

Finalized Circle Park Required Components

Vendor response and costs

Go Native – declined due to extenuating circumstances

Melbourne Lawn & Landscape

 Onsight evaluation

 Digital concept

 Total estimate: $9,440 - removal of existing concrete pad, add brick 

pavers  path, 1 royal poincianna tree, 2 benches, 50 low lying native plans

Sun Harbor

 Digital concept

 Partial estimate: $729.92 – low lying native plants only

Next steps

Finalize desired plan and design with Town

Recommendation – Approved (unanimous)

Melbourne Lawn & Landscape

Sun Harbor

135135



Veteran’s Park
Update

PB Meeting on 7/1/24 – Shift Veteran’s Memorial to Ryckman

Veteran’s Honor Walk

 Personalized pavers

 Transform existing coquina path behind Old Post Office and Water 

Tower

 Path dimensions : 3’ x  250’ and can accommodate 3,375 4” x 8” 

pavers

Costs

Anticipated total costs = $17,750 - $30,500

 Personalize pavers: $25.50 each ($12,750 - $25,500)

 Installation: $5,000

Anticipated total revenues = $50,000 - $100,000

 Personalized pavers: $100 each ($50,000 - $100,000)

Anticipated profits = $32,250 - $69,500

*Any excess profits earned be considered to support future playground 

equipment

Timeline

Announce: Veteran’s Celebration on Nov 11, 2024

Application window: Dec 1, 2024-March 31, 2025

Installation: June 2025

Melbourne Lawn & Landscape

Sun Harbor

136136



Veteran’s Park
Next steps

Finalize design with Town

Finalize campaign with Polar Engraving

Recommendation – Approved (unanimous)

137137



Bicentennial Park
Town Commission asked the Parks Board to review $1,500 water feature donation.

Things to Consider

Water and power are available

• Does the water need to be potable?

• Gum up pump and weir,  stain materials

• Power cost of pump/lights (always on?)

Maintenance

• Coastal elements – salt, sun and heat corrosion

• Commercial grade/material selection important

Water

• Assume 15-20 Gallons per minute /foot of feature

• Need for rocks, grating, tank/trough (3x flow of feature)

• Will water attract mosquitoes? (pump stops or clogs)

Aesthetics

• Representative of Town

• Florida Vernacular/Coquina/Coastal/Authentic

• Consistency of Welcome to Melbourne Beach signage through Town

• Front/Back both need to be finished

Is “water feature” a requirement of the donation?  Consider donation for 

existing Melbourne Beach signs or low-profile landscaping refresh.

138138



Bicentennial Park
Update

Joyce  Barton, Garden Club representative, attended the 7/1/24 Parks Board meeting

 Provided a historical overview of the Garden Club (1961-2024) – Thank you 

again!

 Expressed donation is for water feature only

 Alternative suggestions were not appealing

Location: lower end of the northern section of Bicentennial Park

Evaluated design ideas:  Key West wall feature to match Town Hall v natural stone

Costs:

Anticipated total costs:  min $6,000 and $200 monthly maintenance

Recommendation: Not approved (not unanimous)

 The Board recognizes the importance of honoring the Garden Club and 

believes the Garden Club should be honored.  The donation amount does not cover the 

anticipated costs.  The Board also has the same concerns that were raised in the June 

2024 Town Commission meeting.  The Parks  Board meeting took place on Thursday,  Sept 

5.  On Friday, Sept 6, The Town Commission did approve a line-item budget in the amount 

of $7,500.  If the Town further evaluates this request, the Parks Board believes it is 

important to obtain feedback from immediate neighbors and keep sight line top of mind.

139139



Playground Equipment
Town Commission asked the Parks Board to explore playground 

equipment replacement.

Vision

Replace playground equipment

• Evaluate 2 design themes

• Evaluate 3 age groups of equipment

• Price age groups separately

• Gather cost estimates

• Determine installation timeline

• Gather feedback and present recommendation to Town 

Commission likely in August or September

140140



Thank you

141141



Circle Park Enhancement  

Required Components 
Please provide an itemized estimate and sketches/scope of work for the following design/build 
work to be provided at Circle Park, Melbourne Beach. The Park Board, an advisory Board to the 
Town of Melbourne Beach, will present three estimates for this work at the September Regular Town 
Commission meeting. 

Concrete Pad: 
 Demo Existing concrete pad and provide new paver path/pad, 
 Provide two (2) 6 foot long benches, with minimal pad in front, to match style and colors of 

other benches in Town. KBC1470 from BarcoProducts.com.  Benches shall be anchored to 
the path/pad with stainless steel hardware. 

Landscaping: 
 Provide native colorful, low density, low height, low-maintenance plants around the border 

of the bench pad. Minimum 2 diƯerent types of plants.  
 Provide edging around plant beds.   
 Provide mulch in plant beds, min 4” deep. Mulch materials shall match type and color of 

other Melbourne Beach park beds.  
 Provide three (3) to Six (6) trees: Oak, Royal Poinciana or other.  Native, shade and low 

maintenance are critical. Minimum 1.5” caliper diameter/ 10-12 feet tall.  
 Maintain existing greenspaces not noted for work and/or repair to original condition. 

Paver Pathways: 
 Provide two independent curvilinear pathways to the existing pad location. 
 Provide each curvilinear Paver Pathway with a minimum length of 25’-0” down the 

centerline of the path. 
 Pathways shall be standard pavers  
 Provide Paver Pathway with a minimum width of 4’-0”, meeting ADA Accessible Route 

requirements. Edges shall be smooth. 

Concept:  Refer to 2nd Page 
 

 

 

 

 

142142



 

Designs may vary from this concept. Maintaining green space and existing trees is critical. 

143143



Estimate

Date
09/02/24

Estimate No.
760

Name/Address
Town of Melbourne Beach

Project

Melbourne Lawn & Landscape
PO BOX 510362
Melbourne Beach, Fl. 32951

Item Description Quantity Cost Total
Removal Remove concrete pad 400.00 400.00
Pavers Install approx 350sf paver walkway & sitting area 350 15.00 5,250.00
Tree Install 1 Royal Poincianna Tree (45 gallon/approx

13ft tall)
1 490.00 490.00

Plants Installed Install approx 50 native plants 50 17.00 850.00
mulch Install 30 bags mulch 30 5.00 150.00
other Install 2 benches 2 1,150.00 2,300.00

Sales Tax 0.00% 0.00

$9,440.00Total $9,440.00

144144



145145



 

 

146146



 

 

 

 

 

147147



Sun Harbor Response to Circle Park 

 

List of items: 

 

1. Bench Bench (2) 

2. Patio Circular (1) 

3. Bismark Palm (3) $130.00 

4. Muhly Grass (14) $12.98 

5. Cedar Mulch (2) 

6. Flamboyant Tree Blooming exsitsting 

7. Brick Running Bond Basketweave Brown (2) 

8. Lantana native (18) $5.98 

9. Grass Green With Striping Curved (1) 

10. Bench (2) 

Plants total: $729.92 

same thing just showing Bizmark palms instead. 

 

 

148148



149149



150150



151151



152152



Mee�ng minutes July 1, 2024 

 

A�endees 

Dawn Barlow 

Haley Conrad 

Lisa Kishegyi 

Heidi Brewer 

Sabrina Conrnelius 

Ediline Johansson 

 

 

Call to order 6:01pm 

 

Public Comment 

 

Bobby Williamson 505 Riverside Circle-put together a handout for the 

a�endees with current photos of Circle Park. In regard to a Veterans 

Memorial He would like to see the bench replaced with one made from a 

material that can withstand the weather.  

Also discussed the poten�al of having the FPL power line placed 

underground if needed to accommodate shade trees. The irriga�on pump 

house could be rebuilt again with a material that can withstand the 

elements. There is currently 1 working irriga�on zone. A bike rack might be 

a nice feature to add.  His main concern is that the changes to the park are 

well thought out and built to last and not be installed as temporary.  Save 

the money if needed so the installa�on will last. As previously discussed 

shade trees and flowers would be a welcome addi�on.  

 

Lori Bradstreet 504 Riverside Drive 

Have we given any thought to a permanent shade structure like a gazebo.  

 

Andy Sarpoolaji 503 Riverside Circle 

Has lived on Riverside Circle since 1992. He is happy to see young families 

out using the park.  He is not in favor of a shade structure.  

 

William Bartle� 507 Riverside Circle 

 

153153



 

 

Joyce Barton 322 Third Avenue 

Spoke about Lily Park in Indialan�c which is supported by the Town of 

Indialan�c and the South Brevard Garden club. She did men�on that the 

Island Garden Club may be able to par�cipate.    

 

A mo�on was made by Lisa Kishegyi to approve the mee�ng minutes from 

June 5, 2024 mee�ng.  Haley Conrad seconded the mo�on.  The mo�on 

passed unanimously 6-0 

 

Unfinished Business 

The Parks Board discussed the lack of parking on Riverside circle which will 

impact the placement of a Veterans Memorial in Circle Park. The concrete 

pad that is currently installed seems a random placement in the park.   The 

poten�al of having a concrete path leading to a new pad was discussed.  If 

placing a new bench in the area a concrete pad under the bench was also 

discussed.  The board will acquire vendor informa�on from Tom Davis 

regarding the purchase of a bench and the es�mated cost for DPW to install 

the bench.  

A>er a lengthy discussion regarding the access to Circle Park Haley Conrad 

made a mo�on to remove Circle Park as a site for the Veterans Memorial 

but con�nue to move forward with a “refresh” of the park. The mo�on was 

seconded by Lisa Kishegyi. Mo�on passed unanimously 6-0 

 

A discussion was had regarding the exis�ng memorial located by the 

flagpole in front of town hall.  Heidi Brewer asked if we can have memorial 

bricks and par�cipate in the hometown heros banner program 

simultaneously.  We discussed possibly placing the bricks on the coquina 

path that travels behind the original post office building in Ryckman park. 

We have 18 poles in town that could be used for the hometown hero 

banners. We could put 2 or 4 banners per pole depending on the number of 

poten�al par�cipants we would have.   It was also men�oned that the 

Daughters of the American Revolu�on may have some ideas regarding the 

use of memorial bricks.  

154154



Haley Conrad made a mo�on to con�nue to honor veterans in 

RyckmanPark. Sabrina Cornelius seconded the mo�on. Unanimously passed 

6-0 

 

The water feature at Bicentennial Park was discussed.   

Joyce Barton Third Avenue spoke about how the dona�on and request for 

the water feature was made by the Melbourne Beach Garden Club founded 

1961, as a final request from the club before dissolving.  The dona�on of 

$1500 was given to the town in May of 2023. The vision of the Garden Club 

was to have a waterfall with a recircula�ng trough. The Board will look into 

pricing of building out a waterfall with materials that will last.  This water 

feature would need to be placed at the lower end of the Northern sec�on 

of the park since that is where to access to water is.  The Board discussed 

possibly puHng a plaque at the water feature to acknowledge the garden 

club and their contribu�on to the town.    

 

A discussion was had regarding puHng a welcome to Melbourne Beach sign 

at the park as well.  Possibly a Key West style to compliment town hall.  This 

lead to a review of the current signs in town. The sign on Riverside is 

already missing le�ers.   Dawn will contact Tom Davis to find out how many 

“welcome”signs are currently placed in town and which require a�en�on at 

this �me.     

 

An update was given on the replacement of current playground equipment. 

We do not have a budget figure from the Town Manager yet.  An es�ma�on 

of 100k was given a few months ago. The playground would cover 3 

different age groups and 2 design choices will be created.  The addi�on of 

permanent shade structures was discussed. Dawn Barlow will contact 

Indialan�c Town to see if they can streamline the process in providing some 

equipment informa�on since they just completed the Mikey Goodwin 

project in Nance Park.  

 

Events 

The next event will be Veterans Day 

 

Reports 

None 

155155



 

Mee�ng was adjourned 7:46PM 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

156156



157157



158158



159159



160160



161161



162162



Attachments: Letter of Recognition 

Date Prepared: 09/11/2024 

Prepared By: Fire Chief Gavin Brown 

Meeting Date: September 18, 2024 

 
Agenda Category: 

X Proclamations & Awards  Public Hearings 

 Presentations  Old Business 

 Boards & Committees  New Business 

 Consent  Other:  

 

Subject: Recognition of Boy Scout Logan Knolmayer for the 
completion of his Eagle Scout Project – Installation of fire 
hydrant reflectors throughout the Town of Melbourne 
Beach. 

Recommended Action:  

Background Information:  

1. Local Boy Scout of America, Logan Knolmayer, approached 

the Fire Department last month regarding a possible Eagle 

Scout project to install new fire hydrant reflectors throughout 

the Town of Melbourne Beach in an effort to assist 

firefighters with locating fire hydrants after dark.  Scout 

Knolmayer conceived this project after noticing that many of 

the existing hydrant reflectors throughout the Town were old 

and worn down, with some missing all together.  After 

developing a proposal and plan to replace all reflectors in the 

Town, he obtained the necessary approvals, and was able to 

secure funding to complete his project through a discount 

negotiated with the equipment vendor, as well as through a 

cost share between the Melbourne Beach Volunteer 

Firefighters Association and the Fire Department.  Scout 

Knolmayer coordinated the entire project, which consisted of 

multiple youth and adult volunteers installing 168 new 

hydrant reflectors over the course of 2 days.  In total the 

project took 82 man hours to complete, and in addition to 

making the hydrants easier to locate at night by firefighters, 

also improved the appearance of our roadways.  Thank you 

to Scout Knolmayer for completing this project and helping to 

keep our community beautiful and safe! 

 

163



164



  
 

1 
 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

Finance Department 

 

Memo 
To: Mayor, Vice Mayor and Commissioners 

From: Jennifer Kerr, Finance Manager 

Date: September 11, 2024 

Re: August Fiscal Year 2024   

We are in the eleventh month of our fiscal year 2024. The target expenditure rate for August is 91.67%. All departments are 

doing well keeping their total expenditure budget within the target rate. Some budget lines are fully expended early in the 

budget year while other lines like salaries and health insurance are paid on a monthly basis. The total General Fund expenditure 

rate, year to date is 82.80%. The Departmental expenditure rate breakdown is as follows:   

 

Legislative:  88.99% 

  Executive:  88.65% 

  Finance:                84.81%  

  Legal:    84.19% 

  Comp & Plan:     24.23% 

  General Services:  65.00% 

  Law Enforcement:  88.67% 

  Fire:    79.62% 

  Code:    58.44% 

  Public Works:   80.71% 

  Grounds Keeping:  65.46% 

  Parks:                  93.65%       

 

Discussion Items:  

 

The Town received Parking Revenue for August FY2024 in the amount of $13,957.45. Parking revenue for August 

FY2023 was $15,171.79.  

 

- A Fiscal Year (FY) parking comparison is attached.  

 

 

The Town received $2,437.63 from FEMA through the State of Florida for Hurricane Nicole.  

The Town received $14,625.77 from FEMA through the Federal Government for Hurricane Nicole.  

165165



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE FOR TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH                                                                      
Balance As Of 08/31/2024                                                                                        

Fund: 001 GENERAL FUND
Account Category: Revenues Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
001-00-311.00.00 AD VALOREM TAXES 2,685,662.00 2,685,662.00 0.00 28,306.41 98.95
001-00-312.41.00 LOCAL OPTION COUNTY GAS TAX 125,000.00 125,000.00 0.00 22,564.33 81.95
001-00-314.10.00 UTILITY SERVICES TAX FPL 276,000.00 276,000.00 0.00 8,978.62 96.75
001-00-314.30.00 UTILITY SERVICES TAX WATER 54,000.00 54,000.00 0.00 2,475.01 95.42
001-00-314.40.00 UTILITY SERVICES TAX GAS 0.00 0.00 0.00 (110.09) 100.00
001-00-314.40.10 UTILTIY GAS TAX AMERIGAS 8,500.00 8,500.00 0.00 1,573.61 81.49
001-00-314.40.20 UTILITY GAS TAX SUBURBAN 1,300.00 1,300.00 0.00 8.97 99.31
001-00-314.40.30 UTILTIY GAS TAX FERRELL 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 (1,079.35) 143.17
001-00-314.40.40 UTILITY GAS TAX SAM'S GAS 100.00 100.00 0.00 (458.69) 558.69
001-00-314.40.50 UTILITY SERVICE GAS TAX THOMPSONGAS 0.00 0.00 0.00 (321.96) 100.00
001-00-315.00.00 COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE TAX 145,000.00 145,000.00 0.00 24,631.26 83.01
001-00-316.00.00 OCCP. LIC 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 (1,338.59) 108.92
001-00-323.10.00 FRANCHISE FEES FPL 215,000.00 215,000.00 0.00 66,799.64 68.93
001-00-323.70.00 FRANCHISE FEES SOLID WASTE 44,000.00 44,000.00 0.00 (433.60) 100.99
001-00-323.70.10 SOLID WASTE COMMERCIAL 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 928.49 93.81
001-00-329.20.00 BONFIRE PERMIT 350.00 350.00 0.00 (550.00) 257.14
001-00-329.50.00 LOW SPEED VEHICLE REGISTRATION 500.00 500.00 0.00 (1,500.00) 400.00
001-00-329.50.10 LOW SPEED VEHICLE PERMIT FEE 600.00 600.00 0.00 (700.00) 216.67
001-00-331.12.00 FEMA 0.00 0.00 0.00 (56,532.20) 100.00
001-00-334.10.00 FEMA STATE GRANT 0.00 0.00 0.00 (4,224.09) 100.00
001-00-334.40.00 FMIT SAFETY GRANT 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 2,008.00 71.31
001-00-335.12.00 STATE REVENUE SHARING PROCEEDS 112,000.00 112,000.00 0.00 9,459.11 91.55
001-00-335.15.00 ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE LICENSES 4,300.00 4,300.00 0.00 (725.51) 116.87
001-00-335.18.00 HALF CENT SALES TAX LOCAL GOV 225,000.00 225,000.00 0.00 49,881.81 77.83
001-00-342.20.00 SAFETY INSPECT FEE VAC RENTAL 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 (450.00) 137.50
001-00-342.20.10 SAFETY RENEWAL-VAC RENTALS 1,600.00 1,600.00 0.00 (350.00) 121.88
001-00-345.10.00 VAC RENTAL APP FEE-INITITAL 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 (1,500.00) 137.50
001-00-345.10.10 VAC RENEWAL FEE - RENTALS 4,725.00 4,725.00 0.00 175.00 96.30
001-00-349.00.29 LIEN SEARCH REQUEST 0.00 0.00 0.00 (135.00) 100.00

166166



Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
001-00-361.10.00 INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 12,000.00 12,000.00 0.00 (14,289.37) 219.08
001-00-369.00.00 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 (7,584.24) 403.37
001-00-369.00.49 INSURANCE RECOVERY 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
001-00-381.00.00 TRANSFERS IN 194,000.00 194,000.00 0.00 194,000.00 0.00

92.31
Department: 21 LAW ENFORCEM
001-21-312.52.00 INSURANCE PREMIUM TAX 45,500.00 45,500.00 0.00 (5,012.84) 111.02
001-21-337.20.00 SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER 68,500.00 68,500.00 0.00 17,125.00 75.00
001-21-337.90.01 OTHER GRANTS 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 6,000.00 0.00
001-21-347.90.01 SPECIAL EVENTS 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,280.00) 100.00
001-21-351.00.00 FINES - LAW ENFORCEMENT 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 (1,360.42) 127.21
001-21-351.13.00 PARKING TICKETS 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
001-21-351.13.10 ACCIDENT REPORT 200.00 200.00 0.00 (18.00) 109.00
001-21-364.10.00 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS - VEHICLES 200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00 0.00
001-21-369.00.00 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 100.00 100.00 0.00 (543.27) 643.27

87.61
Department: 22 FIRE CONTROL
001-22-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 10,700.00 10,700.00 0.00 10,700.00 0.00
001-22-322.30.00 FIRE PROTECTIVE SERVICES 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 (2,415.00) 220.75
001-22-364.20.00 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS - OTHER 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
001-22-369.55.10 SHARED TRAINING 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00

33.20
Department: 29 CODE ENFORCEM
001-29-359.00.00 OTHER FINES AND FORFEITURES 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00

0.00
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
001-41-335.12.00 STATE REVENUE SHARING 0.00 0.00 0.00 (4.37) 100.00
001-41-364.10.00 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS - VEHICLES 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
001-41-369.00.00 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 0.00 0.00 0.00 (721.00) 100.00

145.07
Department: 72 PARKS & RECREA
001-72-347.41.00 FOUNDER'S DAY 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 (332.50) 104.75

167167



Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
001-72-347.50.00 FACILITY RENTALS 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 2,380.00 60.33
001-72-366.19.00 TH DONATIONS - KIDS BUSINESS FAIR 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 (1,640.00) 132.80

97.74

Overall Revenue Rate: 92.00

Account Category: Expenditures
Department: 00 
001-00-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 441,761.00 441,761.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

100.00
Department: 11 LEGISLATIVE
001-11-500.11.00 EXECUTIVE SALARIES 16,200.00 16,200.00 0.00 4,516.81 72.12
001-11-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 60,113.00 60,113.00 0.00 4,556.63 92.42
001-11-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 5,838.00 5,838.00 0.00 841.72 85.58
001-11-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 8,157.00 8,157.00 0.00 610.75 92.51
001-11-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 6,534.00 6,534.00 0.00 483.00 92.61
001-11-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 71.00 71.00 0.00 3.44 95.15
001-11-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 244.00 244.00 0.00 173.62 28.84
001-11-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 250.00 250.00 0.00 (172.55) 169.02
001-11-510.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 4,465.00 4,465.00 0.00 2,945.38 34.03
001-11-510.40.10 TRAVEL & MEETINGS - STAFF 2,100.00 2,100.00 0.00 46.44 97.79
001-11-510.47.00 PRINTING 12,593.00 12,593.00 0.00 6,233.51 50.50
001-11-510.48.00 PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITIES 800.00 800.00 0.00 229.34 71.33
001-11-510.48.40 LEGAL NOTICES 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 8,370.50 16.30
001-11-510.49.50 ELECTION EXPENSE 11,000.00 11,000.00 0.00 948.16 91.38
001-11-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 720.00 720.00 0.00 (110.00) 115.28
001-11-510.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 3,560.00 3,560.00 0.00 1,616.00 54.61
001-11-510.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 85,700.00 85,700.00 4,740.00 (9,412.12) 110.98
001-11-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 34,267.00 34,267.00 0.00 2,282.63 93.34

88.99
Department: 12 EXECUTIVE
001-12-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 147,720.00 147,720.00 0.00 13,728.06 90.71
001-12-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 11,301.00 11,301.00 0.00 (168.72) 101.49

168168



Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
001-12-500.22.01 RETIREMENT - ICMA 15,247.00 15,247.00 0.00 1,500.17 90.16
001-12-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 4,937.00 4,937.00 0.00 484.04 90.20
001-12-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 28,117.00 28,117.00 0.00 6,503.95 76.87
001-12-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 828.00 828.00 0.00 153.25 81.49
001-12-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 212.00 212.00 0.00 39.00 81.60
001-12-510.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 1,820.00 1,820.00 0.00 (117.40) 106.45
001-12-510.49.99 MISCELLANEOUS 300.00 300.00 0.00 300.00 0.00
001-12-510.52.50 GAS & OIL 2,400.00 2,400.00 0.00 200.00 91.67
001-12-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 3,511.00 3,511.00 0.00 1,000.73 71.50
001-12-510.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 1,680.00 1,680.00 0.00 1,130.00 32.74

88.65
Department: 13 FINANCE
001-13-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 112,950.00 112,950.00 0.00 9,871.12 91.26
001-13-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 8,641.00 8,641.00 0.00 780.83 90.96
001-13-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 15,327.00 15,327.00 0.00 1,326.07 91.35
001-13-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 39,000.00 39,000.00 0.00 15,826.32 59.42
001-13-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 297.00 297.00 0.00 161.88 45.49
001-13-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 158.00 158.00 0.00 27.13 82.83
001-13-510.32.00 AUDITING SERVICES 32,600.00 32,600.00 0.00 1,750.00 94.63
001-13-510.32.90 BANKING FEES 12,916.00 12,916.00 0.00 4,522.95 64.98
001-13-510.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 1,221.00 1,221.00 0.00 250.16 79.51
001-13-510.47.00 PRINTING 216.00 216.00 0.00 216.00 0.00
001-13-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 60.00 60.00 0.00 60.00 0.00
001-13-510.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 468.05 53.20
001-13-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 7,785.00 7,785.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

84.81
Department: 14 LEGAL COUNSEL
001-14-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 97,000.00 97,000.00 0.00 16,834.12 82.65
001-14-510.31.01 CODE ENFORCEMENT ATTORNEY 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 77.50 99.23

84.19
Department: 15 PLANNING
001-15-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 26,000.00 26,000.00 0.00 19,701.20 24.23

24.23

169169



Department: 16 FEMA - HURRICA  Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
001-16-520.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 0.00 0.00 0.00 67.76 100.00

100.00
Department: 19 GENERAL SERVIC
001-19-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 3,687.00 3,687.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-19-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 4,620.00 4,620.00 0.00 765.00 83.44
001-19-510.31.11 SECURITY 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 700.00 30.00
001-19-510.34.10 JANITORIAL SERVICES 17,000.00 17,000.00 0.00 3,151.00 81.46
001-19-510.35.00 PRE-EMPLOYMENT EXP 400.00 400.00 0.00 400.00 0.00
001-19-510.41.00 TELEPHONE 25,080.00 25,080.00 0.00 4,787.73 80.91
001-19-510.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 45,372.00 45,372.00 0.00 (945.73) 102.08
001-19-510.43.00 STREET LIGHTS 50,400.00 50,400.00 0.00 8,040.27 84.05
001-19-510.43.10 ELECTRICITY 33,600.00 33,600.00 0.00 7,815.77 76.74
001-19-510.43.20 WATER & SEWER 3,650.00 3,650.00 0.00 (123.46) 103.38
001-19-510.43.50 WASTE TAX SERVICE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 70.45 97.18
001-19-510.45.00 GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE 94,000.00 94,000.00 0.00 9,382.00 90.02
001-19-510.45.01 FLOOD INSURANCE 5,690.00 5,690.00 0.00 (360.00) 106.33
001-19-510.45.02 PROPERTY INSURANCE 128,000.00 128,000.00 0.00 30,641.00 76.06
001-19-510.45.03 AUTO INSURANCE 9,000.00 9,000.00 0.00 (688.00) 107.64
001-19-510.46.10 OFFICE EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 4,832.00 4,832.00 0.00 1,055.89 78.15
001-19-510.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 31,500.00 31,500.00 0.00 17,532.68 44.34
001-19-510.46.36 PEST CONTROL 3,120.00 3,120.00 0.00 (290.00) 109.29
001-19-510.47.00 PRINTING 900.00 900.00 0.00 799.88 11.12
001-19-510.49.90 ADOPT AN AREA 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 597.75 40.23
001-19-510.49.98 CONTINGENCY 25,000.00 25,000.00 0.00 24,502.00 1.99
001-19-510.49.99 MISCELLANEOUS 300.00 300.00 0.00 147.13 50.96
001-19-510.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 11,000.00 11,000.00 0.00 5,215.97 52.58
001-19-510.51.10 POSTAGE 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 206.23 86.25
001-19-510.52.10 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 5,400.00 5,400.00 0.00 2,309.04 57.24
001-19-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 435.00 435.00 0.00 39.97 90.81
001-19-510.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 148,000.00 148,000.00 0.00 141,478.99 4.41
001-19-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 20,585.00 20,585.00 0.00 6,890.26 66.53
001-19-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 77,000.00 77,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

65.00

170170



Department: 21 LAW ENFORCEM Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
001-21-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 721,855.00 721,855.00 0.00 81,529.70 88.71
001-21-500.12.50 HOLIDAY PAY 23,000.00 23,000.00 0.00 3,930.77 82.91
001-21-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 (428.06) 102.85
001-21-500.14.16 HURRICANE PAY 18,000.00 18,000.00 0.00 18,000.00 0.00
001-21-500.15.00 EDUCATION INCENTIVE PAY 7,634.00 7,634.00 0.00 962.93 87.39
001-21-500.15.01 FIRST RESPONDER 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 508.93 91.52
001-21-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 54,888.00 54,888.00 0.00 3,493.15 93.64
001-21-500.22.02 POLICE PENSION 142,500.00 142,500.00 0.00 (9,066.27) 106.36
001-21-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 5,217.00 5,217.00 0.00 1,622.45 68.90
001-21-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 105,440.00 105,440.00 0.00 16,676.81 84.18
001-21-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 2,900.00 2,900.00 0.00 519.02 82.10
001-21-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (162.50) 116.25
001-21-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 8,848.00 8,848.00 0.00 271.00 96.94
001-21-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 2,296.00 2,296.00 0.00 1,423.80 37.99
001-21-520.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 725.00 725.00 0.00 92.55 87.23
001-21-520.34.40 DISPATCHING SERVICES 18,319.00 18,319.00 0.00 (549.11) 103.00
001-21-520.35.00 PRE-EMPLOYMENT EXPENSE 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (1,358.00) 235.80
001-21-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 3,184.00 3,184.00 0.00 1,249.04 60.77
001-21-520.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 (1,254.70) 120.91
001-21-520.46.10 OFFICE EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 6,825.53 2.49
001-21-520.46.15 EQUIPMENT 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 1,038.10 58.48
001-21-520.46.16 RADAR CALIBRATION 250.00 250.00 0.00 (261.00) 204.40
001-21-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 17,000.00 17,000.00 0.00 1,168.26 93.13
001-21-520.48.00 PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITIES 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 274.18 81.72
001-21-520.48.50 CRIME PREVENTION 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 780.27 47.98
001-21-520.49.99 MISCELLANEOUS 100.00 100.00 0.00 2.55 97.45
001-21-520.51.10 POSTAGE 125.00 125.00 0.00 116.44 6.85
001-21-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 8,500.00 8,500.00 0.00 3,403.88 59.95
001-21-520.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 3,500.00 3,500.00 0.00 1,621.82 53.66
001-21-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 25,000.00 25,000.00 0.00 6,521.52 73.91
001-21-520.52.70 MEDICAL 800.00 800.00 0.00 800.00 0.00
001-21-520.52.90 OPERATING SUPPLIES 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 (1,400.11) 146.67
001-21-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 1,175.00 1,175.00 0.00 470.00 60.00

171171



Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
001-21-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 6,400.00 6,400.00 0.00 5,950.00 7.03
001-21-520.64.01 Capital Outlay 8,400.00 8,400.00 0.00 (3,600.43) 142.86
001-21-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 14,646.00 14,646.00 0.00 1,561.25 89.34
001-21-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

88.67
Department: 22 FIRE CONTROL
001-22-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 96,226.00 96,226.00 0.00 7,608.43 92.09
001-22-500.14.16 HURRICANE PAY 1,890.00 1,890.00 0.00 1,890.00 0.00
001-22-500.14.50 STIPEND PAYROLL 44,000.00 44,000.00 0.00 27,479.00 37.55
001-22-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 10,727.00 10,727.00 0.00 2,651.98 75.28
001-22-500.22.01 RETIREMENT - ICMA 9,248.00 9,248.00 0.00 431.84 95.33
001-22-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 3,591.00 3,591.00 0.00 371.15 89.66
001-22-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 28,200.00 28,200.00 0.00 1,824.12 93.53
001-22-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 148.00 148.00 0.00 12.88 91.30
001-22-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 207.00 207.00 0.00 (162.50) 178.50
001-22-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 16,222.00 16,222.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-22-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 241.00 241.00 0.00 128.63 46.63
001-22-520.31.11 SECURITY 0.00 0.00 0.00 (300.00) 100.00
001-22-520.34.40 DISPATCHING SERVICES 5,400.00 5,400.00 0.00 1,200.00 77.78
001-22-520.35.00 PRE-EMPLOYMENT EXPENSE 2,060.00 2,060.00 0.00 1,644.00 20.19
001-22-520.36.00 ANNUAL PHYSICALS 4,375.00 4,375.00 0.00 3,075.00 29.71
001-22-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 750.00 750.00 0.00 193.89 74.15
001-22-520.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 1,944.00 1,944.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-22-520.46.15 EQUIPMENT 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 1,137.35 88.63
001-22-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 32,000.00 32,000.00 0.00 15,305.85 52.17
001-22-520.46.30 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (1,068.19) 206.82
001-22-520.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 800.00 800.00 0.00 582.60 27.18
001-22-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 12,600.00 12,600.00 0.00 9,120.86 27.61
001-22-520.52.02 S.C.B.A. 2,550.00 2,550.00 0.00 (999.76) 139.21
001-22-520.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 2,925.00 2,925.00 0.00 (139.79) 104.78
001-22-520.52.10 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 556.42 44.36
001-22-520.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 10,500.00 10,500.00 0.00 9,137.67 12.97
001-22-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 2,363.20 52.74

172172



Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
001-22-520.52.70 MEDICAL 1,400.00 1,400.00 0.00 (933.33) 166.67
001-22-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 610.00 610.00 0.00 60.00 90.16
001-22-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 5,525.00 5,525.00 0.00 808.00 85.38
001-22-520.54.12 TRAINING MATERIALS 3,200.00 3,200.00 0.00 2,595.46 18.89
001-22-520.64.01 Capital Outlay 82,369.00 82,369.00 195.00 2,714.98 96.70
001-22-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 13,473.00 13,473.00 0.00 1,529.12 88.65
001-22-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 36,500.00 36,500.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

79.62
Department: 29 CODE ENFORCEM
001-29-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 15,792.00 15,792.00 0.00 6,946.62 56.01
001-29-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 1,208.00 1,208.00 0.00 332.45 72.48
001-29-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 2,143.00 2,143.00 0.00 640.24 70.12
001-29-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 21.00 21.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-29-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 738.00 738.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-29-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 51.00 51.00 0.00 36.63 28.18
001-29-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 50.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 0.00
001-29-520.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
001-29-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
001-29-520.48.55 FIRE PREVENTION 4,600.00 4,600.00 0.00 707.14 84.63
001-29-520.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 125.00 125.00 0.00 67.75 45.80
001-29-520.51.10 POSTAGE 350.00 350.00 0.00 228.18 34.81
001-29-520.51.20 RECORDING COSTS 120.00 120.00 0.00 120.00 0.00
001-29-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 300.00 300.00 0.00 300.00 0.00
001-29-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
001-29-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 600.00 600.00 0.00 600.00 0.00
001-29-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00

58.44
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
001-41-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 253,947.00 253,947.00 0.00 54,062.18 78.71
001-41-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 3,051.80 23.71
001-41-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 19,427.00 19,427.00 0.00 3,847.80 80.19
001-41-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 34,461.00 34,461.00 0.00 7,150.68 79.25
001-41-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 46,000.00 46,000.00 0.00 10,551.70 77.06

173173



Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
001-41-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 294.00 294.00 0.00 (5.51) 101.87
001-41-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 83.00 83.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-41-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 4,424.00 4,424.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-41-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 813.00 813.00 0.00 552.80 32.00
001-41-530.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
001-41-530.43.15 ELECTRICAL WORK 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 (5,543.50) 210.87
001-41-530.43.50 DUMP SERVICE 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 1,918.84 4.06
001-41-530.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 6,500.00 6,500.00 0.00 5,528.23 14.95
001-41-530.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 3,538.28 29.23
001-41-530.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 9,500.00 9,500.00 0.00 (5,709.46) 160.10
001-41-530.46.30 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 9,000.00 9,000.00 0.00 (6,391.09) 171.01
001-41-530.46.31 MAINTENANCE OLD TOWN HALL 600.00 600.00 0.00 539.57 10.07
001-41-530.46.32 RYCKMAN HOUSE 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (700.00) 170.00
001-41-530.46.33 OLD POST OFFICE REPAIRS 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 1,869.69 6.52
001-41-530.46.35 PIER MAINTENANCE 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 863.40 13.66
001-41-530.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 5,101.46 48.99
001-41-530.52.00 UNIFORMS 3,750.00 3,750.00 0.00 2,147.75 42.73
001-41-530.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 1,539.39 38.42
001-41-530.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 (651.76) 113.04
001-41-530.52.25 TOOL RENTALS 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 645.85 56.94
001-41-530.52.50 GAS & OIL 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 1,548.00 77.89
001-41-530.53.10 STREET REPAIR 7,500.00 7,500.00 0.00 513.26 93.16
001-41-530.53.20 STREET SIGNS 8,000.00 8,000.00 0.00 2,616.36 67.30
001-41-530.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 984.05 34.40
001-41-530.57.25 WELDING 200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00 0.00
001-41-530.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-41-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

80.71
Department: 42 GROUNDS KEEPIN
001-42-530.34.91 LANDSCAPING 22,300.00 22,300.00 0.00 8,874.44 60.20
001-42-530.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 (933.09) 137.32
001-42-530.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 26,000.00 26,000.00 0.00 15,923.46 38.76
001-42-530.46.43 TREE EXPENSE 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00

174174



Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
001-42-530.52.00 UNIFORMS 3,125.00 3,125.00 0.00 2,980.25 4.63
001-42-530.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 575.00 575.00 0.00 485.31 15.60
001-42-530.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 500.00 500.00 0.00 (1,008.28) 301.66
001-42-530.52.25 TOOL RENTALS 0.00 0.00 0.00 (323.69) 100.00
001-42-530.52.50 GAS & OIL 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (263.71) 126.37
001-42-530.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 375.00 375.00 0.00 375.00 0.00
001-42-530.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 0.00 0.00 0.00 (7,134.60) 100.00
001-42-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 4,250.00 4,250.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

65.46
Department: 72 PARKS & RECREA
001-72-570.48.10 FOUNDER'S DAY 8,000.00 8,000.00 0.00 (549.02) 106.86
001-72-570.48.50 MOVIES IN THE PARK 1,800.00 1,800.00 0.00 813.03 54.83
001-72-570.48.52 FOURTH OF JULY 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-72-570.48.53 CHRISTMAS DECORATIONS PARK 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 (592.55) 114.81
001-72-570.48.60 EASTER EGG HUNT 400.00 400.00 0.00 (25.12) 106.28
001-72-570.48.90 RECREATION PROGRAMS 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 3,530.59 29.39
001-72-570.48.91 CHILDREN'S BUSINESS FAIR 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 (985.87) 119.72
001-72-570.63.01 TENNIS COURT EXPEDITURES 700.00 700.00 0.00 700.00 0.00
001-72-570.63.02 BBALL & VBALL COURTS 700.00 700.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-72-570.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 30,000.00 30,000.00 0.00 700.64 97.66

93.65

Overall Expenditure Rate: 82.80

Fund: 104 ENVIRONMENTAL ADV  
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
104-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 9,977.14 9,977.14 0.00 9,977.14 0.00
104-00-337.90.01 OTHER GRANTS 0.00 0.00 0.00 (568.00) 100.00
104-00-381.00.00 TRANSFERS IN 5,500.00 5,500.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

39.21

175175



Account Category: Expenditures Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
Department: 72 PARKS & RECREA
104-72-570.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
104-72-570.34.91 LANDSCAPING 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
104-72-570.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 920.29 23.31
104-72-570.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (345.35) 100.00
104-72-570.52.00 UNIFORMS 400.00 400.00 0.00 360.77 9.81
104-72-570.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 4,971.17 17.15
104-72-570.83.01 SUNSHINE JIM 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 57.61 96.16

27.03

Fund: 125 BUILDING DEPT
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 24 PROTECTIVE INSP
125-24-322.00.00 BUILDING PERMITS 240,000.00 240,000.00 0.00 70,278.83 70.72
125-24-322.00.01 PERMIT SEARCH REQUEST 0.00 0.00 0.00 (15.00) 100.00
125-24-322.10.00 ZONING PLAN REVIEW 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 2,125.00 15.00
125-24-322.10.10 SITE PLAN REVIEW P&Z 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 4,261.25 28.98
125-24-322.20.00 BUILDING PLAN REVIEW 5,500.00 5,500.00 0.00 3,625.00 34.09
125-24-322.31.00 BOA ADVERTISING COSTS 100.00 100.00 0.00 (175.06) 275.06
125-24-322.31.20 P&Z ADVERTISING 200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00 0.00
125-24-329.00.00 OTHER LICENSES, FEES & PERMITS 13,000.00 13,000.00 0.00 2,531.43 80.53
125-24-329.00.10 BOA VARIANCE FEES 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (3,297.00) 429.70
125-24-354.00.00 LOCAL ORDINANCE VIOLATION 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 546.14 90.90
125-24-364.10.00 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS - VEHICLES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (6,000.00) 100.00

72.99
Account Category: Expenditures
125-24-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 154,096.00 154,096.00 0.00 13,090.10 91.51
125-24-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
125-24-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 11,788.34 11,788.34 0.00 1,199.39 89.83
125-24-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 20,910.83 20,910.83 0.00 1,758.45 91.59
125-24-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 17,000.00 17,000.00 0.00 4,419.04 74.01
125-24-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 136.00 136.00 0.00 24.52 81.97
125-24-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 42.00 42.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

176176



Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
125-24-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 1,475.00 1,475.00 0.00 1,475.00 0.00
125-24-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 493.11 493.11 0.00 314.10 36.30
125-24-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 700.00 700.00 0.00 (1,156.46) 265.21
125-24-520.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (195.00) 100.00
125-24-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 800.00 800.00 0.00 374.09 53.24
125-24-520.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 430.00 430.00 0.00 167.18 61.12
125-24-520.51.10 POSTAGE 75.00 75.00 0.00 57.64 23.15
125-24-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 560.00 560.00 0.00 335.31 40.12
125-24-520.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 100.00 100.00 0.00 (129.00) 229.00
125-24-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 700.00 700.00 0.00 275.13 60.70
125-24-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,475.00 1.67
125-24-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 400.00 400.00 0.00 (549.00) 237.25
125-24-520.64.01 Capital Outlay 0.00 0.00 0.00 (10,733.00) 100.00
125-24-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 3,490.00 3,490.00 0.00 (1,693.10) 148.51
125-24-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00

86.63

Fund: 145 AMERICAN RESCUE PLA
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
145-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 759,385.36 759,385.36 0.00 759,385.36 0.00

0.00
Account Category: Expenditures
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
145-41-530.31.21 ENGINEERING SERVICES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (7,330.00) 100.00
145-41-530.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 758,533.87 758,533.87 0.00 716,689.24 5.52

6.48

Fund: 172 OCEAN PARK PARKING 
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
172-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 51,144.00 51,144.00 0.00 51,144.00 0.00

0.00

177177



Department: 75 TOWN PARKS Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
172-75-342.10.00 PARKING TICKET REVENUE 12,000.00 12,000.00 0.00 6,650.00 44.58
172-75-344.50.00 PARKING METER REVENUE 95,000.00 95,000.00 0.00 13,257.21 86.05

81.40
Account Category: Expenditures

172-75-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (300.00) 100.00
172-75-575.31.02 LIFEGUARD CONTRACT 73,000.00 73,000.00 0.00 50,649.55 30.62
172-75-575.32.90 BANKING FEES 5,500.00 5,500.00 0.00 1,283.94 76.66
172-75-575.34.10 JANITORIAL CLEANING 1,800.00 1,800.00 0.00 150.00 91.67
172-75-575.34.91 LANDSCAPING 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,278.27 14.78
172-75-575.41.10 IPS COMMUNICATIONS FEE 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 1,352.15 72.96
172-75-575.43.10 ELECTRICITY 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 794.40 73.52
172-75-575.43.20 WATER & SEWER 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 (462.87) 138.57
172-75-575.43.50 DUMP SERVICE 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 0.00
172-75-575.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 609.87 79.67
172-75-575.46.31 BUILDING MAINT RESTROOMS 400.00 400.00 0.00 (1,893.88) 573.47
172-75-575.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 (634.03) 152.84
172-75-575.52.10 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 350.00 350.00 0.00 (1,828.15) 622.33
172-75-575.52.25 TOOL RENTAL 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00
172-75-575.53.15 PARKING LOT REPAIRS 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00 0.00
172-75-575.53.20 SIGNS 800.00 800.00 0.00 800.00 0.00
172-75-575.63.03 VOLLEYBALL COURT 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 1,506.04 24.70
172-75-575.63.05 BOCCE BALL COURT 0.00 0.00 0.00 (7,356.15) 100.00
172-75-575.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 5,433.07 9.45
172-75-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 1,400.00 1,400.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

49.38

Fund: 175 RYCKMAN CROSSOVER  
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
175-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 120,556.74 120,556.74 0.00 120,556.74 0.00

0.00

178178



Department: 75 TOWN PARKS Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
175-75-342.10.00 PARKING TICKET REVENUE 3,500.00 3,500.00 0.00 (3,250.00) 192.86
175-75-344.50.00 PARKING METER REVENUE 89,000.00 89,000.00 0.00 7,613.39 91.45
175-75-344.50.10 PARK PASS REVENUE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 (700.00) 128.00
175-75-347.90.01 SPECIAL EVENTS 0.00 0.00 0.00 (75.00) 100.00

96.22
Account Category: Expenditures
175-75-575.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (3,000.00) 100.00
175-75-575.32.90 BANKING FEES 3,400.00 3,400.00 0.00 589.29 82.67
175-75-575.41.15 IPS COMMUNICATION FEE 2,800.00 2,800.00 0.00 429.47 84.66
175-75-575.47.00 PRINTING 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,876.50) 100.00
175-75-575.48.52 FALL FESTIVAL 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 278.20 93.05
175-75-575.48.53 CHRISTMAS DECORATIONS 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 4,000.00 0.00
175-75-575.50.00 RECREATION PROGRAMS 10,500.00 10,500.00 0.00 1,400.00 86.67
175-75-575.63.06 PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT 0.00 0.00 0.00 (2,256.69) 100.00
175-75-575.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 50,000.00 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 0.00
175-75-575.73.00 CULTURAL SERVICES 3,500.00 3,500.00 0.00 2,699.08 22.88
175-75-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 91,500.00 91,500.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

69.20

Fund: 351 LAND & ROAD IMPROV
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
351-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 27,397.17 27,397.17 0.00 27,397.17 0.00
351-00-381.00.00 TRANSFERS IN 90,000.00 90,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

76.66
Account Category: Expenditures
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
351-41-570.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 3,777.50 24.45
351-41-570.31.21 ENGINEERING SERVICES 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00
351-41-570.34.91 LANDSCAPING 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 (3,304.00) 133.04
351-41-570.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,183.10) 100.00
351-41-570.46.43 TREE EXPENSE 9,000.00 9,000.00 0.00 8,650.00 3.89
351-41-570.52.25 TOOL RENTALS 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00

179179



Description ORIGINAL BUDG Amended Encumbrance Available % Used
351-41-570.53.20 STREET SIGNS 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 (15,515.13) 177.58
351-41-570.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 50,000.00 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 0.00

44.08

180180



FY23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 TOTAL
Ocean 3,785.42 3,456.88 4,996.04 8,137.70 13,056.24 9,875.00 10,732.69 10,164.36 13,312.63 8,768.32 91,206.32
Ryckman 5,050.00 6,359.91 6,415.41 8,745.55 10,817.72 9,235.16 9,540.80 7,688.74 9,178.92 6,403.47 85,790.03
Total 8,835.42 9,816.79 11,411.45 16,883.25 23,873.96 19,110.16 20,273.49 17,853.10 22,491.55 15,171.79 176,996.35

FY24 Nov-23 Dec-24 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24 Apr-24 May-24 Jun-24 Jul-24 Aug-24 TOTAL
Ocean 3,669.99 2,544.37 2,412.50 3,359.78 10,650.19 10,584.79 11,999.21 11,707.57 13,209.28 7,281.57 81,742.79
Ryckman 4,085.40 5,833.19 5,111.66 6,927.64 10,600.74 9,782.44 9,917.90 8,116.48 8,718.81 6,675.88 81,386.61
Total 7,755.39 8,377.56 7,524.16 10,287.42 21,250.93 20,367.23 21,917.11 19,824.05 21,928.09 13,957.45 163,129.40

181181



Public Works Activities 

August 2024 

 

On behalf of my crew I just want to let the Commission and Town residents the 

many compliments received are appreciated.  As the leader of this Department I 

will tell you that any compliments I receive are shared with my crew.  Much 

appreciated. Thanks 

Construction of deck in Ryckman Park  - 24 x 40 ft. under oaks –  

Repaired one of the picnic covered areas Ocean Park 

Notified FPL – street lights out 200 block First Ave. – per resident request 

Notified Brevard County Public Works about sunken area by sewer box Sandy Key 

Trimmed area of beach crossover path – Cherry 

Removed large trim limb broken by winds Oak St.  

Installed new Town Of Melbourne Beach signs incoming routes to Town 

Many hundreds of pounds of tree debris collected – high winds (waterspout?) 

Measure size of pathway along south end of Ryckman supplied to Parks Board 

Repaired bathroom stall latch Ocean Park 

Replaced handsoap dispensers Ocean Park 

Installed new drinking fountain Ryckman Park restrooms  

Assembled new chairs for Community Center/placed in Community Center 

Removed rotten wood and replaced window Ryckman House window 

Built assembled and installed crossover flag holders for pedestrian crossings 

Constructed swale Ash and Orange 

182182



Continued months long conversation with FDOT ref. Cherry ped crossing and Oak 

and Ocean intersection 

Installed “Back to School” banners Circle Park and Bicentennial Park  

183183



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 
BREVARD COUNTY’S OLDEST BEACH COMMUNITY ESTABLISHED 1883 

507 OCEAN AVENUE, MELBOURNE BEACH, FL 32951-2523 
(321) 724-5860         FAX: (321) 984-8994       www.melbournebeachfl.org 

 
 
 

Building Department Report   
 

JULY 2024 
 

 
 

 permits issued 41  

 Construction value of the  $672,148.23  permits totaled $13,503.74 

 Total permit fees $13,503.74 

  Inspections completed 102 

  Plans reviewed 41 

  Site plan review for P&Z 1 

  Vacation rental inspections 2 

  New home 0 

  Stop work order 0 
 

184184



Monthly Permit List 09/05/2024

1/5

Accessory Structure
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

Construction of Detached Gym/Outdoor KitchenWork Description:

$32000.00$533.00408 SURF RDGROUNDED BUILDS
BREVARD, LLC

PAS24-0008

Total Permits For Type: 1
Total Fees For Type: $533.00

Total Const. Value For Type: $32000.00

Electrical
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

Replace 200A OH Service Work Description:

$2340.00$79.00505 ANDREWS DRHECK, JAMESPE24-0043

remove and replace existing meter main and electrical panel Work Description:

$3500.00$109.00603 MANGO DRLLERENA, ABNERPE24-0044

replace a 24 space 200A Federal Pacific panel with a 32 space
Square D Homeline 200A panel 

Work Description:

$2600.00$82.00300 SHANNON AVESaunders, BrianPE24-0042

Total Permits For Type: 3
Total Fees For Type: $270.00

Total Const. Value For Type: $8440.00

Fence
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

replace fence Work Description:

$4000.00$124.00203 ELM AVEPRISCILLA A DE NINO
REVOCABLE TRUST

PF24-0026

installing 154' of 6' tall wood fence with (1) 15' wide double
drive gate and (1) 4' wide walk gate 

Work Description:

$7845.00$241.232204 REDWOOD AVECarrie's Fence of Palm
Bay

PF24-0025

116' OF 5' TALL ALUMINUM FENCE 1X 4' GATE 1X5' GATEWork Description:

$6100.00$187.75540 SUNSET BLVDProfessional Grade
Fence

PF24-0027

Total Permits For Type: 3
Total Fees For Type: $552.98

Total Const. Value For Type: $17945.00

Mechanical
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

replace exact hvac system Work Description:

$8980.00$276.13420 4TH AVENATHAN IACOBACCIPM24-0070

185185



HVAC changeout like for like Work Description:

$6695.00$205.87304 5TH AVEELIJAH LUTHERPM24-0073

remove all existing damage fiberglass air ducts and redo using
flexible ducts and insulated Boots, install new 3/4 3/8 copper
line set a T-stat wire. Install a 3 ton air conditioning 

Work Description:

$4950.00$152.73200 SIXTH AVEManuel Antonio MontoyaPM24-0067

Air handler only change out like for like Work Description:

$5000.00$154.25423 6TH AVEPaul M HoskinsPM24-0061

Replace 2 AC systems and duct workWork Description:

$39449.00$609.35302 ATLANTIC STNATHAN IACOBACCIPM24-0065

EXACT HVAC CHANGEOUTWork Description:

$11901.00$326.991702 ATLANTIC ST 1CLamb, DavidPM24-0071

Repalce exact HVAC System Work Description:

$9680.00$297.661712 ATLANTIC ST 6FNATHAN IACOBACCIPM24-0066

Replace A/C systemWork Description:

$11800.00$325.95408 CORAL AVEJONATHON BlackPM24-0064

Total Permits For Type: 8
Total Fees For Type: $2348.93

Total Const. Value For Type: $98455.00

Miscellaneous
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

Demolition and removal of fireplace. Repair drywallWork Description:

$500.00$79.002101 ATLANTIC ST 532MOWRER, ERICPMC24-0013

Total Permits For Type: 1
Total Fees For Type: $79.00

Total Const. Value For Type: $500.00

Paver, Concrete, & Deck
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

slab/carportWork Description:

$6000.00$184.70311 FOURTH AVEDUFF, ALLEN J JRPCD24-0026

Remove concrete drive replace with pavers Work Description:

$7175.00$220.63416 SIXTH AVENUEWALTERS, STEVEN OPCD24-0027

Pavers on new driveway Work Description:

$5500.00$169.48222 SURF RDMCGEOUGH, SEAN
MCGEOUGH, MARY

PCD24-0028

Total Permits For Type: 3
Total Fees For Type: $574.81

Total Const. Value For Type: $18675.00

Plumbing

186186



Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

master bath remodel Work Description:

$20000.00$410.00600 HIBISCUS TRLBRIAN K MARKLEPP24-0021

whole house repipeWork Description:

$4878.50$150.561901 NEPTUNE DRWhite, RoxyPP24-0022

Total Permits For Type: 2
Total Fees For Type: $560.56

Total Const. Value For Type: $24878.50

Pool
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

installation of inground fiberglass swimming poolWork Description:

$50000.00$717.501503 ATLANTIC STGLENN, DONALDPPL24-0013

Total Permits For Type: 1
Total Fees For Type: $717.50

Total Const. Value For Type: $50000.00

Propane
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

(2) 120 GALLON ABOVE GROUND PROPANE TANKS WITH SERVICE TO A
GENERATOR 

Work Description:

$4000.00$124.00311 THIRD AVESUBURBAN PROPANEPRO24-0004

Total Permits For Type: 1
Total Fees For Type: $124.00

Total Const. Value For Type: $4000.00

Reroof
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

METAL ROOF 60 SQUARES 5/12 PITCH UNDERLAYMENT FL5259-R43 METAL
FL1724-R2

Work Description:

$53000.00$748.25604 ALDEN PLBARVITE ROOFING INCPRR24-0041

Shingle re-roof FL10124 Underlayment FL17322Work Description:

$22050.00$431.02217 ASH AVEDC ROOFINGPRR24-0042

roof replacementWork Description:

$112050.00$1291.75603 ATLANTIC STMike Willis Roofing &
Construction LLC

PRR24-0028

Residential Re-RoofWork Description:

$15000.00$358.75502 COLONY STDIRECT METAL ROOFINGPRR24-0040

Flat roof only Work Description:

$9800.00$301.35300 SHANNON AVEBD ROOFS & EXTERIORS
INC

PRR24-0039

Total Permits For Type: 5
Total Fees For Type: $3131.12

187187



Total Fees For Type: $3131.12
Total Const. Value For Type: $211900.00

Res Building
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

Bathroom remodel, new faucet, new tile, new shower, new toiletWork Description:

$13800.00$1022.451910 CEDAR LNCASTILLO REMODELZONE PRB24-0026

Total Permits For Type: 1
Total Fees For Type: $1022.45

Total Const. Value For Type: $13800.00

Shed
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

10 x 16 built on site shed Work Description:

$10499.83$312.63315 HIBISCUS TRLUGRYUMOV, VLADIMIRPSH24-0008

Total Permits For Type: 1
Total Fees For Type: $312.63

Total Const. Value For Type: $10499.83

Solar
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

INSTALLATION OF ROOF MOUNTED PHOTO VOLTAIC SYSTEM Work Description:

$52800.00$746.20210 5TH AVECASTAWAYS ENERGY LLCPSL24-0005

Install 18.90kw roof mounted solar panel system Work Description:

$58564.90$805.29303 SHANNON AVEMARK WASMILLER SUNERGY
SOLAR LLC

PSL24-0004

Total Permits For Type: 2
Total Fees For Type: $1551.49

Total Const. Value For Type: $111364.90

Tree
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

Banyan Tree and Palm Tree in backyard needs to be removed since
the Banyan tree has affected and cracked the foundation of the
house and rear patio; also, the banyan tree has current active
infestations and appears tjo be a potential hazard to house and
neighbors' house property in the event of a wind storm. Also,
the power lines to the house are in very close proximity to
this tree. The palm tree has become engulfed by the Banyan
Tree. 

Work Description:

$0.01$0.00505 BANYAN WAYD'AYALA, MARCUSPTR24-0012

Total Permits For Type: 1
Total Fees For Type: $0.00

Total Const. Value For Type: $0.01

188188



Window, Door, and Shutter Permit
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

Replacing WindowsWork Description:

$18612.00$395.77317 FIRST AVENEIGHBORHOOD WINDOWS
AND DOORS

PWS24-0075

remove and replace windows and doors Work Description:

$24700.00$458.18200 SIXTH AVEIKON WINDOWS AND DOORS
LLC

PWS24-0073

Install hurricane shutters Work Description:

$7070.00$217.40411 AVENUE AAFFORABLE GLASS
PROTECTION 

PWS24-0081

Installation of shutters FL16293, 1 front door, garage door,
rear slider, and 9 windows FL17733, 1 opening

Work Description:

$4239.99$131.20509 BANYAN WAYAtlantic Storm
Protection

PWS24-0076

REPLACING CURRENT GARAGE DOOR(S) WITH HURICANE IMPACT REATED
GARAGE DOOR(S)

Work Description:

$3990.00$123.70512 HARLAND AVEPRECISION DOOR SERVICES
OF BREVARD

PWS24-0078

Remove and replace exterior garage doorWork Description:

$700.00$79.00703 HIBISCUS TRLClyde Hippchen
Carpentry Inc

PWS24-0066

replace garage door 9x8Work Description:

$4500.00$139.032100 NEPTUNE DRTropical Doors IncPWS24-0077

INSTALLATION OF SHUTTERS FL42141 AR REAR LANAIWork Description:

$5878.00$180.992002 NEPTUNE DRAtlantic Storm
Protection

PWS24-0074

Total Permits For Type: 8
Total Fees For Type: $1725.27

Total Const. Value For Type: $69689.99

Grand Total Fees: $13,503.74

Grand Total Permits: 41.00
Grand Total Const. Value: $672148.23

189189



1/2

09/05/2024Inspection Totals

Barriers & Alarms 1

BTR FIRE 6

Dry-In 4

Electrical 8

Equipotential 3

Final 3

Final 1

Final Building 3

Final Fence 3

Final Mechanical 5

Final Miscellaneous 2

Final Paver, Concrete, & Deck 3

Final Plumbing 2

Final Pool 5

Final Propane 1

Final Solar 1

Final Tree 1

Final Window, Door, & Shutter 13

Fire Inspection 1

Footer 1

190190



2/2

09/05/2024Inspection Totals

Framing 3

In Progress 1

In Progress - Window 3

Initial 1

In-Progress 1

In-Progress 2

Insulation 4

Pre Pour 3

Rough Building 1

Rough Electrical 3

Rough Mechanical 2

Rough Miscellaneous 1

Rough Plumbing 6

Screw 3

Under ground rough, tie down and pressure test 1

Total # of Inspections: 102

191191



192192



193193



194194



HolderProperty Address Certificate Type Status IssuedCertificate # Expires Amount Due

Certificate List
1/1

09/12/2024

217 FOURTH AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0016 10/17/2023 10/17/2024Vacation Rental FOURTH AVENUE LLC

317 FIRST AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0021 10/24/2023 10/24/2024Vacation Rental LESINSKI, ZACH

228 6TH AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0019 10/26/2023 10/26/2024Vacation Rental WELLENS, DOUGLAS M

212 DOGWOOD AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0020 10/27/2023 10/27/2024Vacation Rental DEAN LAGALA

1905 REDWOOD AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0022 10/30/2023 10/30/2024Vacation Rental ATLANTIC SURFSIDE, LLC

315 AVENUE B Issued $0.00CVR23-0024 11/06/2023 11/06/2024Vacation Rental KOGOK, RONALD C,JR

527 AVENUE B Issued $0.00CVR23-0015 11/08/2023 11/08/2024Vacation Rental SEIDEL, BRIAN R

411 OAK ST Issued $0.00CVR23-0023 11/14/2023 11/14/2024Vacation Rental MOLINA OAK LLC

2201 REDWOOD AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0025 11/21/2023 11/21/2024Vacation Rental NEWTON, SHEILA D

308 SECOND AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0001 01/10/2024 12/31/2024Owner Occupied
Exempt

NOBLE, LINDA S

311 FIRST AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0002 01/10/2024 12/31/2024Owner Occupied
Exempt

JEPPSON, RICHARD C

322 3RD AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0003 01/10/2024 12/31/2024Owner Occupied
Exempt

BARTON, JOYCE

304 FOURTH AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0003 01/11/2024 01/11/2025Vacation Rental SAMMELMAN, MARK T

320 2ND AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0007 02/27/2024 02/27/2025Vacation Rental WAGNER, CHRISTOPHER
WAGNER, KIM 

312 SECOND AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0005 03/01/2024 03/01/2025Vacation Rental HENSEL, VANITA

209 FIRST AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0006 03/04/2024 03/04/2025Vacation Rental KERR, HOWARD, DIANE

205 SURF RD Issued $0.00CVR24-0004 03/12/2024 03/12/2025Vacation Rental BLESSED IN THE SON LLC

300 THIRD AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0009 04/18/2024 06/05/2025Vacation Rental GNK PROPERTIES

405 FIFTH AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0010 04/18/2024 06/05/2025Vacation Rental GNK PROPERTIES LLC

301 OAK ST Issued $0.00CVR24-0008 04/23/2024 04/23/2025Vacation Rental BOCA COVE HIGHLAND
BEACH LLC

311 AVENUE A Issued $0.00CVR24-0015 05/21/2024 06/09/2025Vacation Rental K5 INVESTMENT GROUP LLC

415 HIBISCUS TRL Issued $0.00CVR24-0014 05/29/2024 06/12/2025Vacation Rental GOSSELIN, JAKE

211 CHERRY DR Issued $0.00CVR24-0016 07/03/2024 07/03/2025Vacation Rental BEACH HOST, LLC SEDENO,
SELENE

406 HIBISCUS TRL Issued $0.00CVR24-0013 09/10/2024 09/10/2025Vacation Rental PETERS, ERIC RYAN

208 CHERRY DR Issued $0.00CVR24-0019 09/10/2024 09/10/2025Vacation Rental DALTON, BRITTANY

608 MANGO DR Issued $0.00CVR24-0011 09/12/2024 09/12/2025Vacation Rental COMPO, DEVIN

401 SECOND AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0018 09/12/2024 09/12/2025Vacation Rental JUSTIN ARMOUR

Total Amount Due:

Total # of Certificates: 27

$0.00

195195



HolderProperty Address Certificate Type Status IssuedCertificate # Expires Amount Due

Certificate List
1/1

09/12/2024

202 SURF RD Expired $0.00CVR22-0008 10/05/2021 10/05/2022Vacation Rental SURF202 LLC

1205 ATLANTIC ST Expired $0.00CVR22-0011 11/17/2021 11/17/2022Vacation Rental HUNT BROS INC

205 SURF RD Expired $0.00CVR22-0012 11/19/2021 11/19/2022Vacation Rental BLESSED IN THE SON LLC

304 FOURTH AVE Expired $0.00CVR22-0005 05/27/2021 04/26/2023Vacation Rental SAMMELMAN, MARK T

206 FIR AVE Expired $0.00CVR22-0002 06/08/2022 06/08/2023Vacation Rental HARRIS, CHARLES M

1103 ATLANTIC ST Expired $0.00CVR22-0017 07/12/2022 07/12/2023Vacation Rental SORGENFREI, JOHN R

510 BANYAN WAY Expired $0.00CVR22-0022 07/18/2022 07/18/2023Vacation Rental MCGRATH, JEFFREY

501 POINSETTIA RD Expired $0.00CVR23-0002 07/06/2023 07/06/2024Vacation Rental GENNA, PETE

224 FIFTH AVE Expired $0.00CVR22-0044 07/07/2023 07/07/2024Vacation Rental POVICH, ROBYN S

510 BANYAN WAY Expired $0.00CVR23-0007 08/02/2023 08/02/2024Vacation Rental MCGRATH, JEFFREY

400 AVENUE B Expired $0.00CVR23-0011 08/31/2023 08/31/2024Vacation Rental KERR, JOHN

Total Amount Due:

Total # of Certificates: 11

$0.00

196196



197197



Page 1 of 2 

 

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

Fire Department 

 

MONTHLY REPORT – August 2024 
 

 
 
Incident Response 

For the month of August 2024, the Melbourne Beach Volunteer Fire Department 

responded to 5 calls for service, and was placed on Standby for 2 water rescue 

incidents.  The average number of responding volunteer personnel per paged out call 

for the month was 11. 

Breakdown: 

 2 Fire/Rescue 911 Calls (Paged out)  

 3 Public Service/Assists 

 

Department Membership 

 1 Fire Chief (Full-Time) 

 1 Maintenance Technician (Part-Time) 

 18 Certified Volunteer Firefighters 

 4 Support Services Volunteers 

 8 Probationary Volunteer Members 

 4 Administrative Volunteers 

 1 Volunteer Fire Chaplain  

 

Notable Incidents 

 None 

 

 

 

 

 

 

198



Page 2 of 2 

Volunteer Recruitment 

 

The Melbourne Beach Volunteer Fire Department is continuously recruiting local men and 
women who have a desire to serve their community.  No experience is needed and all 
training will be provided.  The next new recruit orientation is scheduled for February of 2025.  
For more information, visit MBVFD.com/recruitment or email us at 
FireTraining@MelbourneBeachFL.org. 
 

 

Notable Events & Updates 

 
FEMA Assistance to Firefighters Grant Update – Chief Brown and Ret. Chief Micka 
began the process of executing the successful AFG grant awarded last month.  The 
$40,952.00 award will be used to assist with the purchase of 10 sets of new structural 
firefighting gear.  The new structural gear will help keep our volunteer firefighters safe and 
reduce the cancer risk potential. 
 
Fire Hydrant Reflector Installation – Local Boy Scout of America, Logan Knolmayer, 
approached the Fire Department last month regarding a possible Eagle Scout project 
involving installing new fire hydrant reflectors thought the town of Melbourne Beach.  The 
Fire Department worked alongside Scout Knolmayer to provide traffic control and 
safety/medical standby during the installation phase of his project.  The 168 new hydrant 
reflectors will assist firefighters in locating hydrants after dark.  Thank you to Scout 
Knolmayer for completing this project to assist in keeping our community safe! 
 
Fire Drill at Gemini Elementary - Chief Brown & Safety Officer Micka (Ret. Chief) attended 
the first fire drill of the new school year at Gemini Elementary school and provided 
observation and advice to school administrators regarding fire safety best practices for 
student evacuations. The drill was completed successfully with no deficiencies noted. 
 
Emergency Medical Responder Program - Chief Brown (EMT), Vol. Battalion Chief J. 
Turner (Paramedic/RN), Vol. FF/Paramedic K. Connole (APRN), Vol. FF/EMT M. Dean, and 
Vol. FF/EMT T. Wood all completed their EMR Instructor qualifications and are working with 
the State of Florida to become an approved Emergency Medical Responder Training Site.  
The 56 hour program provides a basic level of emergency medical training, and the plan is 
to bring all MBVFD volunteers up from the current First Aid Provider/First Responder level to 
the nationally recognized EMR level over the next year.      
 
Florida Wildland Firefighter Training Program – Department Fire Instructors are 
preparing to host and teach a 40 hour Basic Wildland Firefighting training program for the 
volunteer members of Melbourne Beach, Indialantic, and Indian Harbour Beach.  The 
program is targeted to start in September 2024. 
 
Automatic Aid Agreement Investigation – Chief Brown continues to investigate the 
possibility of establishing an Automatic Aid Agreement with Indian Harbour Beach Fire 
Department.  An automatic aid agreement immediately notifies the other agency when there 
is a report of a structure fire or other major incident that would require assistance from 
outside resources, which would allow our respective agencies, that rely on volunteer 
response, more time to assemble a crew and get additional staffing to the scene faster 
rather than waiting for the first unit to get on scene to confirm an emergency exists.  
Discussions are still underway at this time. 
    
Misc. Updates - Chief Brown attended the Space Coast Fire Chiefs meeting as well as a 
Department of Homeland Security grant presentation. 

199



Melbourne Beach, FL
This report was generated on 9/14/2024 4:14:10 PM

Melbourne Beach VFD

Incident Address and Type for Date Range (Landscape)

INCIDENT # DATE LOCATION 
TYPE ADDRESS INCIDENT TYPE ALARM CLEARED

SCENE
2024-82 08/06/2024 222 Fifth Avenue AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Public service assistance, other 08/06/2024 10:52 08/06/2024 11:03

2024-83 08/06/2024 507 Ocean AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Public service assistance, other 08/06/2024 22:00 08/06/2024 23:48

2024-84 08/20/2024 2100 Oak ST , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Public service 08/20/2024 09:12 08/20/2024 09:51

2024-85 08/27/2024  Hwy 192 CSWY , Indialantic, FL, 32903 Brush or brush-and-grass mixture fire 08/27/2024 19:50 08/27/2024 19:57

2024-86 08/28/2024 105 S Riverside DR , Indialantic, FL, 32903 Alarm system activation, no fire - unintentional 08/28/2024 11:53 08/28/2024 11:58

Incident Status(s): All Incident Statuses | Start Date: 08/01/2024 | End Date: 08/31/2024

Doc Id: 1251
emergencyreporting.com

Location Type is only filled in when it is marked Intersection, Directions, or National Grid on Basic Info 3.

Page # 1 of 1

200



Melbourne Beach, FL
This report was generated on 9/14/2024 4:14:57 PM

Melbourne Beach VFD

Personnel Count per Incident for Date Range

INCIDENT NUMBER OF PEOPLE

NUMBER DATE INCIDENT TYPE FDID ON 
APPARATUS

NOT ON 
APPARATUS TOTAL

2024-82 8/6/2024 10:52:19 550 - Public service assistance, other 19112 3 0 3

2024-83 8/6/2024 22:00:26 550 - Public service assistance, other 19112 3 0 3

2024-84 8/20/2024 09:12:03 553 - Public service 19112 2 0 2

2024-85 8/27/2024 19:50:45 142 - Brush or brush-and-grass mixture fire 19112 6 8 14

2024-86 8/28/2024 11:53:22 745 - Alarm system activation, no fire - unintentional 19112 4 4 8

TOTAL # OF INCIDENTS: 5 AVERAGES: 3.6 2.4 6.0

Start Date: 08/01/2024 | End Date: 08/31/2024

Doc Id: 358
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED incidents included

Page # 1 of 1

Total # of incidents 
    paged out for 
volunteer response: 2

** Without EMS Assist or Service Calls:                   5.0               6.0           11.0
             (Paged out calls only)

**
**

NOTE: MBVFD Volunteers were placed on standby twice on 8/18/24 for 2 seperate water rescue 
incidents; no Incident Numbers were genearated as both incidents were resolved without MBVFD
response.  Chief Brown and 9 volunteers responded to each standby request.

201



 

  

Monthly Report Page 1 
 

   
 

Operations:  

In August 2024, the department handled 1431 calls for service.   

Activity: 

 105 Citations/ 179 Written Warning 

 335 Traffic Stops  

 180 Traffic Enforcement Details 

 2 Traffic Complaint 

 16 Parking Citations 

85% of Traffic stops conducted have received either a written warning or a citation. 

 PD News 

 Attended the Brevard Police Chief’s/Sheriff Quarterly meeting 

 Attended Congressman Posey’s Human Trafficking Symposium 

 Attended Beachside Chiefs meeting In regards to Mental Wellness Program 

 Attended Brevard Police Testing Meeting 

 PPO Edgar Rivera completed Phase 2 of Field Training.  Currently in Phase III 

 The Police Department Volunteers completed 80 total hours of volunteer service. 

o Helping out with Front Desk Coverage/Admin and with House Checks 

CRIME Update: 

 Several Battery calls for service 

 Discovered 2 firearms during calls for service. 

 Numerous Disturbance Calls 

 Several Drug investigations 

 6 arrests/1 Marchman Act (Intoxicated Individual), Trespassing, Flee and Elude, DUI…. etc….. 

 16 Suspicious Incidents/15 Suspicious Vehicles  

 12 Assist other Law enforcement agencies 

Melbourne Beach Police Department  

Chief Zander’s Monthly Report 

August 2024 

202202



 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

Town Clerk Report 
 

Business Tax Receipts – 72 Businesses have been renewed so far 

 

Records Management Project/ Scanning Project – The scanning portion of project 1 is 

complete. Next step is importing the documents and building the public portal when the new 

website goes live.  

 

New Town Website Project – Attended admin and user trainings. Projected go live date is 

September 25th. 

     

Meetings – Had several meetings with Granicus about the new town website. Met with MCCi 

regarding the records management/scanning project.  

 

Town Meetings – Prepared agendas and minutes and attended the Planning and Zoning Board 

Meeting, Special Magistrate Hearing, and 6 Commission Meetings. Created the agenda and 

prepared for the Environmental Advisory Board, Parks Board Meeting, History Center Board, 

Historical Preservation and Awareness Board, and the Police Pension Board. 

 

Elections – The Town of Melbourne Beach will conduct a Municipal Election in conjunction 

with the November 5th General Election for the purpose of electing two at-large Commissioners 

for a three-year term.  

 

There are four candidates: 

 Joyce Barton  

 Anna Butler  

 Tim Reed  

 Marivi Walker 

 

  

203203



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   Public Comment  

Meeting Date:  September 18, 2024 

Re:   Public Comment from Walter Hardman 

 

 

Background: 

The Town received a public comment from resident Walter Hardman – 320 Sixth Ave who 

is unable to attend the meeting. 

 

 

Recommendation:  

The resident has requested his comment be read into the Commission Meeting minutes. 

 

 

 

Attachments:   

Letter from the resident 

204204



Walter Hardman 

320 6th Ave 

 

I have passed this on to our Town Manager as I am out of town and unable to attend the Commission 

meeting. I am addressing the commission as a resident and taxpayer, and I am requesting this be read into 

the commission meeting minutes. 

 I have been a resident of Melbourne Beach for over twenty-six years, and I have witnessed many 

challenges, changes and events in our town. No matter the challenge, the staff in town hall have always 

been helpful, professional, and respectful. Our Public Works Department has worked tirelessly to 

maintain and beautify our town. Our Police Department Is at present is the most professional it’s been in 

26 years. Our Volunteer Fire Department provides our town with state certified fire fighters at a fraction 

of what career firefighters would cost. Despite their hard work, it has become apparent that some 

residents, and elected officials in positions of authority, feel they don’t have to treat town employes with 

respect. 

 As a young seaman coming up through the ranks, I had many mentors. I was taught to listen to my crew, 

be honest to them, teach them, treat them with respect, and counsel them with respect when the need 

arose. Upon reaching command of my own ship and crew these lessons proved invaluable in ensuring 

safe and efficient operations.  

This is behavior, particularly from our elected officials that our community has trusted to administer the 

town that our families live and work in is unacceptable. Our town employees deserve better than that. 

Residents of our town should be aware of this and hold our elected officials accountable for their 

behavior. 

 

 

205205



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   New Business  

Meeting Date:  September 18, 2024 

From:   Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro 

Re:   Candidate’s Submissions for Vacant Commission Seat 

 

Background: 

Commissioner Adam Meyer vacated his seat on the Town Commission of Melbourne Beach.  The 

Town Commission voted during a Special Meeting on 9/6/2024 to allow an appointment to the 

Commission seat in lieu of a Special Election. 

 

Recommendation:  

Review the attached resumes and Letters of Intent.   

 

 

 

Attachments:   

Robert Baldwin 
Dawn Barlow 
Robin Davis 
Bruce Larson 
Katherine Wilborn 

206206



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Robert Baldwin 

207207



208208



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dawn Barlow 

209209



210210



211211



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Robin Davis 

212212



213213



214214



215215



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bruce Larson 

216216



217217



218218



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Katherine Wilborn 

219219



220220



1 | Page 

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 
TOWN COMMISSION WORKSHOP 

MARCH 6, 2024 MEETING 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 
MINUTES 

 
Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

Commissioner Adam Meyer 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 
 
 

 

 

1. Call to Order 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call. 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington     Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Public Works Director Tom Davis 

Commissioner Marivi Walker    Town Clerk Amber Brown  

Commissioner Adam Meyer    

         

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

221221



2 | Page 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington led the Pledge of Allegiance. She then had a Moment of Silence for a 

resident who had passed. 

 

4. New Business 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to switch the order of new business item A and item B, 

Commissioner Corey Runte seconded, all in favor  5-0 

 

A. Discuss traffic calming devices. 

 

B. Discuss the rules and procedures of the Parks Board. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about sections within the Town Code related to 

establishing advisory boards and also the Parks Board (passed in 1987) Article VIII section 

11-90 through 11-94. Does not feel the language and spirit of the code has been adhered 

to. Would like to utilize the Parks Board to vet any changes to the parks.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about staying on topic and discussing the Parks Board 

not the Public Works Department.  

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about the agenda items that were tabled at the last 

Commission meeting and the agenda item did not include the Public Works Department.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how the Parks Board and Public Works Department 

are intrinsically combined.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte asked what the goal of this agenda item is. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the Town has not been using the Parks Board as 

much as required. Would like to have parameters that any changes to the parks are first 

vetted by the Parks Board and then the Commission. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about being the administrator of the Town so the 

Public Works Department reports to her. The Town’s interpretation of this is that the 

Parks Board looks into enhancing the parks. She does not answer to the Parks Board. The 

Parks Board should not be involved in the daily operations of the parks.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about specifically wanting changes to the park to go 

through the Parks Board, not daily operations. Suggested creating a policy of what things 

need to go to the Parks Board to be vetted then submit a recommendation to the 

Commission.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about being okay with having a list of items that 

would and would not need to go to the Parks Board.  

 

Dawn Barlow, Chairperson of the Parks Board spoke about how looking at the ordinance 

related to the Parks Board mainly breaks it up into two categories: events and park 

enhancements. There are a lot of entities that have events in the park. What else is going 

222222



3 | Page 

 

on in the parks? There is an opportunity to use the Parks Board more, and increase 

transparency, public involvement, and allow the Parks Board to vet things. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about liking the idea of vision planning and having 

meetings around that. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about wanting to increase communication, a matrix of 

shared responsibility, because there is going to be crossover between all departments. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie said that there are things that need to be addressed, such as 

playground equipment and veterans memorial, that takes over a year to figure out. Wants 

to have the focus on big projects first and thinks the primary function should be focusing 

on the big stuff.  

 

Dawn Barlow, Chairperson of the Parks Board, spoke about the Board being happy to run 

with things, but what are the other items that are in the works? Part of this is to 

understand what the priorities are and what is already being worked on. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how having Parks Board meetings would make the 

park information accessible to all residents, including newer ones.  The original creation of 

Public Works was passed in 1977, 2017 prior manager proposed getting rid of Public 

Works. 

 

Recess 6:43-6:48 (45:00) 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington stated she did not wish to get rid of Public Works and if there is 

ambiguity in the code to address it. Having more meetings amongst the volunteer groups 

would be cheaper and keep the main meetings and workshops shorter. 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call. 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington     Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Public Works Director Tom Davis 

Commissioner Marivi Walker    Town Clerk Amber Brown  

 Commissioner Adam Meyer  

  

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about wanting a structured goal-oriented meeting. He 

had very concrete recommendations. He recommends having a responsibility matrix, 

delineate responsibility between Public Works and Parks and Rec, Parks Board sets up a 

resident prioritization workshop, list of prioritizations from the Board, monthly meeting 

with the Town Manager. 

 

Heidi Brewer, Parks Board Member, spoke about hearing a lot of unity in the discussion 

and is excited to be involved, and it seems people are on the same page.  

 

223223



4 | Page 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about wanting to look into the items that the Town 

has been putting aside, does not think there is enough money put aside yet, but to start 

the process. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about an example, the Veteran’s Memorial Park 

because it was not budgeted, so there needs to be a vision, plan, a cost idea, and then 

there can be a budget. If there’s not enough money to do it in the first year, it can be 

done over two years. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about liking the responsibility matrix, and a big item to 

add is that physical changes to the parks go to the Parks Board, what events go to them, 

they have a budget, how should it be spent.  

 

Dawn Barlow, Chairperson of the Parks Board, asked about setting up a meeting with the 

Town Manager and then taking the appropriate steps.  

 

Haley Conrad, Parks Board Member, there is a missing piece to this, how does the Parks 

Board find out about things they should be doing? When the Commission says take an 

item and run with it, what does that mean? What if someone outside of the Parks Board 

has an idea, does that go to the Parks Board? This communication was the goal of this 

meeting.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the Parks Board coming up with a vision 

and plan then bringing it to the Town Manager to go over the details, then it gets 

presented to the Commission. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how no matter where the idea comes from, it 

should be vetted by the Parks Board. When the Parks Board makes recommendations 

then they should have descriptive minutes to provide to the Commission, or if someone 

can attend the meeting do that. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about how the Parks Board wants to be involved and 

that is a good problem to have. The Town Manager needs to be the point person for both 

the Parks Board and the Town Commission.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the responsibility matrix to clarify who has what 

responsibilities, but must include that changes to parks go to Parks Board, and clarifies 

which events/budget concerns go to the Parks Board. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the mention of the crossovers and that 

they’re considered maintenance. As far as the long-standing events, they should not need 

to ask the Parks Board, but need to be able to coordinate efforts and have respect for all 

of the events. 

 

Julie Samuels, Parks Board Member, spoke about how the special event application 

caused hiccups, it needs to be the same for everyone. There is a signature spot on the 

special event application, but the Parks Board does not receive them. If an event is large 

224224



5 | Page 

 

enough to have a banner then it should go to the Parks Board. People ask her all the time 

when an event is and she has to ask town staff.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about how the size of the event determines the 

added needs such as porta potties and police. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte said that long standing events should not need to be reviewed 

in a Commission meeting, but they all should be treated the same way.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker said that if there is a signature spot for the Parks Board then 

it should either be filled out or removed from the form.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington suggested that the Town Manager create a policy that will 

include a list of events already established and what events will not need to come to the 

Commission for approval. They do require signatures from the various Boards so they are 

aware that the events are happening.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about how a shared calendar that all the Boards have 

access to should be sufficient.  

 

Haley Conrad, Parks Board Member, spoke about quality control and how it is not a bad 

idea to have another entity look at the packet to acknowledge when an event is. If the 

Parks Board signature is removed, then the ordinance needs to be changed because it 

says the Parks Board will review special events. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how it is an option to contact the Town on a 

monthly basis to ask if there are any new special event applications. 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown clarified the packets are not online, because the Town 

Commission did not want additional special events. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about from the Town’s standpoint the long-

standing Town events have not been considered special events.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington said it was important to define the difference between Town 

events and special events. 

 

C. Discuss traffic calming devices (1:33:55) 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about how there have been changes since the 

removal of stop signs. The entire Town needs traffic calming. The paving and curbing is 

going to be happening and that project needs to include traffic calming.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about disallowing the discussion of this, but it is a 

workshop not an official meeting, so she called for a recess before determining if this 

topic should be discussed. 

 

Recess 7:46 pm to 7:54 pm (1:43:42) 

225225



6 | Page 

 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington     Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Public Works Director Tom Davis 

Commissioner Marivi Walker    Town Clerk Amber Brown  

 Commissioner Adam Meyer  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about wanting to hear feedback from the residents, 

then discuss doing a professional study. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about wanting to listen to the residents first.  

 

Kate Wilborn – 502 Second 

 

Kate Wilborn spoke about how Riverside Drive is a gift to everyone. She is so glad the stop 

signs were taken down so you don’t have to worry about hitting a bumper, the speed 

bumps are really hard on cars, when people feel punished they get disgruntled.  

 

Aaron Anderson – 901 Riverside Drive 

 

Aaron Anderson spoke about being in favor of slowing the traffic on Riverside. Anyone who 

thinks there is not a problem has their head in the sand. Stop signs were not necessarily 

the right solution. Respects his neighbors and anything that causes noise is not ideal, but 

something needs to be done or someone will get hurt. 

 

Haley Conrad – 2011 Oak St 

 

Haley Conrad spoke about agreeing with the holistic way of traffic calming for the entire 

town as noticed from the 2 traffic crashes this week. Turn the crosswalk at Ocean and Pine 

into a school zone to lower the speed limit to 15 mph. Find creative ways to accomplish 

slowing traffic and beautify the Town at the same time. Licensed professional civil 

engineer to do a study. Another idea is to lower the speed limit on Riverside Drive.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about wanting to wait to see what the options are and 

hire someone for traffic consulting. 

   

Dawn Barlow – 1710 Pine St 

 

Dawn Barlow spoke about the new installation of speed limit sign on A1A , was wondering 

what has the effect of that been since installation. She looks at that as a calming device, 

and would be interested in comparing that to the more holistic approach. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte said it is too early for data.  

 

226226



7 | Page 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington reiterated needing to let all public comments be made first. 

 

Todd Albert – 1710 Pine St 

 

Todd Albert spoke about in other communities, speed bumps do not work. What does work 

is a police car being at the intersection. When he first moved here he was told Melbourne 

Beach was a speed trap, but we have gotten away from that. Indialantic has a good idea 

when you come down Riverside Drive traffic is slowed down from 35 to 25. Melbourne 

Beach should slow it down from 25 to 20. The most dangerous point on Riverside Drive is 

the corner at Ocean and Riverside. He wants to see Melbourne Beach become a speed trap 

again. Another idea is to have Pine a one-way and Orange a one-way and Avenue A and 

Avenue B. Everyone will protest, but it could help.  

 

Rebecca Stevens – 610 Atlantic St 

 

Rebecca Stevens acknowledges being conscious of slowing down at points where there is a 

police officer or the signs that take pictures of license plates. She may not know if that 

information is going anywhere but still makes her slow down. She believes those signs 

might be something to think about for the Town. 

 

Julie Samuels –  2320 South River Road 

 

Julie Samuels spoke about how she used to live on Orange and she would protest if it was 

a one way street. The quickest cheapest way to slow people down is to write tickets.  

 

Aaron Anderson – 901 Riverside Dr 

 

Aaron Anderson spoke about how he emailed the police chief, asked for a public records 

request for 12 months, June ‘22-June ’23, there were only 7 tickets written on Riverside 

Drive in that period. 

 

Haley Conrad – 2011 Oak 

 

Haley Conrad spoke about she would protest one way streets as well because it would add 

more traffic to the streets because you would have to go one direction in order to go the 

other direction. Is there a way to make money on tickets, can you raise the cost of tickets, 

can you always send the new officer to attend? 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about each Commissioner getting 5 minutes to speak. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about being concerned about blinking lights in 

people’s houses, liking the idea of flower beds to beautify and slow down traffic. She says 

you cannot have ticket quotas, it’s against the law, believes slowing the speed won’t be 

effective, not sure about a one way lane. She does not think we need to issue warnings, 

just issue the ticket no matter the speed, and is concerned about the number of police 

officers. 

 

227227



8 | Page 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about the cost of the speed sign was in the budget. We 

need an expert so perhaps that could be put on the next agenda. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how it bothers her that there is not a police 

presence at the last several meetings, it is important for the police the Town does have to 

actually write tickets. She spoke about how some streets do not have any speed limit sign 

on them, what streets are those and do we need to have at least one sign on each street? 

The red brick crosswalks are not visible, make it like a regular more visible crosswalk. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about Bowman and BSE Engineering, the speed humps 

at Ocean and Pine work, that is a big intersection for kids going to school. Regarding the 

police chief not being here, the Town is in the process of hiring a police chief. The Town 

needs to have a traffic study done by a licensed traffic engineer, safety for the residents is 

the number one priority. Riverside Drive and Oak St are not safe.  

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about agreeing with getting a traffic engineer to get a 

study done, have a public meeting where everyone can hear ideas and no one is 

surprised. He is excited to meet with the possible new police chief tomorrow to ask 

questions about writing tickets and speeding.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said to bring that forward as an agenda item.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the police chief cannot be hired tomorrow because 

things still need to be done such as a background check. 

 

Haley Conrad - 2011 Oak St 

 

Haley Conrad spoke about there is usually more than one solution or a combination of 

solutions. Agrees with it needing to be presented to the public prior to the Commission 

voting on it. If you can get general buy in from the public it would be very important. You 

will never please everyone, and at some point the Commission will have to make a 

decision. Hopefully if it is at least presented to the public and they are allowed to comment 

then hopefully it will alleviate some of the issue. When you lose public trust, it is really 

hard to get it back. The whole theme of tonight’s meeting is communication which is so 

important.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker asked if no one likes any of the presented solutions then 

what.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about no one likes change, but at some point you have 

to put resident safety first.  

 

Todd Albert - 1710 Pine St 

 

Todd Albert spoke about if no one can agree at least get a professional’s input then make 

an educated decision. Get the reputation of being a speed trap back.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington commented that that can be implemented right away. 

228228



9 | Page 

 

5. Public Comments 

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any 

topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   

 

6. Adjournment 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to adjourn; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 

5-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 8:43 pm.     

  

Transcribed by Rachel Pembrook 

      

       

            

       ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________    ______________________________  

Alison Dennington, Mayor     Amber Brown, Town Clerk  

229229



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   Old Business  

Meeting Date:  September 18, 2024 

From:   Elizabeth Mascaro, Town Manager 

Re:   Offer Reduced Pricing on Non-resident parking passes 

 

Background: 

During the September 20, 2023, regular Town Commission meeting there was a discussion 

about reducing the cost of the non-resident annual parking pass.  A final decision was not 

recommended.   

This past month several people (@11) have asked to purchase the pass, however the cost 

is prohibitive with only a few months remaining in this calendar year.   

 

Recommendation:  

$100.00 for annual parking pass January 1st through June 30th 

$50.00 annual parking pass July 1st through August 31st. 

$25.00 annual parking pass September 1st through December 31st. 

 

Attachments:  None 

230230



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   Old Business  

Meeting Date:  September 18, 2024 

From:   Town Manager 

Re:   ADA Compliant Ramp on Community Center 

 

Background: 

The ADA ramp location for the Community Center is located at the rear of the building, which is 

not incompliance.  The ramp should be moved to the front of the building, with the handicap 

parking near the ramp.  The Commission approved the engineering of a new ramp. 

Recommendation:  

Attached for your consideration is an engineered drawing for the new ramp system for the 

Community Center.  Please approve or disapprove the design.  Once the design has been 

approved, the Town will go out for bid on the project.  The funds to build the ramp are the same 

fund the Commission moved from consideration of a skate park, to the ramp build. There is 

$47,000 available for the construction. 

 

 

 

Attachments:   

Current rendering of the Community Center 

New design with ADA ramp in front of Community Center 

231231



232232



233233



Town Commission Meeting 

Section: New Business 

Meeting Date: Sept 18 2024 

From: Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

 Subject:  Robert Bittgood Resignation Letter 

Robert Bittgood stated in his resignation that he was leaving due to a Toxic workplace.  

My research has found an accusation of this degree requires an immediate investigation that 

includes interviewing all employees. It is discriminatory and violates state and federal law.  

 I have also been asked by concerned residents why this investigation has not already been 

started due to the serious nature of the allegations. 

Our Town has a policy that addresses workplace behavior of Town employee’s. This is different 

because the claim is against an elected official’s behavior towards a Town employee. But the 

employee has the same rights for respectful interactions within the workplace from Town 

elected officials. 

 

I am requesting the Commission vote to allow our legal team to immediately put together the 

necessary process and a plan of action determined by legal since they have the expertise.  

 

234234



Resignation Letter Robert Bitgood

Melbourne Beach Building Official <BuildingOfficial@melbournebeachfl.org>
Tue 8/27/2024 10:33 AM
To: Sherri Quarrie <squarrie@melbournebeachfl.org>; Corey Runte <crunte@melbournebeachfl.org>; Marivi Walker
<mwalker@melbournebeachfl.org>; Adam Meyer <ameyer@melbournebeachfl.org> 

1 attachments (114 KB)
Signed Resignation.pdf;

It’s been a joy to work with you as Commissioners. 
Call me if you have any ques�ons or concerns.
If you would like my personal cell phone number, please contact Elizabeth.
Best wishes,
 
Robert Bitgood, CBO
Building Official
buildingofficial@melbournebeachfl.org
507 Ocean Ave., Melbourne Beach, FL 32951-2523
(321) 724-5860 ~ Fax (321) 984-8994
www.melbournebeachfl.org
 
Building Permits ensure quality work.

Brevard County’s Oldest Beach Community – Established 1883
 
Under Florida law, e-mail addresses are public records. If you do not want your e-mail address released in response to a public-records request,
do not send electronic mail to this entity. Instead, contact this office by phone or in writing.
 
CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:  This electronic transmission, including any attachments, may contain confidential information that is legally
privileged and exempt from disclosure. The information is intended only for the use of the individual or entity named above. If the reader of this
message is not the intended recipient or any employee/agent responsible for delivering the message to that recipient, you are hereby notified
that any disclosure, dissemination, copying, distribution or the taking of any action in reliance on the contents of this confidential information is
strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please destroy it and immediately notify me at
buildingofficial@melbournebeachfl.org
 

9/9/24, 7:31 PM Mail - Sherri Quarrie - Outlook

https://outlook.office.com/mail/inbox/id/AAQkADczZDc4YmNiLWEzYWEtNGJkYy1iZjM2LTNjMDAwYzQzMWIzOQAQAFpbGyAUtE%2BjkKHhbRuMcC… 1/1

235235

mailto:buildingofficial@melbournebeachfl.org
http://www.melbournebeachfl.org/


236236



237237



Town Commission Meeting 

 

 

Meeting Date: September 18 2024  

 

From: Mayor, Alison Dennington  

 

 

Subject: New Business,  

 

Discussion and Vote to hold a Town- Sponsored Meet the Candidate Forum at Town Hall 

 

 

Background Information: 

 

I was asked if the Town could hold a meet the Candidates Forum at Town Hall. I think it would 

be a helpful event for the Candidates and voters. 

 

 

Recommendation: 

 

Discuss and Vote to Approve Coordinating a Night to Host A Meet the Candidates forum at 

Town Hall - 2 -3 Hour event  

 

 

Attachments: 

 

See attachment email from Resident Requesting the same. 

 

238238



From: Alison Dennington
To: Melbourne Beach Town Clerk; Alison Dennington
Subject: Al/Mayor Agenda 2 - topic - Dicsussion and Vote on Holding Meet the Candidates Forum at Town Hall Hall before

Election Fwd: Meet and Greet the candidates event at Town Hall
Date: Wednesday, September 11, 2024 2:06:02 PM

See attached request and response below. I will write the cover page page.

This is the supporting doc 1 
There might be a supporting doc 2 - I will get back to you

That doc would be the rules/procedures for "special event" perhaps

Can you send me a copy of those rules/application for requesting approval to use Town Hall to
hold a "special event" or whatever the town has for that sort of thing?
Thanks 

Sincerely,

Mrs. Alison Dennington 
Mayor, Town of Melbourne Beach

(Please pardon any spelling errors; Sent from my iPhone)

From: Alison Dennington <adennington@melbournebeachfl.org>
Sent: Sunday, September 8, 2024 7:31:43 PM
To: Susan Martin <sma1517@yahoo.com>
Subject: Re: Meet and Greet the candidates event at Town Hall
 
I plan to put it on the agenda for Sept. 
the agenda deadline is 2 days. 
Wednesday
I will put it on the agenda and hope to get votes - if not I’ll put in an application for a special
event and try to host it myself and invite candidates and the press and whoever wants to come
can. 

Sincerely,

Mrs. Alison Dennington 
Mayor, Town of Melbourne Beach

(Please pardon any spelling errors; Sent from my iPhone)

From: Susan Martin <sma1517@yahoo.com>
Sent: Sunday, September 8, 2024 7:29:44 PM
To: Alison Dennington <adennington@melbournebeachfl.org>
Subject: Meet and Greet the candidates event at Town Hall

239239

mailto:adennington@melbournebeachfl.org
mailto:TownClerk@melbournebeachfl.org
mailto:adennington@melbournebeachfl.org


 
Hi Ali,
Just touching base to see if you have made any headway on scheduling a “Meet and Greet” the
candidates running for commission at the Town Hall? 
Is there anything that I can do to help you with this if it’s possible?
Susan Martin

Sent from Yahoo Mail for iPad

240240

https://mail.onelink.me/107872968?pid=nativeplacement&c=Global_Acquisition_YMktg_315_Internal_EmailSignature&af_sub1=Acquisition&af_sub2=Global_YMktg&af_sub3=&af_sub4=100000604&af_sub5=EmailSignature__Static_


Town Commission Meeting 

 

 

Meeting Date: September 18 2024  

 

From: Mayor, Alison Dennington  

 

 

Subject: New Business,  

 

Materials and Information Related to Mental Health Awareness and Suicide Prevent, Mental 

Health First Aid Courses (MHFA) for Adults and Youth 

 

 

 

Background Information: 

See numerous attached Resources, Materials, and Information.   

 

 

 

Recommendation: 

 

None, Item intended as part of Suicide Prevention Awareness Month to assist in getting 

educational information and other contacts, support groups, contacts, phone numbers, programs, 

etc out to residents for awareness purposes of various resources available. 

 

 

Attachments: 

 

Numerous Printouts and Resources, MHFA Courses and Offerings nearby 

 

241241



On average,

130 
people die by  

suicide every day. 
Source: American Foundation  

for Suicide Prevention

From 1999 to 2019, 

841,000
people died from  
drug overdoses. 

Source: Centers for Disease  
Control and Prevention

Nearly

1 IN 5 
in the U.S. lives  

with a mental illness.
Source: National Institute  

of  Mental Health

WHY MENTAL HEALTH FIRST AID?

Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) teaches you how to identify, understand and respond to 
signs of mental health and substance use challenges among adults. 

THREE WAYS TO LEARN 

• In-person (2nd Edition) – Learners receive their training 
during a 7.5-hour, Instructor-led, in-person session.

• Blended – Learners complete a 2-hour, self-paced online 
course, and participate in a 4.5- to 5.5-hour, Instructor-led 
training. This Instructor-led Training can be:

 » A video conference.
 » An in-person class.

MENTAL HEALTH 
FIRST AID

To find a course or contact a Mental Health First Aid Instructor in your area, visit MHFA.org or email Hello@MentalHealthFirstAid.org.

Sources

American Foundation for Suicide Prevention. (n.d.). Suicide statistics. 
https://afsp.org/suicide-statistics/ 

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (n.d.) Drug overdose 
deaths. https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/deaths/index.html 

National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH). (n.d.). Mental illness. 
https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-illness 

WHO NEEDS TO 
KNOW MENTAL 
HEALTH FIRST AID

• Employers.
• Police officers.
• Hospital staff.
• First responders.
• Caring individuals.

Learn how to respond with the Mental Health First 
Aid Action Plan (ALGEE):

A  ssess for risk of suicide or harm.

L  isten nonjudgmentally.

G  ive reassurance and information.

E  ncourage appropriate professional help.

E  ncourage self-help and other support strategies.

WHAT IT COVERS

• Common signs and symptoms of mental health challenges.
• Common signs and symptoms of substance use challenges.
• How to interact with a person in crisis.
• How to connect a person with help.
• Expanded content on trauma, substance use and self-care.

242242

mailto:Hello%40MentalHealthFirstAid.org?subject=
https://afsp.org/suicide-statistics/
https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/deaths/index.html
https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-illness 


10.2% 
of youth will be 

diagnosed with a 
substance use disorder  

in their lifetime.
Source: Youth Mental Health  

First Aid**

1 IN 5  
teens and young adults 

lives with a mental 
health condition.

Source: National Alliance for  
Mental Illness*

50% 
of all mental illnesses 
begin by age 14, and  
75% by the mid-20s.
Source: Archives of General 

Psychiatry***

WHY YOUTH MENTAL HEALTH FIRST AID?

Youth Mental Health First Aid teaches you how to identify, understand and respond to signs 
of mental health and substance use challenges among children and adolescents ages 12-18.

THREE WAYS TO LEARN 

• In-person (2nd Edition) – Learners receive their training 
during a 6.5-hour, Instructor-led, in-person session.

• Blended – Learners complete a 2-hour, self-paced online 
course, and participate in a 4.5- to 5.5-hour, Instructor-led 
training. This Instructor-led Training can be:

 » A video conference.
 » An in-person class.

YOUTH MENTAL 
HEALTH FIRST AID

To find a course or contact a Mental Health First Aid Instructor in your area, visit MHFA.org or email Hello@MentalHealthFirstAid.org.

Sources

* National Alliance on Mental Illness. (n.d.). Kids. https://www.nami.org/Your-
Journey/Kids-Teens-and-Young-Adults/Kids 

** Mental Health First Aid. (2020). Mental Health First Aid USA for adults 
assisting children and youth. National Council for Mental Wellbeing.

*** Kessler, R., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Merikangas, K.R., Walters, E.E. 
(2005, June). Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV 
disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Archives of General 
Psychiatry. 62(6); 593-602. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.593

WHO SHOULD 
KNOW MENTAL 
HEALTH FIRST AID?

• Teachers.
• School Staff.
• Coaches.
• Camp Counselors.
• Youth Group Leaders.
• Parents.
• Adults who Work  

with Youth.

Learn how to respond with the Mental Health First 
Aid Action Plan (ALGEE):

A  ssess for risk of suicide or harm.

L  isten nonjudgmentally.

G  ive reassurance and information.

E  ncourage appropriate professional help.

E  ncourage self-help and other support strategies.

WHAT MENTAL HEALTH FIRST AID COVERS

• Common signs and symptoms of mental health challenges in 
this age group, including anxiety, depression, eating disorders 
and attention deficit hyperactive disorder (ADHD).

• Common signs and symptoms of substance use challenges.
• How to interact with a child or adolescent in crisis.
• How to connect the youth with help.
• Expanded content on trauma, substance use, self-care and 

the impact of social media and bullying.

243243

https://www.mentalhealthfirstaid.org
mailto:Hello%40MentalHealthFirstAid.org?subject=
https://www.nami.org/Your-Journey/Kids-Teens-and-Young-Adults/Kids
https://www.nami.org/Your-Journey/Kids-Teens-and-Young-Adults/Kids


Be StigmaFree

A Guide for Coworkers

Great! Actively listen, avoid 
suggesting diagnoses, and don’t 
minimize or invalidate their 
struggle. Share your own story if 
you’re comfortable.

Open to sharing Not open to sharing 
It’s ok, don’t pressure them 
and remind them that they are 
not alone.

Start a conversation. Find a 
private place and lead with 
understanding. Ask if 
they’re open to sharing. 

Yes 

Have you noticed any changes in your coworker? Changes could be 
related to how they feel, look, act, and/or think.

Follow up by providing resources like the 
NAMI Helpline 800-850-6264. Check back 
in two weeks to see how they’re doing.

Feels: Is excessively 
irritable, worried, 
or overwhelmed 

Acts: Is less 
engaged at work or 
socially withdrawn

Thinks: Has difficulty 
concentrating or 
increased confusion 

Looks: Is exhausted 
or fidgety 

Have these changes been going on for at least two weeks?

nami.org/stigmafree

We can all have a bad day or 
two! Check back in a few days 
to see how they’re doing. 

No 

If you're worried about someone's risk of self-harm, take it seriously, 
don't leave them alone. Reach out to the designated person in your 

organization or call/text the 988 Suicide and Crisis Lifeline. 

244244



Community Conversations About Mental Health

Discussion Guide

245245



On January 16, 2013, President Barack Obama directed Secretary Kathleen Sebelius of the U.S. Department 
of Health and Human Services and Secretary Arne Duncan of the U.S. Department of Education to launch 
a national conversation on mental health to reduce the shame and secrecy associated with mental illness, 
encourage people to seek help if they are struggling with mental health problems, and encourage individuals 
whose friends or family are struggling to connect them to help.

Mental health problems affect nearly every family.  Yet as a nation, we have too often struggled to have an 
open and honest conversation about these issues.  Misperceptions, fears of social consequences, discomfort 
associated with talking about these issues with others, and discrimination all tend to keep people silent.  
Meanwhile, if they get help, most people with mental illnesses can and do recover and lead happy, productive, 
and full lives.

This national conversation will give Americans a chance to learn more about mental health issues.  People 
across the nation are planning community conversations to assess how mental health problems affect their 
communities and to discuss topics related to the mental health of young people.  In so doing, they may also 
decide how they might take steps to improve mental health in their families, schools, and communities.  This 
could include a range of possible steps to establish or improve prevention of mental illnesses, promotion of 
mental health, public education and awareness, early identification, treatment, crisis response, and recovery 
supports available in their communities.

Pamela S. Hyde, J.D.
Administrator
SAMHSA

Paolo del Vecchio, MSW
Director
Center for Mental Health Services
SAMHSA

246246



Community  Conversat ions  About  Menta l  Hea l th

Goals and Objectives of the  
Toolkit for Community Conversations 
About Mental Health
The Toolkit for Community Conversations About Mental Health is designed to help individuals and 
organizations who want to organize community conversations achieve three potential objectives:

•	 Get	others	talking	about	mental	health	to	break	down	misperceptions	and	promote	recovery	
and	healthy	communities;

•	 Find	innovative	community-based	solutions	to	mental	health	needs,	with	a	focus	on	
helping	young	people;	and	

•	 Develop	clear	steps	for	communities	to	address	their	mental	health	needs	in	a	way	that	
complements	existing	local	activities.

The	Toolkit	includes:

1.	 An	Information Brief	section	that	provides	data	and	other	facts	regarding	mental	health	and	
mental	illness	and	how	communities	can	improve	prevention	of	mental	illnesses,	promotion	
of	mental	health,	public	education	and	awareness,	early	identification,	treatment,	crisis	
response,	and	recovery	supports	available	in	their	communities.

2.	 A	Discussion Guide	section	that	is	intended	for	use	in	holding	community	conversation	
meetings	of	8-12	people	each.		(In	a	community	forum	with	more	participants,	the	
audience	would	divide	into	groups	of	this	size	for	much	of	their	time	together.)		It	provides	
discussion	questions,	sample	views,	ideas,	and	an	overall	structure	for	dialogue	and	
engagement	on	mental	health	issues.

3.	 A	Planning Guide	section	that	describes	a	variety	of	ways	in	which	people	can	facilitate	
their	community	conversations	and	take	next	steps	at	the	local	level	to	raise	awareness	about	
mental	health	and	promote	access	to	mental	health	services.

Mental	health	issues	in	our	communities—particularly	for	our	youth—are	complex	and	challenging;	but,	
by	coming	together	and	increasing	our	understanding	and	raising	awareness,	we	can	make	a	difference.

The Discussion Guide for Community 
Conversations About Mental Health
The	Discussion Guide	provides	an	example	of	how	you	could	choose	to	structure	a	community	
conversation.		This	four-session	model	includes	topic	ideas	and	related	questions,	as	well	as	tips	for	
facilitators.		The	sequence,	content,	and	timing	of	these	sessions	could	be	adjusted	for	conversations	
of	different	lengths	and	audiences.

This	guide	is	a	source	of	suggestions	and	should	be	adapted	to	fit	local	needs.	It	is	intended	
to	inform	conversations	on	increasing	education	and	awareness	about	mental	health.		It	is	not	
intended	to	support,	facilitate,	or	in	any	other	way	encourage	external	parties	to	communicate	with	
government	officials	to	effect	legislative	or	policy	changes.

247247



Community Conversations About Mental Health

Discussion Guide

Table of Contents

Goals and Objectives of the Toolkit for 
Community Conversations About  
Mental Health ..................................................................... ii

The Discussion Guide for Community 
Conversations About Mental Health.................... ii

Overview of Session Ideas .......................................... 1

Session 1: Sharing Personal Experiences ...........2

Session 2: Discussion of Challenges ....................4

Session 3: Exploration of How to Respond .....6

Session 4: Community Solutions ...........................9

Facilitation Tips and Recommendations...........11

Appendix: Helpful Resources and  
Websites .............................................................................. 12

248248



Community  Conversat ions  About  Menta l  Hea l th

Acknowledgments

This	guide	was	prepared	for	the	Substance	Abuse	and	Mental	Health	Services	
Administration	(SAMHSA)	by	Abt	Associates	and	its	subcontractors	the	Deliberative	
Democracy	Consortium,	and	Everyday	Democracy	under	contract	number	
[HHSS283200700008I/HHSS28342002T]	with	SAMHSA,	U.S.	Department	of	Health	
and	Human	Services	(HHS).		L.	Wendie	Veloz	and	Chris	Marshall	served	as	the	
Government	Project	Officers.

Disclaimer

The	views,	opinions,	and	content	of	this	publication	are	those	of	the	author	and	do	not	
necessarily	reflect	the	views,	opinions,	or	policies	of	SAMHSA	or	HHS.		The	listing	of	
any	non-Federal	resources	is	not	all-inclusive	and	inclusion	in	this	publication	does	not	
constitute	endorsement	by	SAMHSA	or	HHS.

Public Domain Notice

All	material	appearing	in	this	report	is	in	the	public	domain	and	may	be	reproduced	
or	copied	without	permission	from	SAMHSA.		Citation	of	the	source	is	appreciated.	
However,	this	publication	may	not	be	reproduced	or	distributed	for	a	fee	without	the	
specific,	written	authorization	of	the	Office	of	Communications,	SAMHSA,	HHS.

Electronic Access and Printed Copies

This	publication	may	be	downloaded	or	ordered	at	http://store.samhsa.gov.	Or	call	
SAMHSA	at	1-877-SAMHSA-7	(1-877-726-4727)	(English	and	Español).

Recommended Citation

Substance	Abuse	and	Mental	Health	Services	Administration,	Community	Conversations	
About	Mental	Health:	Information	Brief.	HHS	Publication	No.	SMA-13-4765.	Rockville,	
MD:	Substance	Abuse	and	Mental	Health	Services	Administration,	2013.

Originating Office

Office	of	Communications,	Substance	Abuse	and	Mental	Health	Services	
Administration,	1	Choke	Cherry	Road,	Rockville,	MD	20857.	HHS	Publication	No.	
SMA-13-4764.	Published	July	2013.

SAMHSA Descriptor

The	Substance	Abuse	and	Mental	Health	Services	Administration	(SAMHSA)	is	the	
agency	within	the	U.S.	Department	of	Health	and	Human	Services	that	leads	public	
health	efforts	to	advance	the	behavioral	health	of	the	nation.	SAMHSA’s	mission	is	to	
reduce	the	impact	of	substance	abuse	and	mental	illness	on	America’s	communities. 

249249



1Discuss ion Guide 1

Overview of  
Session Ideas
Session 1:  Sharing Personal Experiences

Opening Question:	What	does	mental	health	mean	to	me?		To	us	as	a	community?	
(Recommended	Time	Allocation:	90	minutes)

Potential Objectives:
•	 Set	discussion	guidelines.
•	 Get	to	know	each	other.
•	 Talk	about	what	mental	health	means	to	each	of	us	and	to	our	community.	

Session 2:  Discussion of Challenges

Opening Question:	What	are	the	challenges	and	factors	we	should	consider?	
(Recommended	Time	Allocation:	90	minutes)

Potential Objectives:
•	 Take	a	look	at	some	of	the	data	about	mental	health.
•	 Identify	the	challenges	we	face	as	a	community	in	addressing	these	issues.
•	 Identify	the	factors	affecting	mental	health	for	young	people.	
•	 Examine	our	different	beliefs	about	mental	health	and	how	we	can	find	

common	ground	to	overcome	challenges.

Session 3:  Exploration of How to Respond

Opening Question: What	can	we	do	to	support	young	people?			
(Recommended	Time	Allocation:	90	minutes)

Potential Objectives:
•	 Consider	different	ways	to	improve	mental	health	for	young	people.	
•	 Begin	to	identify	specific	areas	that	we	might	want	to	work	on	locally.

Session 4:  Community Solutions

Opening Question: What	steps	do	we	want	to	take	as	a	community?	
(Recommended	Time	Allocation:	90	minutes)

Potential Objectives:
•	 Decide	on	next	steps.
•	 Decide	how	each	of	us	wants	to	be	involved.

	

250250



2 Community  Conversat ions  About  Menta l  Hea l th

Session 1: Sharing 
Personal Experiences
What does mental health mean to me?  To us as a community?

Before	we	get	to	the	question	of	what	we	can	do,	it	is	important	to	understand	the	issues	
and	how	they	affect	us.		We	all	have	personal	experiences	that	inform	and	motivate	our	
actions.		It	is	important	to	share	more	about	those	experiences	and	discuss	why	we	care	
about	mental	health	issues.		In	doing	this	we	can	relate	to	each	other	better	and	develop	a	
common	understanding	that	is	foundational	to	creating	community	solutions.

Objectives of this session:

•	 Set	discussion	guidelines.
•	 Get	to	know	each	other.
•	 Talk	about	what	mental	health	means	to	each	of	us	and	to	our	community.	

Part 1: Setting guidelines (10 minutes)

What	guidelines	or	ground	rules	do	you	want	to	set	for	your	discussion?		Here	are	some	
examples:

•	 Listen	with	respect.
•	 Each	person	gets	a	chance	to	talk.
•	 One	person	talks	at	a	time.		Don’t	cut	people	off.
•	 When	sharing,	speak	about	yourself	and	your	personal	experiences.
•	 It’s	OK	to	disagree	with	someone	else—in	fact,	it	can	be	helpful—but	

personal	attacks	are	never	appropriate.
•	 Help	the	facilitator	keep	things	on	track.
•	 After	this	event	is	over,	it	is	OK	to	share	the	main	ideas	discussed	in	the	

small	group	but	not	OK	to	link	specific	comments	to	specific	people	(“He	
said	…	and	she	answered….”).

Part 2: Starting the discussion (30 minutes)

1.	 Each	person:	Introduce	yourself	and	say	a	little	about	why	you	wanted	to	be	part	
of	this	discussion.	

2.	 Take	thirty	seconds:	Think	of	just	one	word,	phrase,	or	image	that	relates	to	why	you	
think	it	is	difficult	for	us	to	talk	about	mental	health	issues.		Write	it	down	if	you	wish,	
or	draw	a	picture.		Then	we	will	go	around	the	circle	and	share	each	person’s	effort.

Tips for Facilitators
•	 Welcome everyone.
•	 Explain that you will be facilitating 

the discussion—not joining in with 
your own opinions.

•	 The session has four parts—use 
the amount of time suggested for 
each as a guide.

•	 Take your time with the first few 
questions—they give people a 
chance to say why they care.  Go 
around the circle and make sure 
everyone has a chance to answer.

•	 After that, you don’t have to go 
around the circle in order—just 
make sure everyone has a chance 
to speak if they want to.

•	 You don’t have to cover every 
question listed here, and you 
may have questions you want to 
add.  Choose the questions that 
you think will work best for your 
group.

•	 If your group identifies ideas 
for community solutions during 
this discussion, put them up on 
a piece of newsprint or flipchart 
under the heading Next Steps, 
and make it clear to the group 
that they will be turning to these 
later in the sessions.

251251



3Discuss ion Guide

3.	 Take	a	look	at	pages	1-2	in	the	Information Brief	section	of	the	Toolkit for 
Community Conversations About Mental Health,	including	the	definitions	of	
mental	health	and	mental	illness.

•	 What	are	your	reactions	to	the	information	provided?
•	 Are	there	items	that	you	don’t	agree	with	or	want	more	information	on?

Part 3: What does mental health mean to me?  What 
does mental health mean to us? (30 minutes)

•	 What	experiences	in	your	life,	your	work,	or	your	family	inform	what	you	
believe	about	mental	health?

•	 In	your	experience,	how	are	mental	health	issues	affecting	young	people	and	
the	schools?		If	you	are	a	young	person,	how	do	mental	health	issues	affect	
you	and	your	peers?

•	 Do	you	think	your	cultural	background	influences	how	you	think	about	mental	
health?		If	so,	how?

•	 Why	is	mental	health	an	important	or	not	so	important	issue	in	your	
community?

•	 In	your	experience,	how	are	mental	health	issues	in	the	community	
intertwined	with	issues	of	substance	abuse?		How	are	they	intertwined	with	
physical	health	on	an	individual	or	community	level?

Part 4: Wrapping up (20 minutes)

1.	 What	new	insights	did	you	gain	from	this	discussion?

2.	 What	themes	kept	occurring	throughout	this	discussion?

3.	 What	do	we	still	need	to	talk	about—what	areas	do	we	want	to	be	sure	to	cover	in	
our	discussions?

252252



4 Community  Conversat ions  About  Menta l  Hea l th

Session 2: Discussion 
of Challenges
What are the challenges and factors we should consider?

To	make	progress	on	mental	health	issues,	we	need	to	think	strategically	about	the	
challenges	we	are	facing	and	the	factors	that	have	the	greatest	influence	on	mental	
health—particularly	those	that	affect	young	people.		This	session	will	help	you	consider	
some	of	those	challenges	and	factors	and	begin	thinking	about	how	to	address	them.

Objectives	of	this	session:

•	 Take	a	look	at	some	of	the	data	about	mental	health.
•	 Identify	the	challenges	we	face	as	a	community	in	addressing	these	issues.
•	 Identify	the	factors	affecting	mental	health	for	young	people.
•	 Examine	our	different	beliefs	about	mental	health	and	how	we	can	find	

common	ground	to	overcome	challenges.

Part 1: What impacts the mental health of youth and of 
our community? (15 minutes)

Take	a	look	at	pages	7-10	in	the	Information Brief section	of	the	Toolkit for Community 
Conversations About Mental Health.

•	 What	are	your	reactions	to	the	information	presented?
•	 Are	there	items	you	don’t	agree	with?		Is	there	anything	you	want	more	

information	on?

Optional: If	you	have	a	handout	that	gives	local	data	on	mental	health:

•	 What	are	your	reactions	to	the	information	presented?
•	 Are	there	items	you	don’t	agree	with	or	want	more	information	on?

Part 2: Risks, protective factors, and promising 
strategies (30 minutes)

Take	a	few	minutes	to	look	at	page	5	in	the	Information Brief section	of	the	Toolkit for 
Community Conversations About Mental Health. 	It	describes	the	factors	that	tend	to	put	
young	people	at	risk	for	mental	health	conditions,	the	ones	that	tend	to	protect	them,	and	
promising	strategies	for	reducing	risks	and	increasing	protections.		If	your	discussion	
group	includes	young	people,	consider	engaging	them	in	answering	the	following	
questions	from	their	perspective.

Tips for Facilitators
The session has four parts— you can 
use the amount of time suggested for 
each as a guide.

253253



5Discuss ion Guide

Understanding the Challenges

•	 What	are	your	reactions	to	the	information	provided	in	the	Information Brief 
about	risk	factors?

•	 What	are	the	biggest	challenges	you	are	facing	related	to	your	mental	
health?		What	risk	factors	affect	you	the	most?

•	 What	do	you	think	are	the	key	assets	or	protective	factors?
•	 For the adults in the group:	Do	you	have	questions	for	the	young	people	in	

the	group	that	will	help	you	understand	the	challenges	they	are	facing?

Promising Strategies

•	 What	resources	(people,	coalitions,	agencies,	funding,	etc.)	do	you	already	
have	in	your	community?

•	 What	promising	strategies	are	already	in	place	to	improve	mental	health	
among	young	people?

•	 What	promising	strategies	do	you	know	of	that	promote	the	mental	health	of	
everyone	in	your	community?

Part 3: What are the challenges that keep us from 
developing a common understanding and 
consensus on next steps? (30 minutes)

Even	the	most	thoughtful,	well-intentioned	efforts	to	improve	mental	health	may	fail	if	we	
do	not	identify	and	address	the	challenges	that	stand	in	our	way.		An	important	first	step	
is	to	have	a	candid	discussion	about	these	differences.		Consider	the	information	on	pages	
11-13	in	the	Information Brief section	of	the	Toolkit for Community Conversations About 
Mental Health for	this	discussion.

In	your	group	or	in	your	community:

1.	 Are	people	willing	to	talk	about	emotional	and	mental	health	issues?		Why	or	
why	not?

2.	 There	are	many	opinions	on	mental	illnesses,	their	causes,	and	how	we	identify	
and	treat	these	conditions.		What	are	your	views?

3.	 What	are	your	views	on	how	mental	health	services	are	being	delivered—or	how	
they	should	be	delivered?

As	you	discover	the	range	of	views	on	mental	health	within	your	group	and	within	the	
community,	what	is	the	common	ground	among	people	with	different	ideas?

Part 4: Wrapping up (15 minutes)

•	 What	new	insights	did	you	gain	from	this	discussion?
•	 What	themes	kept	occurring	throughout	this	discussion?
•	 What	ideas	for	next	steps	emerged	from	these	insights	or	themes	during	the	

discussion?

254254



6 Community  Conversat ions  About  Menta l  Hea l th

Session 3: Exploration of 
How to Respond
What can we do to support young people?

So	far,	the	Discussion Guide	has	focused	on	overall	issues	of	mental	health—our	experiences,	
our	views	on	why	it	is	important,	and	our	perspectives	on	what	obstacles	we	face	in	trying	to	
improve	it.		This	session	will	begin	to	sharpen	our	focus	on	young	people	and	their	families.

Objectives	of	this	session:

•	 Consider	different	ways	to	improve	mental	health	for	young	people.
•	 Begin	to	identify	specific	areas	that	we	might	want	to	work	on	locally.

Part 1:  What does the research about the mental health of 
young people tell us? (20 minutes)

Take	a	look	at	page	10	in	the	Information Brief section	of	the	Toolkit for Community 
Conversations About Mental Health.

•	 What	are	your	reactions	to	the	information	presented?
•	 Are	there	items	you	don’t	agree	with?		Is	there	anything	you	want	more	

information	on?

Optional: If	you	have	a	handout	that	gives	local	data	on	mental	health:

•	 What	are	your	reactions	to	the	information	presented?
•	 Are	there	items	you	don’t	agree	with	or	want	more	information	on?

Part 2: How can we best support the mental health of 
young people? (50 minutes)

Take	a	look	at	the	description	of	evidence-based	practices	on	pages	17-18	in	the	Information 
Brief	section	of	the	Toolkit for Community Conversations About Mental Health.		Describe	
how	the	research	can	help	identify	many	ways	to	help	our	young	people.		Consider	how	your	
community	can	best	help	youth	and	their	families.

The	list	of	views	below	is	intended	to	help	the	group	consider	a	range	of	ideas.		You	may	find	
yourself	agreeing	with	more	than	one	point	of	view.		Some	views	that	are	important	to	you	
may	not	be	on	the	list—feel	free	to	combine	views	or	add	new	ones.	

Tips for Facilitators
The session has three parts—you can 
use the amount of time suggested for 
each as a guide. 

255255



7Discuss ion Guide

View 1: Reduce negative attitudes and raise awareness about the 
importance of mental health and wellness

According to this view,	we	should	promote	mental	health	as	a	key	component	of	overall	
health	and	wellness.		This	will	help	make	it	more	acceptable	to	talk	about	mental	health	and	
seek	help	if	needed.		We	cannot	improve	the	mental	health	of	young	people	if	we	do	not	
improve	how	people	view	mental	health	and	mental	illness,	promote	acceptance,	eliminate	
misperceptions,	and	reduce	negative	attitudes	associated	with	mental	illnesses.		By	making	
health	and	wellness	an	inspiring,	positive	goal	for	individuals	and	communities,	we	can	
create	an	environment	that	supports	the	changes	we	seek.

View 2: Support people in our community in mental health 
crisis situations

According to this view,	we	can	teach	others	how	to	respond	to	people	in	crisis	and	provide	
responders	with	the	knowledge	and	skills	to	address	their	needs.		When	family	members,	
loved	ones,	friends,	neighbors,	and	community	members	learn	how	to	be	helpful	when	
a	young	person	is	going	through	a	difficult	time,	they	can	help	that	young	person	avoid	
isolation	and	engage	in	the	solution.		The	entire	community	benefits	when	first	responders,	
schools,	health	care	providers,	parents,	and	peers	know	how	to	engage	a	young	person	in	
crisis.		This	will	help	provide	supports	to	people	who	are	experiencing	these	conditions	
for	the	first	time,	help	build	greater	understanding	and	acceptance	in	the	community,	and	
reduce	crisis	situations	associated	with	mental	illnesses.	

View 3: Help young people access local mental health 
supports and services to meet their needs

According to this view,	we	can	help	young	people	and	their	families	access	mental	health	
supports	and	services	when	they	need	them.		Many	different	kinds	of	groups	can	be	involved:	
public,	private,	nonprofit,	and	faith-based.		Multiple	youth-serving	systems	can	work	together	
to	meet	the	needs	of	young	people	and	their	families,	including	schools,	law	enforcement,	
child	care	providers,	and	others.		Efforts	between	systems	need	to	be	coordinated,	and	families	
and	young	people	should	be	engaged	in	deciding	how	services	are	provided.		We	also	need	
to	harness	the	power	of	youth	and	families	to	help	one	another	by	strengthening	peer-to-peer	
and	family	supports	and	resources	in	the	community.		To	support	and	sustain	these	efforts,	we	
need	to	look	for	ways	to	take	advantage	of	existing	resources	in	the	community.

View 4: Build connections throughout the community

According to this view,	implementing	multiple	strategies	will	require	us	to	mobilize	all	the	
different	resources	in	our	community.		Other	youth-serving	systems	(juvenile	justice,	child	
welfare,	early	childhood),	schools,	health	care	providers,	civic	groups,	individual	volunteers,	
and	many	other	people	and	organizations	can	all	pitch	in.		By	working	together,	we	will	also	
build	the	social	connections	that	promote	positive	mental	health.		Research	shows	that	the	
largest	risk	factor	for	serious	illness	is	lack	of	social	connectedness.		By	focusing	on	this	issue,	
we	can	strengthen	our	community	and	help	address	health	and	mental	health	in	many	ways.

256256



8 Community  Conversat ions  About  Menta l  Hea l th

View 5: Help youth, families, and communities promote 
mental health and prevent or delay the onset of 
mental illnesses

According to this view,	we	must	focus	efforts	on	activities	that	promote	mental	health	
and	prevent	the	development	of	mental	illness.		We	need	to	focus	on	interventions	
designed	to	prevent	or	delay	the	onset	of	mental	illness	or	substance	use	disorders.		Child	
development	and	early	life	experiences	are	important,	and	we	can	help	young	children	
who	are	at	risk	of	developing	mental,	emotional,	and	behavioral	problems.		We	need	to	
look	for	sustainable	ways	to	support	the	needs	of	children	and	youth	through	prevention	
programs,	early	intervention	strategies,	and	other	activities	that	promote	healthy	
childhood	development	and	create	positive	learning	experiences.

Questions	about	the	views:

1.	 Which	view	or	views	best	describes	what	you	think?		Why?

2.	 Why	is	this	view	important	to	you?

3.	 What	other	views	would	you	add?

4.	 What	are	the	tradeoffs	between	these	views	and	other	views?

Part 3: Wrapping up (20 minutes)

•	 What	new	insights	did	you	gain	from	this	discussion?
•	 What	themes	occurred	throughout	this	discussion?
•	 What	ideas	for	next	steps	emerged	from	these	insights	or	themes	during	the	

discussion?
	

257257



9Discuss ion Guide

Session 4: 
Community Solutions
What steps do we want to take as a community?

This	session	will	help	you	identify	community	solutions,	whether	you	are	part	of	a	small	
group	of	concerned	citizens	or	a	community-wide	planning	process.		Part	1	is	designed	
to	help	you	brainstorm	and	prioritize	ideas	for	next	steps.		Part	2	focuses	on	identifying	
individual	and	community	solutions	and	what	communities	across	the	country	can	do	to	
support	local	efforts	on	mental	health.

Objectives	of	this	session:

•	 Decide	on	next	steps.
•	 Decide	how	you	want	to	be	involved.

Part 1: Brainstorming and prioritizing next steps (40 
minutes)

The	purpose	of	this	section	is	to	review	what	you	learned	in	earlier	sessions	and	come	
up	with	new	ideas	to	help	strengthen	mental	health	in	your	community.		Then	you	can	
prioritize	the	ideas	and	choose	your	top	ideas	to	work	on.

1.	 Identify Ideas: Spend	a	few	minutes	jotting	down	ideas	that	will	help	strengthen	
mental	health	in	the	community.		Feel	free	to	include	ideas	already	discussed.		
Refer	to	the	flip	chart	paper	labeled	“Next	Steps”	from	previous	sessions.

2.	 Prioritize:	Review	your	list	and	choose	your	top	two	or	three	ideas	to	share	with	
the	group.

3.	 Share:	Go	around	the	circle	and	have	each	person	share	one	idea	at	a	time	until	
all	the	ideas	have	been	shared.

As	you	decide	on	our	best	ideas,	it	may	help	to	keep	the	following	things	in	mind.			
Which	ideas:

•	 Address	the	issues	we’ve	been	discussing?
•	 Will	be	effective?
•	 Are	feasible?
•	 Will	bring	about	lasting	change?

Tips for Facilitators
•	 Invite group members to go to the 

flip chart and put dots or marks 
by their top two or three ideas. 

•	 Identify the ideas with the most 
dots or marks.

•	 Record the top four or five 
community solutions identified by 
the group on a fresh piece of flip 
chart paper.

258258



10 Community  Conversat ions  About  Menta l  Hea l th

Questions	for	discussion:

1.	 Which	ideas	seem	important	or	promising?

2.	 What	is	a	concern	you	have	about	each	idea?

3.	 What	is	something	positive	about	each	idea?

4.	 We	have	been	talking	about	many	ideas	to	help	our	community—What	is	one	
idea	that	you	are	especially	interested	in	working	on?

5.	 What	is	one	thing	you	could	do	on	your	own	to	help?

Part 2: How can we support local efforts? (30 minutes)

There	are	many	ways	that	public,	private,	and	nonprofit	organizations	can	support	what	is	
happening	locally.		Communities	can	work	together	to	identify	how	existing	resources	can	
be	leveraged	to	best	support	local	priorities	and	to	address	mental	health	needs	and	gaps.

In	this	section,	your	group	can	generate	a	50-word	statement	that	captures	what	you	
have	discussed	and	what	your	community	can	do	to	improve	the	mental	health	of	
young	people.

Community Solutions Snapshot

•	 Take	a	few	minutes:	Write	down	a	few	words,	phrases,	or	sentences	that	
might	help	you	create	a	snapshot	of	next	steps	your	community	can	take.

Consider	including	the	following:

o What	has	been	done	in	your	community	to	strengthen	mental	
health?

o What	work	still	needs	to	be	done?
o What	direction	do	you	plan	to	take	as	a	community?

•	 Go	around	the	circle	and	share	what	each	person	wrote.
•	 Decide	together	what	you	want	to	put	into	your	50-word	statement.	

Part 3: Final questions (20 minutes)

1.	 What	has	surprised	you	about	these	conversations?

2.	 Have	you	changed	your	mind	about	these	issues?		If	so,	how?

3.	 How	will	you	stay	involved	to	help	the	young	people	in	your	community?

4.	 What	might	you	do	differently	after	taking	part	in	this	process?

259259



11Discuss ion Guide

Facilitation Tips and 
Recommendations
A	facilitator	can	help	focus	and	structure	the	discussion	and,	at	the	same	time,	encourage	
the	participants	to	take	ownership	of	their	group.		The	facilitator	can	create	a	safe	
environment	where	each	participant	feels	comfortable	expressing	ideas	and	responding	to	
those	of	others.

The	facilitator	does	not	have	to	“teach”	but,	instead,	is	there	to	guide	the	process.		He	or	
she	does	not	have	to	be	an	expert	in	the	subject	being	discussed.

Here	are	some	other	tips	to	consider:

Be prepared.		Make	sure	you	are	familiar	with	the	discussion	materials,	and	think	ahead	
of	time	about	the	directions	in	which	the	discussion	might	go.

Set a relaxed and open tone.		Welcome	everyone	and	create	a	friendly	and	relaxed	
atmosphere.

Help the group establish some ground rules.		At	the	beginning	of	the	session,	ask	
people	to	suggest	how	the	group	should	function.		Use	the	sample	ground	rules,	and	invite	
the	group	to	add	others	or	delete	some	of	the	ones	that	are	already	there.		The	point	is	for	
the	group	to	feel	that	the	rules	are	their	own.

Monitor and assist the group process.		Keep	track	of	how	the	group	members	are	
participating—who	has	and	hasn’t	spoken.		Don’t	let	anyone	dominate;	try	to	involve	
everyone.

Allow time for pauses and silence.		People	need	time	to	reflect	and	respond.		Avoid	
speaking	after	each	comment	or	answering	every	question,	and	allow	participants	
to	respond	directly	to	each	other.		When	deciding	whether	to	intervene,	lean	toward	
nonintervention	in	the	discussion.

In an emergency: If	it	appears	that	someone	is	having	difficulty	discussing	topics	such	
as	previous	traumatic	experiences,	mental	health	issues,	or	is	actually	in	crisis,	you	
can	suggest	they	call	the	National	Suicide	Prevention	Lifeline	at	1-800-273-TALK	
(8255).		This	hotline	is	staffed	24	hours-a-day	for	those	in	crisis.		The crisis line should 
not be used as a substitute for professional medical services and mental health care 
consultation.  If there is an immediate emergency, call 911.

Potential Goals for 
Facilitators

•	 Be impartial; the facilitator’s 
opinions are not part of the 
discussion.

•	 Help the group set some 
guidelines or ground rules and 
keep to them.

•	 Help group members identify 
areas of agreement and 
disagreement.

•	 Use the discussion materials to 
bring in points of view that have 
not been talked about.

•	 Create opportunities for everyone 
to participate.

•	 Focus and help to clarify the 
discussion.

•	 Summarize key points in the 
discussion or ask others to do so.

•	 Be self-aware; good facilitators 
know their own strengths, 
weaknesses, biases, and values.

•	 Put the group first.
•	 Appreciate all kinds of people.

260260



12 Community  Conversat ions  About  Menta l  Hea l th

Appendix: Helpful Resources 
and Websites
(Note:  These organizations, materials, and links are offered for informational purposes only and should not be construed as an endorsement 
of the referenced organization’s programs or activities.)

Resources
•	 Information	About	Mental	Health	 •	 http://www.MentalHealth.gov
•	 Substance	Abuse	and	Mental	Health	Services	Administration	(SAMHSA) •	 http://www.SAMHSA.gov
•	 National	Institute	of	Mental	Health	(NIMH) •	 http://www.nimh.nih.gov
•	 Additional	information	you	could	use	to	host	a	conversation	in	your	

community
•	 http://www.CreatingCommunitySolutions.org

Promoting Mental Health and Preventing Mental Illness
•	 Suicide	Prevention	Resource	Center •	 http://www.sprc.org
•	 The	Institute	of	Medicine’s	Preventing Mental, Emotional and 

Behavioral Disorders Among Young People:	Progress and Possibilities
•	 http://www.iom.edu/Reports/2009/Preventing-Mental-Emotional-

and-Behavioral-Disorders-Among-Young-People-Progress-and-
Possibilities.aspx

•	 Addressing	Bullying •	 http://www.stopbullying.gov
•	 National	Center	for	Mental	Health	Promotion	and	Youth	Violence	Prevention •	 http://www.promoteprevent.org

•	 Find	Youth	Info •	 http://www.findyouthinfo.gov

•	 Million	Hearts •	 http://millionhearts.hhs.gov/index.html

Addressing Public Attitudes
•	 Resource	Center	to	Promote	Acceptance,	Dignity,	and	Social	Inclusion •	 http://promoteacceptance.samhsa.gov

•	 Voice	Awards •	 http://www.samhsa.gov/voiceawards
•	 Children’s	Mental	Health	Awareness	Day •	 http://www.samhsa.gov/children

Evidence-Based Practices for Treatment
•	 National	Registry	for	Evidence-Based	Programs	and	Practices •	 http://www.nrepp.samhsa.gov

•	 National	Center	for	Trauma-Informed	Care •	 http://www.samhsa.gov/nctic

•	 Children’s	Mental	Health	Initiative	Technical	Assistance	Center •	 http://www.cmhnetwork.org

Recovery Support Services
•	 National	Consumer	Technical	Assistance	Centers •	 http://ncstac.org/index.php
•	 Homeless	Resource	Center •	 http://www.homeless.samhsa.gov
•	 Shared	Decision	Making	in	Mental	Health	Tools •	 http://162.99.3.211/shared.asp
•	 College	Drinking:	Changing	the	Culture •	 http://www.collegedrinkingprevention.gov

261261

http://www.MentalHealth.gov
http://www.SAMHSA.gov
http://www.nimh.nih.gov/
http://www.CreatingCommunitySolutions.org
http://www.sprc.org
http://www.iom.edu/Reports/2009/Preventing-Mental-Emotional-and-Behavioral-Disorders-Among-Young-People-Progress-and-Possibilities.aspx
http://www.iom.edu/Reports/2009/Preventing-Mental-Emotional-and-Behavioral-Disorders-Among-Young-People-Progress-and-Possibilities.aspx
http://www.iom.edu/Reports/2009/Preventing-Mental-Emotional-and-Behavioral-Disorders-Among-Young-People-Progress-and-Possibilities.aspx
http://www.stopbullying.gov
http://www.promoteprevent.org
http://www.findyouthinfo.gov
http://millionhearts.hhs.gov/index.html
http://promoteacceptance.samhsa.gov/
http://www.samhsa.gov/voiceawards/
http://www.samhsa.gov/children
http://www.nrepp.samhsa.gov
http://www.samhsa.gov/nctic/
http://www.cmhnetwork.org
http://ncstac.org/index.php
http://www.homeless.samhsa.gov
http://162.99.3.211/shared.asp
http://www.collegedrinkingprevention.gov


13Discuss ion Guide

Notes:

262262



SMA-13-4764
July 2013 MentalHealth.gov

263263



Learn more
nami.org/stigmafree

FACILITATE EVENTS

CREATE GUIDELINES

PROMOTE BALANCE

CHECK COVERAGE

PROVIDE ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

BE SUPPORTIVE

PROVIDE EDUCATION
AND AWARENESS

Supporting employee mental health and 
well-being is a business imperative.

A Guide for Leadership

264264



Mental Health in My Community 
It’s OK to talk about mental health. 

Get help if you need it. 

Help is available and effective. 

If you know someone in need, help is available. 

SAMHSA
Treatment Locator Hotline 
1-877-SAMHSA7 

http://www.samhsa.gov 
SAMHSA 
Treatment Locator 

SAMHSA’s 
1-800-273-TALK (8255) 
National Suicide Prevention Lifeline

Nearly two-thirds of 
the 45 million U.S. adults 
over 18 years old with
any mental illness went
without treatment.1

2 

1/2 of adult mental health 
problems begin before age 14.3

Supportive and meaningful 
relationships help build
resilience and well-being.4

Almost 21.6 million persons over 
12 years old in the U.S. needed 
treatment for a substance use problem.5

3/4 of adult mental health problems
begin before age 24.6

The cost of treatment for mental 
health issues is equivalent to 
the cost of cancer care.7

Mental health issues result in 
an estimated $193 billion in 
lost earnings.8

Nearly 1 out of 4 
community hospital stays
involved a mental or 
substance use disorder.9

$247 billion annual 
estimated cost of mental and 
emotional problems among

10young people.

Suicide is the 3rd leading cause 
of death for youth ages 15-24.11

Find more information at
 
http://www.MentalHealth.gov
 

Click Here for Citations
 

SMA-13-4725  

265265



Mental Health First Aid is a groundbreaking public education program that  helps the public identify,
understand, and respond to signs of mental illnesses and substance use disorders. Mental Health First Aid
USA is managed, operated, and disseminated by three national authorities — the National Council for
Community Behavioral Healthcare, the Maryland Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, and the
Missouri Department of Mental Health.

Mental Health First Aid is offered in the form of an interactive 12-hour course that presents an overview of
mental illness and substance use disorders in the U.S. and introduces participants to risk factors and
warning signs of mental health problems, builds understanding of their impact, and overviews common
treatments. Those who take the 12-hour course to certify as Mental Health First Aiders learn a 5-step action
plan encompassing the skills, resources and knowledge to help an individual in crisis connect with
appropriate professional, peer, social, and self-help care.

The 12-hour Mental Health First Aid USA course has benefited a variety of audiences and key professions,
including: primary care professionals, employers and business leaders, faith communities, school personnel
and educators, state police and corrections officers, nursing home staff, mental health authorities, state
policymakers, volunteers, young people, families and the general public. See how you can get involved —
find a 12-hour Mental Health First Aid course near you or learn how you can become a certified instructor
to teach the 12-hour course in your community.

LEARN MORE

From Next Door To Across Florida

266266



Mental Health  
A Guide for Faith Leaders

267267



Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders

American Psychiatric Association Foundation and the Mental Health and Faith Community Partnership Steering Committee

Copyright © 2018 American Psychiatric Association Foundation

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Manufactured in the United States of America on acid-free paper

American Psychiatric Association Foundation

1800 Maine Avenue, S.W., Suite 900, Washington, DC 20024

americanpsychiatricfoundation.org

The correct citation for this book is American Psychiatric Association Foundation: Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders. 
Arlington, VA, American Psychiatric Association Foundation, 2016.

268268



Table of Contents 

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders | 1

Introduction

Part I. Mental Health Overview

 4 What Is Mental Illness? 

 4 Common Mental Illnesses

 7 Suicide

 7 Diagnosis

 8 Mental Health Treatment

 12 The Connection Between Mental and Physical Conditions 

 13 Recovery, Wellness, and Building Resilience

 
Part II. Faith Leader Support for People With Mental Illness

15 How Congregations Can Be More Inclusive/Welcoming 

15 When to Make a Referral to a Mental Health Professional

17 How to Make a Referral for Mental Health Treatment

17 Dealing With Resistance to Accepting Mental Health Treatment

18 Distinguishing Religious or Spiritual Problems From Mental Illness

19 Approaching a Person With an Urgent Mental Health Concern 

Resources

269269



2 | Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders

Part I. Mental Health Overview

For many who seek psychiatric care, religion and 
spirituality significantly influence their internal and external 
lives and are an important part of healing. The Mental 
Health and Faith Community Partnership was created 
to foster dialogue between psychiatrists and faith leaders.  
This guide is a product of the Partnership. 

The Partnership facilitates collaboration among those 
who work within the different disciplines of faith and 
psychiatry and who share a common goal of promoting 
health, healing, and wholeness. It provides a platform 
for psychiatrists and the faith leaders to learn from each 
other. Faith leaders can increase their understanding 
of the best science and evidence-based treatment for 
psychiatric disorders. Likewise, psychiatrists and the 
mental health community can learn from spiritual leaders 
and increase their understanding of the role of spirituality 
in recovery and the support faith leaders can provide.

Because religion and spirituality often play a vital role in 
healing, people experiencing mental health concerns 
often turn first to a faith leader. From a public-health 
perspective, faith community leaders are gatekeepers 
or “first responders” when individuals and families face 
mental health or substance use problems. In that role 
they can help dispel misunderstandings, reduce stigma 
associated with mental illness and treatment, and 
facilitate access to treatment for those in need.  

This guide provides information to help faith leaders work 
with members of their congregations and their families 
who are facing mental health challenges. Its goal is to help 
faith leaders understand more about mental health, mental 
illness, and treatment, and help break down the barriers 
that prevent people from seeking the care they need.

The Partnership and this guide are working to foster 
respectful, collaborative relationships between mental 
health professionals and faith community leaders that 
will lead to improved quality of care for individuals facing 
mental health challenges.

For more information see psychiatry.org/faith.

“ 

People experiencing 

mental health concerns 

often turn first to a  

faith leader. 

”

270270

http://www.psychiatry.org/faith
http://www.psychiatry.org/faith
http://www.psychiatry.org/faith


Part I. Mental Health Overview

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders | 3

Part I  
Mental Health Overview

271271



4 | Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders

Part I. Mental Health Overview

What is Mental Illness?
Mental illnesses are health conditions involving 
significant changes in thinking, emotion, or behavior (or 
a combination of these). Mental illnesses are associated 
with distress and/or problems functioning in social, work, 
or family activities. 

Mental illness is common1: nearly 1 in 5 (19%) U.S. 
adults experiences some form of mental illness in a given 
year; 1 in 24 (4.1 %) has a serious mental illness; and 1 
in 12 (8.5%) has a substance use disorder. Mental illness 
is treatable. The vast majority of individuals with mental 
illness continue to function in their daily lives.

Mental health is

 � the foundation for thinking, communication, learning, 
resilience, and self-esteem

 � key to personal well-being, relationships, and 
contributing to community or society

Many people who have a mental illness do not want to 
talk about it. But mental illness is nothing to be ashamed 
of! It is a medical condition, just like heart disease or 
diabetes. And mental illnesses are treatable. We now 
know much more about how the human brain works, 
and treatments are available to help people successfully 
manage mental illnesses. 

Mental illness does not discriminate; it can affect anyone 
regardless of one’s age, gender, income, social status, 
race/ethnicity, religion/spirituality, sexual orientation, 
background, or other aspect of cultural identity. While 
mental illness can occur at any age, three-fourths of all 
mental illness begins by age 24.

It is not always clear when a problem with mood or 
thinking has become serious enough to be a mental 

health concern. Sometimes, for example, a depressed 
mood is normal, such as when a person experiences the 
loss of a loved one. But if that depressed mood continues 
to cause distress or gets in the way of normal functioning, 
the person may benefit from professional care. 
1 Sources: National Institute of Mental Health and Substance Abuse 
and Mental Health Service Administration. For these data, serious 
mental illness is defined as a mental, behavioral, or emotional 
disorder (excluding developmental and substance use disorders) 
resulting in serious functional impairment, which substantially 
interferes with or limits one or more major life activities (for example, 
major depressive disorder, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder). 

Common Mental Illnesses
Mental illnesses take many forms. Some are fairly mild 
and only interfere in limited ways with daily life, such as 
certain phobias (abnormal fears). Other mental illnesses 
are so severe that a person may need care in a hospital. 
Mental health conditions can affect different aspects 
of a person, including personality, thinking, perception, 
mood, behavior, or judgment. The following are short 
descriptions of some common mental illnesses:

MENTAL HEALTH…. MENTAL ILLNESS….

Mental health involves effective functioning in daily activities 
resulting in

 �  Productive activities (work, school, caregiving)

 � Fulfilling relationships

 �  Ability to adapt to change and cope with adversity

Mental illness refers collectively to all diagnosable mental 
disorders—health conditions involving

 �  Significant changes in thinking, emotion, and/or behavior

 �  Distress and/or problems functioning in social, work, or family 
activities. 

272272



Part I. Mental Health Overview

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders | 5

Anxiety Disorders
Anxiety is a reaction to fear or stress. Everyone feels 
anxious sometimes, such as when speaking in front of 
a group or taking a test. A person may feel his/her heart 
beating faster, or may be short of breath or feel sick. 
Normal anxiety can usually be controlled and does not 
last much longer than the situation that triggers it. 

When anxiety becomes excessive, involves unfounded 
dread of everyday situations, and interferes with a 
person’s life, it may be an anxiety disorder. Nearly 30% of 
people will experience an anxiety disorder at some time 
in their lives. Anxiety disorders take many forms.

 � Panic disorder is a sudden attack of fear or terror. 
Symptoms may include a pounding heart, sweating, 
weakness, dizziness, or smothering sensations. People 
having a panic attack often fear they are about to be 
harmed and feel that they are not in control.

 � Obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) involves 
frequent upsetting thoughts (obsessions) that cause 
anxiety. People with OCD usually do things over and 
over (compulsions) to try to control their thoughts and 
anxiety. For example, a person might be afraid the 
stove was left on and return again and again to check.

 � Social anxiety disorder involves extreme anxiety 
around others. A person may be very afraid they 
are being watched or judged by others. The fear of 
being embarrassed may be so strong that it disrupts 
relationships, work, and other activities.

 � Agoraphobia involves avoidance of situations where 
escape may be difficult or embarrassing or help might 
not be available if panic symptoms occur. The fear 
is out of proportion to the actual situation, lasts six 
months or more, and causes problems in functioning. 

 � A specific phobia is an intense fear or anxiety that is 
out of proportion to the actual risk or danger posed by 
the object of the fear. Some common specific phobias 
are fear of enclosed spaces, open spaces, heights, 
flying, and blood.

 � Generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) involves 
excessive anxiety and worry more days than not for 
at least six months. The worry is about a number of 
events or activities and is hard to control. The constant 
worrying causes distress and disrupts relationships, 
work, and other activities.

Depression
Depression is a potentially serious medical condition that 
affects how a person feels, thinks, and acts. The primary 
signs of major depression are that the person feels sad 
or has no interest or pleasure in normal activities for most 
of 2 weeks. Activities such as eating, socializing, sex, or 
recreation lose their appeal. Other symptoms:

 � Changes in appetite 

 � Sleep changes (sleeping too much or being unable to 
sleep)

 � Agitation, restlessness, or changes in motor movement

 � Feelings of worthlessness or guilt

 � Problems thinking, concentrating, or making decisions

 � Lack of energy, fatigue

 � Thoughts of death or suicide

Depression is more intense and long-lasting than normal 
sadness. It can develop slowly, draining the energy, 
pleasure, and meaning from a person’s life. About 7% of 
adults experience major depression in any given year and 
one in five women will experience it in their lifetime. 
Some people may express depression differently. For 
example, some people who are depressed may be 
more likely to complain of body aches or other physical 
symptoms than of mood or emotional symptoms.

More information about the full range of mental 
disorders is available in Understanding Mental 
Disorders: Your Guide to the DSM-5. It is based 
on the latest, fifth edition of the Diagnostic and 
Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders—known 
as DSM-5. DSM-5 specifies symptoms that 
must be present for a given mental disorder 
diagnosis and is used by mental health 
professionals around the world.

273273



6 | Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders

Part I. Mental Health Overview

Like anxiety, depression can take different forms. 

 � Major depressive disorder causes a person to feel 
deeply sad and unable to enjoy previously enjoyed 
activities for at least two weeks. Jobs, relationships, 
and life activities can be affected.

 � Persistent depressive disorder (previously called 
dysthymic disorder) is a milder form of depression that 
persists for years at a time. People with dysthymia 
may feel gloomy, irritable, or tired much of the time. 
They may feel hopeless and have difficulty sleeping 
or concentrating. Their depressed mood can interfere 
with their relationships, work, and enjoyment of life.

 � Postpartum depression refers to symptoms of major 
depression in a mother just before or after her baby is 
born (depression with peripartum onset).

Bipolar Disorder 
Bipolar disorder can cause dramatic mood swings, 
from feeling high and energetic to feeling very low, sad, 
and hopeless. The periods of highs and lows are called 
episodes of mania or hypomania (lower grades of mania) 
and depression. During a manic episode, a person may 
speak rapidly, feel little need for sleep, and become 
involved in activities with a high potential for risk or pain. 
During a depressive episode, a person may feel despair, 
hopelessness, or fatigue. People with bipolar disorder are 
at higher risk than the general population for alcohol or 
substance misuse.

Schizophrenia
Schizophrenia is a chronic serious mental illness that 
usually begins in a person’s 20s. When untreated, it 
can cause people to have psychotic thinking (impaired 
perception of reality and ability to communicate), 
delusions (fixed, false beliefs), or hallucinations (seeing 
or hearing things that aren’t real). Some people with 
schizophrenia do not recognize that they have a mental 
illness. Treatment can help relieve many symptoms of 
schizophrenia, but most people with this illness cope 
with symptoms their entire lives. Nonetheless, many 
people with schizophrenia live successfully in their 
communities and lead rewarding lives.

Posttraumatic Stress Disorder 
Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) can occur after 
a person has experienced or witnessed a situation 
involving harm or the threat of harm. People with PTSD 
may startle easily or be unable to feel positive emotions. 
They may experience flashbacks of the event that 
triggered the disorder and be quick to anger. 

Addiction/Substance Use Disorders
Addiction is a chronic brain disease that causes 
compulsive substance use despite harmful consequences. 
As a result of research, we now know more about how 
addiction affects the brain and behavior. 

Addictive Disorders, incuding substance use disorders 
and gambling disorder, are mental illnesses defined in 
the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 
(DSM-5®). People take drugs for a variety of reasons—to 
feel good, to feel better (for example, overcome distressing 
feelings), to do better, out of curiosity, or because peers 
are doing it. An initial decision to take drugs is usually 
voluntary, but with continued use changes take place in 
the brain impairing a person’s self-control and judgment. At 
the same time, the addiction produces intense impulses to 
take drugs.

Many people experience both addiction and another 
mental illness. Mental health conditions may precede 
addiction; drug misuse may also trigger or exacerbate a 
mental illness.

Stopping drug use is just one part of the recovery 
process, and relapse can occur often during the recovery 
process. Addiction affects many aspects of a person’s 
life, so treatment must address the needs of the whole 
person to be successful. These needs could be medical, 
psychological, social, or vocational. 

Treatment may include behavioral therapy, motivational 
interviewing, and medication and should be tailored 
to the individual’s circumstances and needs. Support 
groups (such as Alcoholics Anonymous, Narcotics 
Anonymous, and others) are a central part of recovery for 
many people.

Risk and Protective Factors for Drug Misuse 
and Addiction

RISK FACTORS PROTECTIVE FACTORS

Aggressive behavior in 
childhood

Good self-control

Lack of parental supervision Parental monitoring and 
support

Poor social skills Positive relationships

Drug experimentation Academic competence

Availability of drugs at school School anti-drug policies

Community poverty Neighborhood pride

Source: National Institute on Drug Abuse

274274



Part I. Mental Health Overview

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders | 7

Suicide
Suicide is the 10th leading cause of death in the United 
States (the third leading cause for youth aged 10 to 14; 
the second leading cause for people aged 15 to 34). 
Each year in the Unites States, an estimated 37,000 
people die by suicide and 1 million people attempt 
suicide, according to the Centers for Disease Control 
and Prevention. Men are nearly four times more likely 
than women to take their own lives. 

Suicide can be prevented. Risk of suicide can be 
minimized by knowing the risk factors and recognizing 
the warning signs. 

Warning Signs of Suicide2

Changes in behavior can be warning signs that 
someone may be thinking about or planning suicide.

 � Often talking or writing about death, dying, or suicide 
when these actions are out of the ordinary

 � Making comments about being hopeless, helpless, or 
worthless

 � Expressions of having no reason for living; no sense 
of purpose in life; saying things like “It would be better 
if I wasn’t here” or “I want out”

 � Increased alcohol and/or drug use

 � Withdrawal from friends, family, and community

 � Reckless behavior or more risky activities, seemingly 
without thinking

 � Dramatic mood changes

 � Giving away prized possessions, putting affairs in 
order, tying up loose ends, changing a will

Risk Factors for Suicide2

Certain events and circumstances may increase risk.

 � Losses and other events (for example, the breakup 
of a relationship or a death, academic failures, legal 
difficulties, financial difficulties, bullying)

 � Previous suicide attempts 

 � History of trauma or abuse

 � Keeping firearms in the home

 � Chronic physical illness, including chronic pain

 � Exposure to the suicidal behavior of others

 � A history of suicide in the family

2 Adapted from: Suicide Risk Factors, Substance Abuse and Mental 
Health Services Administration, and Warning Signs and Risk Factors, 
American Association of Suicidology

Diagnosis
Some mental illnesses can be related to or mimic a 
medical condition. Therefore a mental health diagnosis 
typically involves a full evaluation including a physical 
exam. This may include blood work or neurological tests.

The diagnosis of a mental health condition helps 
clinicians to develop treatment plans with their patients. 
However, the diagnosis of a mental disorder is not the 
same as a need for treatment. Need for treatment takes 
into consideration the severity of the symptoms, level 
of distress, and extent of disability associated with the 
symptom(s), risks and benefits of available treatments, 
and other factors (for example, psychiatric symptoms 
complicating other illness).

Each person is unique and may express or describe 
mental disorders in different ways. The level of distress 
and effect on daily living are important considerations in 
diagnosis and treatment.

Mental Health and Culture: People of diverse cultures 
and backgrounds may express mental health conditions 
differently. For example, some people are more likely to 
come to a health care professional with complaints of 
physical symptoms that are caused by a mental health 
condition. Some other cultures view and describe mental 
health conditions in different ways from most doctors in 
the United States.

Mental Health and Religion/Spirituality: A person 
might express to either a clinician or more likely to a 
faith leader experiences such as receiving a message 
from “God,” punishment for sin, a calling to a “great 
holy cause,” possession by “evil spirits,” or persecution 
because of a conviction of “spiritual closeness.” It is 
important to distinguish whether these are symptoms of a 
mental disorder (for example, delusions, auditory or visual 
hallucinations, and paranoia), distressing experiences of a 
religious or spiritual problem, or both. (See box on Religion 
and Spirituality in Psychiatric Diagnosis.) 

Mental health illnesses that may have symptoms with a 
religious or spiritual content include psychotic disorders 
(for example, schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder), 
mood disorders (for example, major depression, bipolar 
disorders), and substance use disorders, among others. 

Also, for a person of faith, having a mental illness may 
be seen as a spiritual concern or problem, just as having 
cancer or a heart attack would. 

For more on culture and mental health, 
see Pastoral Education Guide and 
Pastoral Education Workbook 
from the NKI Center of Excellence 
in Culturally Competent Mental 
HealthNational Suicide Prevention Lifeline 

1-800-273-TALK (8255), has trained counselors 
available 24/7 and can refer to local resources.

275275

http://www.suicidepreventionlifeline.org/learn/riskfactors.aspx;
http://www.suicidology.org/ncpys/warning-signs-risk-factors
http://ssrdqst.rfmh.org/cecc/sites/ssrdqst.rfmh.org.cecc/UserFiles/mentalhealthclergyguide101711A.pdf
http://ssrdqst.rfmh.org/cecc/sites/ssrdqst.rfmh.org.cecc/UserFiles/mentalhealthworkbook101711A.pdf
http://ssrdqst.rfmh.org/cecc/
http://ssrdqst.rfmh.org/cecc/
http://ssrdqst.rfmh.org/cecc/


8 | Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders

Part I. Mental Health Overview

 

Mental Health Treatment
Mental health conditions are treatable, and improvement 
is possible. Many people with mental health conditions 
return to full functioning. 

Mental health treatment is based upon an individualized 
treatment plan developed collaboratively with a mental 
health clinician and an individual (and family members 
if the individual desires). It may include psychotherapy 
(talk therapy), medication, or other treatments. Often a 
combination of therapy and medication is most effective.  
Complementary and alternative therapies are also 
increasingly being used. 

Self-help and support, including by a faith community 
and its leaders, can be very important to an individual’s 
coping, recovery, and well-being. A comprehensive 
treatment plan may also include individual actions (for 
example, lifestyle changes, support groups, exercise, 
and so on) that enhance recovery and well-being. 
Psychiatrists and other mental health clinicians help 
individuals and families understand mental illnesses and 
what they can do to control or cope with symptoms in 
order to improve health, wellness, and function. 

Talk Therapy
While medications can be an important part of treating 
many mental health conditions, medications alone may 
not be enough. They cannot heal damaged relationships 
or give insight into challenges. These are things that 
require reflection, thinking, talking, and, for some, 
praying. Therapists can be extremely helpful in this vital 
part of recovery; they are trained to help with these 
problems in a nonjudgmental way.

Psychotherapy—sometimes called “talk therapy”—
involves a series of meetings with a trained therapist. 
Since mental health conditions often cause complicated 
problems affecting many parts of a person’s life, 
relationships may suffer and it may be difficult to work, 
think clearly, or make good decisions. Talking openly to a 
trusted person can be comforting and can help one see 
problems or situations more clearly.

There are many types of psychotherapies. Specific types 
work better for some types of mental health conditions.

 � Cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) helps people 
identify and change negative or irrational thought 
patterns that lead to unhelpful behaviors.

 � Behavioral therapy is based on principles of 
learning and aims to reinforce desired behaviors while 
eliminating undesired behaviors.

 � Family therapy provides a safe place for family 
members to share feelings, learn better ways 
to interact with each other, and find solutions to 
problems.

 � Group therapy typically involves a group of people 
dealing with the same or a similar mental health 
condition. Discussion is guided by a trained therapist. 
It can be very reassuring and helpful to hear from 
others who are facing the same challenges and share 
experiences.

 � Interpersonal therapy is used to help patients 
understand underlying interpersonal issues that are 
troublesome, like unresolved grief and problems 
relating to others.

Medications for Mental Health Conditions
Just as many people take medications daily for diabetes 
or high blood pressure, many people take a medication 
daily for a mental health condition. Medication can help 
calm anxiety, lift depression, and improve attention. Age, 
individual needs, overall health, and personal preferences 
are important considerations in making decisions about 
medication in treatment. 

Religion and Spirituality in  
Psychiatric Diagnosis 

Religion and spirituality are addressed in the 
American Psychiatric Association’s handbook of 
diagnostic classification (DSM-5*) in the chapter 
on “Other Conditions That May Be a Focus of 
Clinical Attention.” These conditions, which are 
not mental disorders, may affect the diagnosis, 
course, prognosis, or treatment of a patient’s mental 
disorder and as such deserve attention in the 
course of treatment. 
 
From DSM-5: 
Religious or Spiritual Problem This category 
can be used when the focus of clinical attention 
is a religious or spiritual problem. Examples 
include distressing experiences that involve loss 
or questioning of faith, problems associated with 
conversion to a new faith, or questioning of spiritual 
values that may not necessarily be related to an 
organized church or religious institution.
* Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders,  
Fifth Edition.

276276



Part I. Mental Health Overview

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders | 9

Some medication for mental health conditions are taken 
every day, even when the person feels better, just as they 
are with diabetes or high blood pressure. In some cases, 
medications for conditions such as ADHD, depression, 
anxiety, and schizophrenia may need to be taken on a 
long-term basis. Other medications are taken only when 
a person needs them. Some medications help prevent 
the symptoms of an illness such as depression from 
returning. Successful medication use requires close 

communication with the health care professional. 

Before taking medication, people should ask about and 
understand the purpose and effects of the medication, 
how to take it, and possible side effects. People should 
talk with the health care professional when they are 
experiencing bothersome side effects or feel that 
something is not right. 

Psychiatrists and other physicians (who have more 
than eight years clinical training) take into account 
each person’s needs and symptoms when determining 
medications to prescribe. They will consider such factors 
as general medical health and history, allergies, lifestyle, 
age, family history, and benefits and risks of medication 
(potential to be habit forming, interaction with other 
medications, side effects).

Peer Support Services
Peer services can be an important part of recovery-
oriented mental health and substance use treatment—
helping people become and stay engaged in the 
recovery process and reduce the likelihood of relapse. 
Peer support services are delivered by individuals 
who have been successful in the process of recovery 
from mental health and/or substance use conditions. 
Peer specialists model recovery, teach skills, and offer 
supports to help people experiencing mental health/
substance use challenges to lead meaningful lives in the 
community. Because these services are delivered by 
peers who have been successful in the recovery process, 
they carry a powerful message of hope. Peer support 

Classes of Medications

CLASS OF MEDICATIONS CONDITIONS TREATED ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Antidepressants Depression, panic disorder, PTSD, anxiety, 
obsessive-compulsive disorder, borderline 
personality disorder, bulimia nervosa

May take 3-4 weeks for full effect, longer 
if dose is gradually increased

Antipsychotic medications Psychotic symptoms (delusions and 
hallucinations), schizophrenia, bipolar 
disorder, dementia, autism spectrum 
disorder

Some side effects can be extreme but can 
be treated

Mood stabilizers Bipolar disorder

Sedatives, Hypnotics, and Anxiolytics Sedatives and Anxiolytics:  anxiety, insomnia 
Hypnotics: to cause and maintain sleep, 
pain disorder

Benzodiazepines (one class of anxiolytics) 
can be habit forming; Hypnotics are 
prescribed for a brief time only

Stimulants ADHD Most commonly prescribed for children 

Source: APA, Understanding Mental Disorders: Your Guide to DSM-5

Some Tips for Getting Best Results  
From Medication

 � Follow doctor’s directions on how (e.g., with food) 
and when (e.g., time of day) to take the medication

 � Ask about possible side effects and how to cope

 � Make sure your doctor knows about any other 
medicines you are taking (including over-the-
counter)

 � Do not stop or change dose of medication without 
talking with your doctor

 � Pay attention and note how the medication is 
working and any side effects

 � Talk to your doctor about any questions or 
concerns

277277



10 | Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders

Part I. Mental Health Overview

specialists’ roles can include peer-wellness coaching, 
education and advocacy, support-group facilitation, and 
assistance navigating community services and supports. 
Peer specialists supplement existing treatment.

Alternative Therapies
Many people turn to alternative health therapies, such as 
herbal remedies. It is important to discuss with the health 
care professional any medication being used, including 
alternative therapies and over-the-counter medications 
being used, since some herbal products and over-

the-counter medications can change the way other 
medicines work in the body. 

Support and Self-Help
People can boost chances of recovery from a mental 
health condition and help maintain wellness in many 
ways.:

Exercise 
Exercise is one of the best things a person can do to 
improve body, mind, and mood. This doesn’t mean 
having to go to a gym or do anything elaborate or 
intense. Brisk walking can be a fine exercise. Even 
walking five or 10 minutes a day is a start; building 
up to at least 30 minutes a day might be a goal.

Yoga
The many forms of yoga combine poses that stretch 
and tone muscles and breathing exercises that can 
help relieve stress and tension. Some studies find 
that people who practice yoga feel more positive and 
more energetic. 

Relaxation Techniques
Meditation can help give a sense of calm and 
balance and help improve emotional well-being and 
overall health. Many techniques are available to 
help relax muscles and calm the mind. A common 
technique is to focus on breathing while sitting 
comfortably, with muscles relaxed and eyes closed. If 
distracted by thoughts, the mind is gently redirected 
back to breathing. This is continued for 10 to 20 
minutes.

Support Groups
Many types of support groups are available, online or 
in person, to help with mental health and substance 
use concerns. Joining such groups can provide an 
opportunity to learn how other people are coping, 
hear their stories, ask questions, talk about personal 
experiences, and help others. Groups can be 
facilitated by professionals or by members of the 
group.

A Role for Spirituality
Studies show that people involved in a religious or 
spiritual group of some kind have a lower risk of 
premature death or illness than those not involved. The 
reasons for this apparent benefit are not well understood. 
But the fellowship, goodwill, and emotional support 
offered by religious or spiritual groups may also promote 
healthy living and mental health. Some faith communities 
offer pastoral counseling services, which can be an 
additional support to therapy and/or medication, and 
may help people cope with mental health challenges.

“ 
Because peer support services are 
delivered by people who have been 

successful in the recovery
process, they carry a powerful

message of hope. 

”
Correcting Myths About Mental Illness

•  An expected or culturally accepted reaction to a 
loss or difficulty, such as the death of a loved one, 
is not a mental illness. It is common at times to 
have feelings of being down, anxious, afraid, or 
angry.

•  Socially problematic behavior (for example, 
political, religious, or sexual) and conflicts that are 
primarily between the individual and society are 
not mental illnesses.

•  Mental illnesses are not caused by personal 
weakness or lack of character.

278278



Part I. Mental Health Overview

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders | 11

Types of Mental Health Professionals

Psychiatrists are medical doctors (M.D.s or D.O.s) 
who specialize in the diagnosis, treatment, and 
prevention of mental illnesses, including substance 
use disorders. Among the treatments they use are 
medication and talk therapy.

Psychologists have doctoral degrees (Ph.D. 
or Psy.D.) and special training in mental health 
conditions. They most often help people with mental 
illnesses by providing testing and psychotherapy.

Clinical social workers address individual and 
family problems such as serious mental illness, 
substance abuse, and domestic conflict through 
counseling, therapy, and advocacy. Most have a 
master’s degree in social work.

Psychiatric nurses work with individuals, families, 
groups, and communities, assessing and helping to 
treat their mental health needs. 

Licensed professional counselors assist people 
with many types of problems, including mental health 
issues.

Certified pastoral counselors have in-depth 
religious and/or theological training and training and 
experience in counseling.

Licensed marriage and family therapists often 
provide treatment within the context of one’s family 
or relationship dyad.

Primary care clinicians (physicians, physician 
assistants, and nurse practitioners) are often the first 
to identify and address mental health concerns.

“ 

Mental illness is nothing to be 

ashamed of! It is a medical problem, 

just like heart disease or diabetes. 

”

279279



12 | Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders

Part I. Mental Health Overview

The Connection Between Mental 
and Physical Conditions 
Mind and body are connected in many important ways. 
Problems that first affect the mind can later increase a 
person’s risk for physical problems, such as diabetes, high 
blood pressure, or malnutrition. Conversely, problems that 
first affect the body, such as a disease or an accident, can 
affect mental health (i.e., emotions, thinking, and mood).

 � 68% of adults with mental disorders also have 
medical conditions 

 � 29% of adults with medical conditions also have 
mental disorders3

Adults living with serious mental illness die on average 
many years earlier than other Americans, largely due to 
treatable medical conditions. 

What to Expect from a Mental Health Professional

Everyone deserves quality care. High-quality mental 
health professionals

 �  Care about all aspects of the person’s life and 
may be able to suggest other people to talk with 
about needs such as housing, financial aid, or 
childcare.

 � Take a detailed history that includes asking 
about cultural concepts of distress, cultural 
identity, religious/spiritual beliefs, and supports 
and stressors.

 �  Ask about medical problems, such as diabetes 
and high blood pressure, and other illnesses such 
as HIV.

 � Clearly explain any diagnosis and possible 
treatment options—including talk therapy and 
medications, as well as possible side effects—and 
self-help techniques like exercise and support 
groups.

 � Review medication regularly and adjust 
treatment when necessary.

 � Include family members or friends from the 
community when appropriate.

3Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. 2011. Policy Brief: Mental disorders and medical comorbidity.

280280



Part I. Mental Health Overview

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders | 13

Recovery, Wellness and Building Resilience4

A Holistic Guide to Whole-Person Wellness
Wellness means overall well-being. For people with mental health and substance use conditions, wellness is not simply 
the absence of disease, illness, or stress, but the presence of purpose in life, active involvement in satisfying work and 
play, joyful relationships, a healthy body and living environment, and happiness. It incorporates the mental, emotional, 
physical, occupational, intellectual, and spiritual aspects of a person’s life. Each aspect of wellness can affect overall 
quality of life. 

Building Resilience and Maintaining Wellness
Being resilient means a person is able to cope with challenges, trauma, threats, or other forms of stress. Getting help 
for mental health conditions can improve one’s ability to take other steps to build resilience. To strengthen resilience, 
people need to:

 � Build connections with family and friends

 � Accept that change is a part of living—some goals 
may no longer be attainable as a result of changing 
situations

 � Reach out to help others

 � Develop realistic goals and take small, regular steps 
toward them

 � Look for growth in loss

 � Nurture a positive view of yourself

 � Trust instincts

 � Take care of themselves; they can’t help others if they 
are unwell themselves

 � Boost mental health by remembering that the mind and 
body are connected—eat right, exercise, get enough 
sleep, and take care of health problems promptly

 � Avoid alcohol and other drugs

4From the SAMHSA Wellness Initiative

281281



Part II  
Faith Leader Support for 
People With Mental Illness

282282



Part II. Faith Leader Support for People With Mental Illness

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders | 15

See also the companion 
to this guide: Quick 
Reference on Mental 
Health for Faith Leaders

Introduction
Faith leaders are official leaders of religious 
congregations whose primary responsibility is to 
provide for the spiritual development and care of their 
congregations. Faith leaders encounter individuals with 
mental health conditions in a number of circumstances 
that require different approaches. They are always called 
to see the person rather 
than the illness first, and 
to understand their own 
religious assumptions 
regarding the role of the 
divine in their encounters 
with others. They can 
and should work with 
trained volunteer members of their congregations to 
help other members who are experiencing mental health 
challenges. 

The following sections provide suggestions and brief 
guidance on creating a more welcoming environment and 
helping individuals and families who are facing mental 
health concerns. Faith leaders can model openness and 
resilience by encouraging their congregations to cultivate 
mental, physical, and spiritual well-being and by being 
open to seeking help for themselves if needed.

How Congregations Can Be 
More Inclusive and Welcoming 
Create a welcoming environment

 � Learn about mental illness. Identify myths and stigma 
through open discussion.

 � Mental illness can be isolating for individuals and 
families. Ensure that they feel welcome in all aspects 
of your community’s spiritual life. Create a safe 
environment within the place of worship by promoting 
an atmosphere of openness and inclusiveness.

 � Conduct workshops, give sermons, host lectures to 
reduce and eliminate the stigma of mental illness and 
create more acceptance in the faith community. Invite 
a mental health professional to address a religious 
education class or discussion group.

 � Apply a bio-psycho-social-spiritual model, 
understanding mental illness and substance use not 
as spiritual weaknesses but as illnesses for which 
treatment is available.

 � Develop an inventory of community resources. 

 � Encourage faith leaders (imams, rabbis, priests, and 
other clergy) and lay leaders to take training through 
a program like Mental Health First Aid5 to become 
familiar with the basics of mental health conditions and 
ways to respond appropriately.

 � Identify congregational leaders who can provide 
support to individuals and families either in the 
community or when hospitalized. The importance of 
individual and family privacy should be emphasized. 

Provide support to individuals with mental 
health conditions and their families

 � Visit in the hospital or at home.

 � Offer prayers for him/her at religious services.

 � Phone or send cards or letters.

 � Listen and give moral support.

 � Offer to shop for food or take a meal.

 � Offer help with transportation (to appointments, to 
attend religious services).

 � Offer help with childcare.

 � Encourage networking with community support/
advocacy groups.

When to Make a Referral to a 
Mental Health Professional
Often faith leaders are unsure when to refer an individual 
to a mental health professional. 

Situations When Prompt or Immediate Referral 
to a Clinical Care professional Is Indicated 

 � When a person poses an immediate danger to self  
or others. 

 � When a person demonstrates an emotional or 
behavioral problem that constitutes a threat to the 
safety of the person or of those around him/her (for 
example, suicidal behavior, severe aggressive behavior, 
an eating disorder that is out of control, self-mutilation 
like cutting, or other self-destructive behavior).

 � Suicide. Thoughts of suicide should always be taken 
seriously. A person may not share these thoughts 
with you, but the family members may be aware of 
concerning behaviors, like isolation. A person who is 
seriously suicidal should be considered a psychiatric 
emergency and immediate psychiatric evaluation/
consultation should be sought. Do not hesitate to call 
911/Emergency Medical Services (EMS) for assistance; 
ask if a person with Crisis Intervention Team (CIT) 
training is available. 

5  Mental Health First Aid USA is coordinated by the National Council for Behavioral Health, the Maryland Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, 
and the Missouri Department of Mental Health.

283283

http://www.psychiatry.org/faith
http://www.psychiatry.org/faith
http://www.psychiatry.org/faith
http://www.psychiatry.org/faith
http://www.mentalhealthfirstaid.org


16 | Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders

Part II. Faith Leader Support for People With Mental Illness

Assessing the person

 �  Level of distress – How much distress, discomfort, or 
anguish is he/she feeling? How well is he/she able to 
tolerate, manage or cope?

 �  Level of functioning – Is he/she capable of caring for 
self? Able to problem solve and make decisions?

 �  Possibility for danger – Is there danger to self or others, 
including thoughts of suicide or risky behavior?

Other Situations That May Require a Referral

 � Developmental problems (children/teens)

 � Abnormal bereavement (the sadness associated with 
the death of a loved one may progress to low self-
esteem, thoughts of suicide, feelings of guilt, and lack 
of interest)

 �  Family dysfunction

 �  Substance misuse/addiction

 � Significant changes in sleep (lack of sleep or sleeping 
too much can be related to multiple health conditions 
including depression, anxiety, and posttraumatic stress 
disorder) 

 � When you have worked with a person with behavioral 
or emotional problems for six to eight sessions without 
meaningful improvement

A worrisome sign is diminished social support. The 
person perceives he/she has no one to depend on or 
confide in or has recently withdrawn from supports.

If possible, work with a mental health professional who 
can help triage a situation and recommend the most 
appropriate resource for the individual’s particular needs 
and circumstances.

Categories of Observation Examples of observations
Does something not make sense in context?

Cognition
Understanding of situation, memory, concentration 

Seems confused or disoriented 
Has gaps in memory of events  
Answers questions inappropriately 

Affect/Mood
Eye contact, outbursts of emotion/indifference 

Appears sad/depressed or overly high spirited 
Overcome with hopelessness/overwhelmed by circumstances
Switches emotions abruptly 

Speech
Pace, continuity, vocabulary 
(Is difficulty with English language an issue?) 

Speaks too quickly or too slowly, misses words 
Uses vocabulary inconsistent with level of education 
Stutters or has long pauses in speech 

Thought Patterns and Logic 
Rationality, tempo, grasp of reality 

Seems to respond to unusual voices/visions 
Expresses racing, disconnected thoughts 
Expresses bizarre or unusual ideas 

Appearance
Hygiene, attire, behavioral mannerisms 

Appears disheveled; poor hygiene
Trembles or shakes, is unable to sit or stand still (unexplained)
Wears inappropriate attire

Visible Signs That May Raise a Concern About Mental Illness
These categories of observation are provided to help identify whether an individual may have a mental health 
condition that requires attention by a mental health professional—they are not definitive signs of mental illness.

284284



Part II. Faith Leader Support for People With Mental Illness

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders | 17

National Suicide Prevention 
Lifeline, 1-800-273-TALK (8255), 
has trained counselors available 
24/7 and can refer to local 
resources.

How to Make a Referral for 
Mental Health Treatment
 � Communicate clearly about the need for referral. 
Make the referral a collaborative process between 
the person and/or family and the faith leader. “Let us 
think together about the helping resources that will be 
of most value to you.” Be clear about the difference 
between spiritual support and professional clinical care. 

 � Reassure the individual and family that you 
will journey with them and will help navigate any 
obstacles. Seek to understand possible barriers or 
preconceived ideas that may hinder the process (fears, 
stigmas, religious misunderstandings, economical 
challenges, and so on). Ask about medical insurance.

 � If possible, have a list of professionals at hand for 
immediate reference. In some instances, it may be 
helpful to provide help with finding a professional and 
making an appointment. 

 � Follow-up. Remain connected with the family to 
see how the situation evolves. Provide the spiritual 
encouragement necessary to stay the course. Offer 
community resources (see resources at end). Support 
the person’s re-integration into the faith community.

Keep in mind: Not all individuals/families will immediately 
accept the need for referral. If this is the case, continue 
to journey with the family providing guidance (see next 
section, “Dealing With Resistance”).

For emergencies, call 911 or go to the nearest 
hospital; ask if a person with Crisis Intervention 
Team (CIT) training is available. If there is a  
life-threatening situation, the referral process 
should not precede calling 911 or going to the 
nearest emergency room. 

Dealing With Resistance  
to Accepting Mental  
Health Treatment 
Remember, the person has an illness; the person is 
not the illness. Mental health and illness involve multiple 
factors, including biology and neurochemistry, and are 
not the fault of the person, the family, or anyone else. 
Faith leaders are in unique positions to educate their 
congregations about mental health in order to overcome 
the stigma and shame often associated with mental 
illness with understanding and acceptance. 

 � Acknowledging a problem. Resistance to treatment 
may come from the fact that the person does not think 
he/she has a mental health problem. Helping individuals 
understand that effective treatment is available for the 
issues that trouble them is an important first step.

 � Stigma. Realize that for many people the stigma 
about mental health conditions, involving stereotypes, 
prejudice, and discrimination, is a significant part of 
dealing with the illness itself. This encompasses both 
public stigma (general population reaction to people 
with mental illness) and self-stigma (prejudice that 
people with mental illness turn against themselves). 
Faith leaders should know enough about mental health 
conditions to understand the challenges an individual 
may be facing and be able to comfortably and 
confidently deal with stigma-related resistance.

 � Past experience with medication. People may 
have received mental health treatment in the past, but 
then decided on their own to stop taking medication. 
Stopping medication may have been prompted by 
bothersome side effects or because they felt it was no 
longer needed. Focusing the conversation on how they 
were functioning while taking medication as compared 
with their level of functioning without medication may 
be helpful in motivating individuals to consider resuming 
treatment. 

 � Support team. A personal “support team” for 
someone who is resisting treatment is often a valuable 
resource. Such a team would be composed of several 
trusted people who could provide feedback whenever 
they observed the individual’s thinking or behavior 
interfering with his/her ability to function. A support 

285285

http://www.suicidepreventionlifeline.org/
http://www.suicidepreventionlifeline.org/


18 | Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders

Part II. Faith Leader Support for People With Mental Illness

team could help the individual over time to see the 
need to resume treatment. 

 � Religious concepts. At times, religious concepts 
and understandings may be a source of resistance to 
treatment. People may “depend on God” for healing 
or regard receiving psychiatric services as a “lack of 
faith.” They may interpret their symptoms as a “curse” 
or a “punishment from God.” When engaging in 
conversation and counsel, a faith leader may usefully 
affirm that “God has given us the ability to develop 
medicines that are helpful in keeping us well.” 

 � Hopelessness. People sometimes avoid or 
discontinue treatment because they can see no 
hope in their situation. In fact, hopelessness can be 
a significant symptom of the mental disorder itself. In 
some cases faith stories from one’s religious tradition 
that illustrate how people have found “a way forward 
when there seems to be no way” can facilitate hope. 
Personal stories of those who have come through 
times of crisis and resistance can also be effective in 
conveying an assurance that people can recover if they 
reach out for help that is available. 

 � Perhaps the most helpful is the faith leader’s 
expression of his/her own confident trust that the 
troubled individual can find the strength to take 
the next step toward his or her own healing. 

If the resistance becomes extreme and if you think the 
person who is resisting treatment may hurt himself or 
herself or someone else, seek immediate assistance; call 
911/Emergency Medical Services; ask if a person with 
Crisis Intervention Team (CIT) training is available. 

As a faith leader, you can convey that each person is 
sacred, is a person of extreme value, and is a person 
who is loved ultimately. 

Distinguishing Religious  
or Spiritual Problems  
From Mental Illness 
Clinical needs and spiritual concerns are often 
inextricably intertwined among people of faith. People of 
faith who have a mental health condition may experience 
distressing spiritual concerns (for example, Has God 
forsaken me? Why doesn’t God heal me? Is taking 
medication evidence of a lack of faith?). They may also 
express distress in a spiritual term consistent with a 
DSM-5 Religious or Spiritual Problem that is not a mental 
health condition (for example, prayers not answered, 
possession by an evil spirit, anxiety over an unforgivable 
sin, and so on). 

In dealing with individuals with both spiritual and mental 
concerns:  

Meet with the individual and/or family to assess the 
needs and problems they are experiencing. Faith leaders 
should be clear about the difference between religious/
spiritual support and professional clinical treatment. 

 � Consult the policies and guidelines for pastoral care 
and counseling adopted by your denomination or faith 
group. These will usually delineate boundaries for both 
clergy and congregants regarding how pastoral care is 
to be practiced.  

 � Take particular note of issues or concerns that require 
urgent clinical care. For example, suicidal intent or 
behavior, despondency, impulses to self-harm or harm 
others. Immediate referral to a clinical care professional 
is critical when these concerns or issues arise. The 
person should be assured that you will be there with 
spiritual care and support.

 � Attend carefully to the language a person uses with 
you as a faith leader to describe her/his distress. Be 
aware that mental health conditions are sometimes 
expressed as religious or spiritual concerns such 
as committing an “unpardonable” sin, vocational 
indecision, family problems, and distress that one’s 
prayers are not answered. Recognize that cultural 
differences exist in understanding mental health versus 
religious or spiritual issues.

 � Resist prematurely understanding a complex situation 
as entirely related to religion or spirituality. When mental 
health issues are not readily apparent, a faith leader 
may appropriately decide to offer religious counsel and 
spiritual guidance. If after 4 to 6 sessions, the issues 
still persist and the congregant exhibits a sense of 
hopelessness and undiminished distress or additional 
areas of life dysfunction, referral to a clinical professional 
should be made for further diagnosis, assessment, and 
treatment with ongoing support from you. 

286286



Part II. Faith Leader Support for People With Mental Illness

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders | 19

Approaching a Person With an 
Urgent Mental Health Concern
Determining what is disruptive behavior. Faith 
leaders should work with their congregations to develop 
guidelines for defining and assessing disruptive/disturbed 
behavior. This might include behavior that requires an 
intervention because it:

 � significantly interferes with the purpose or task of a 
communal gathering or 

 � threatens harm to self or others. 

Disruptive behaviors by individuals should be 
distinguished from that by persons whose behavior or 
appearance is different from others but are still able 
to participate in the service or activity to some extent. 
Faith leaders should assess whether persons whose 
unconventional behaviors or appearance may indicate 
a need for pastoral counsel or referral. Boundaries 
regarding the range and effect of unconventional 
behaviors should be clearly understood by all, especially 
when a congregation seeks to be welcoming and 
inclusive. 

Approaching an individual within a communal 
service. Before interacting with an individual, consider 
safety for yourself, the individual, and others and whether 
there is a family member or friend who can help calm 
the person. Use lay leaders (this assumes some prior 
training or the identification of mental health professionals 
within the community) to accompany/assist the person 
to remain within the gathering, offering cues and 
communication regarding expected behavior. Escort or 
invite the person to a more appropriate, safe setting. 
Acknowledge the willingness to be there for the person, 
even if it means seeking the help of a professional. 
Recognize that a loss of hope and a loss of perspective 
may be both a spiritual problem and a sign of a mental 
health condition.

Seek immediate assistance when a person poses 
a danger to self or others. Thoughts of suicide should 
always be taken seriously. A person who is actively suicidal 
is a psychiatric emergency. Call 911; ask if a person with 
Crisis Intervention Team (CIT) training is available.

Questions to consider

 � Are there signs of substance misuse? Has this been a 
problem?

 � Is the person a threat to himself/herself or others? 
Does the person have a weapon?

 � Is the person experiencing delusions (false beliefs) 
or hallucinations or exhibiting a pervasive distrust or 
suspiciousness of others?

 �   Does the person seem to be emotionally out of control 
or on the verge of losing control?

If so, a referral to a mental health professional may 
be required.

287287



20 | Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders

Resources

For Individuals and Families: Online and local resources and support 
Mental Health America mentalhealthamerica.net

 � Find an Affiliate

 � Online screening tools (depression, bipolar, anxiety, PTSD)

National Alliance on Mental Illness nami.org

 � Find your local NAMI

 � Online discussion groups

 � NAMI Helpline – 800-950-NAMI, info@nami.org

 � Family support/education – Family-to-Family

Depression and Bipolar Support Alliance dbsalliance.org

 � Chapter/Support group locator

 � DBSA online support group

Anxiety and Depression Association of America adaa.org

 � Find a local support group

Online Mental Health Screening mentalhealthscreening.org

 � Screening for Mental Health, Inc. (depression, bipolar disorder, anxiety, eating disorders, PTSD, alcohol use)

 � Anxiety and Depression Association of America – (anxiety, PTSD, depression, OCD, and more)

 � Mental Health America (depression, bipolar, anxiety, PTSD)

Alcoholics Anonymous aa.org

Narcotics Anonymous na.org

Al-Anon Family Groups al-anon.org

288288

http://www.mentalhealthamerica.net
http://mentalhealthamerica.net/find-affiliate
http://www.mentalhealthamerica.net/mental-health-screening-tools
http://www.nami.org 
http://www.nami.org/Find-Your-Local-NAMI
https://www.nami.org/Logon?ReturnUrl=%2fFind-Support%2fDiscussion-Groups
mailto:info%40nami.org?subject=
https://www.nami.org/Find-Support/NAMI-Programs/NAMI-Family-to-Family
http://www.dbsalliance.org
http://www.dbsalliance.org/site/PageServer?pagename=peer_support_group_locator
http://www.dbsalliance.org/site/PageServer?pagename=peer_OSG
http://www.adaa.org
http://www.adaa.org/finding-help/getting-support/support-groups
http://www.mentalhealthscreening.org
http://screening.mentalhealthscreening.org/hyho
http://www.adaa.org/living-with-anxiety/ask-and-learn/screenings
http://www.mentalhealthamerica.net/mental-health-screening-tools
http://www.aa.org
http://www.na.org
http://www.al-anon.org


Resources

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders | 21

For Faith Leaders: Helpful resources
There are excellent resources for faith communities and their leaders to enhance their knowledge and skills to better 
serve congregants. 

American Psychiatric Association

Quick Reference on Mental Health for Faith Leaders - a companion to this guide, psychiatry.org/faith 

Understanding Mental Disorders: Your Guide to the DSM-5® a new book from APA based on the latest, fifth 
edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders—known as DSM-5. 
www.psychiatry.org/mental-health/understanding-mental-disorders

NKI Center of Excellence in Culturally Competent Mental Health

Pastoral Education Guide and Pastoral Education Workbook 

http://ccase.org/our-products/ 

The Guide includes a case example of depression complicating grief requiring referral, and the Workbook discusses 
the use of a depression screen to help identify people who may need to be referred.

Mental Health Information for Ministers (Unitarian Universalist Mental Health Ministry)

www.mpuuc.org/mentalhealth

Mental Health Ministries www.mentalhealthministries.net/ 

Mental Illness and Families of Faith: How Congregations Can Respond (Study Guide)

National Catholic Partnership on Disability www.ncpd.org 

Welcomed and Valued: Building Faith Communities of Support and Hope with People with Mental Illness and  
Their Families (Resource Manual and DVD)

Mental Illness Ministry of the Chicago Catholic Archdiocese www.miministry.org

Caring Clergy Project http://inmi.us/for-clergy/

Videos for Clergy (making referrals, suicide prevention and intervention, and more)

United Church of Christ Mental Health Network www.mhn-ucc.blogspot.com

Interfaith Network on Mental Illness www.inmi.us

Pathways to Promise, The Way of Companionship

www.pathways2promise.org/resources/the-way-of-companionship/ 

Religion and Ethics Weekly (PBS/WETA) Episode on Churches and the Mentally Ill 

www.pbs.org/wnet/religionandethics/2012/06/22/june-22-2012-churches-and-the-mentally-ill/11386/

NAMI FaithNet www.nami.org/faithnet

SAMHSA Faith-based and Community Initiatives www.samhsa.gov/faith-based-initiatives

(Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration)

Temple University Collaborative on Community Inclusion of Individuals with Psychiatric 
Disabilities 

http://tucollaborative.org/religion-spirituality/

289289

http://www.psychiatry.org/faith
http://www.psychiatry.org/faith
http://www.psychiatry.org/mental-health/understanding-mental-disorders
http://www.psychiatry.org/mental-health/understanding-mental-disorders
http://ssrdqst.rfmh.org/cecc/sites/ssrdqst.rfmh.org.cecc/UserFiles/mentalhealthclergyguide101711A.pdf
http://ssrdqst.rfmh.org/cecc/sites/ssrdqst.rfmh.org.cecc/UserFiles/mentalhealthworkbook101711A.pdf
http://ccase.org/our-products/
http://www.mpuuc.org/mentalhealth
http://www.mentalhealthministries.net/
http://www.mentalhealthministries.net/resources/study_guide/mental_illness_study_guide.pdf
http://www.ncpd.org
http://www.miministry.org
http://inmi.us/for-clergy/ 
http://www.caringclergyproject.org/resourcesforclergy.html
http://www.mhn-ucc.blogspot.com
http://www.inmi.us
http://www.pathways2promise.org/resources/the-way-of-companionship/ 
http://www.pbs.org/wnet/religionandethics/2012/06/22/june-22-2012-churches-and-the-mentally-ill/11386/
http://www.nami.org/faithnet
http://www.samhsa.gov/faith-based-initiatives
http://tucollaborative.org/religion-spirituality/


22 | Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders

Resources

Acknowledgements

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders has been made possible through the expertise, time, and efforts of  
many individuals. 

Special gratitude to:

Mental Health and Faith Community Partnership Steering Committee

Farha Abbasi, M.D., Michigan State University*

Chaplain Clark Aist, Ph.D., St. Elizabeths Hospital (emeritus)*

Vijaya Appareddy, M.D., Commission to End Health Care Disparities

Abdul Basit, Ph.D., University of Chicago 

Tiffani Bell, M.D., Medical College of Virginia/Virginia Commonwealth University*

Rev. William Byron, S.J., St. Joseph’s University

Frank Clark, M.D., Carilion Clinic/St. Albans Hospital*

C. Robert Cloninger, M.D., Washington University in St. Louis

Mary Lynn Dell, M.D., D.Min., Nationwide Children’s Hospital and the Ohio State University*

Tatiana Falcone, M.D., Cleveland Clinic

Alan Fung, M.D., M.Phil., Sc.D., University of Toronto*

Bill Gaventa, M.Div., Summer Institute on Theology and Disability

Katrina Gay, National Alliance on Mental Illness

Rev. Susan Gregg-Schroeder, Mental Health Ministries

James Griffith, M.D., George Washington University

Danielle Hairston, M.D., Howard University Hospital*

Sidney Hankerson, M.D., Columbia University, College of Physicians and Surgeons 

Richard Harding, M.D., University of South Carolina School of Medicine

Rev. Dr. Jason Hays, First Congregational Church*

Rev. Dr. George Holmes, President Barack Obama National Clergy Leadership Group

Rev. Patrick Howell, S.J., Institute for Catholic Thought and Culture, Seattle University*

Rev. Alan Johnson, United Church of Christ*

Nancy Kehoe, Ph.D., R.S.C.J., Harvard Medical School*

Patrick Kennedy, The Kennedy Forum

Warren Kinghorn, M.D, Th.D., Duke University Medical Center

Deacon Tom Lambert, Archdiocese of Chicago/NCPD Council on Mental Illness

James Lomax, M.D., Menninger Department of Psychiatry

Francis Lu, M.D., University of California, Davis*

Rabbi Edythe Mencher, L.C.S.W., Union for Reform Judaism

Charles Nemeroff, M.D., Ph.D., Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences

Rev. Darlene Nipper, National LGBTQ Task Force

Grayson Norquist, M.D., M.S.P.H., Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute, University of Mississippi 

Abraham Nussbaum, M.D., M.T.S., Denver Health/University of Colorado

John Peteet, M.D., Harvard Medical School*

Meena Ramani, M.D., Nassau University Medical Center 

290290



Resources

Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders | 23

Curtis Ramsey-Lucas, M.Div., American Baptist Home Mission Societies* 

Aruna Rao, M.A., National Alliance on Mental Illness

Rev. Craig Rennebohm, M.Div., Pathways to Promise

Sullivan Robinson, M.A., Leadership Council for Healthy Communities

Rev. Douglas Ronsheim, D.Min., American Association of Pastoral Counselors*

Rev. Gabriel Salguero, National Latino Evangelical Coalition*

Rev. Jeanette Salguero, National Latino Evangelical Coalition*

Steven Scoggin, Psy.D., L.P.C., CareNet, Inc. 

Altha Stewart, M.D., Just Care Family Network

Sayyid Syeed, M.D., Islamic Society of North America, Office for Interfaith & Community Alliances

Rev. Dr. Frank Tucker, Leadership Council for Healthy Communities

R. Dale Walker, M.D., Oregon Health and Science University

Pastor Dianne Young, The Healing Center

Bishop William Young, The Healing Center

James Zahniser, Ph.D., Pathways to Promise*

 
*Work group member, Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders

Planning Committee and Staff
American Psychiatric Association  
The American Psychiatric Association is a national medical specialty society whose physician members specialize in 
the diagnosis, treatment, prevention, and research of mental illnesses, including substance use disorders. Visit the 
APA at www.psychiatry.org.

Paul Summergrad, M.D., President (2014-2015) 

Saul Levin, M.D., M.P.A., CEO and Medical Director

Yoshie Davison, M.S.W., Chief of Staff

Ranna Parekh, M.D., M.P.H., Director, Division of Diversity and Health Equity

Deborah Cohen, M.B.A., Senior Writer, Corporate Communications and Public Affairs

Adam Scott, Senior Graphic Designer, Integrated Marketing

Jeffrey Regan, M.A., Deputy Director, Department of Government Relations

American Psychiatric Association Foundation

The American Psychiatric Association Foundation (APAF), the philanthropic and educational arm of the American 
Psychiatric Association, works to create a mentally healthy nation by advancing mental health, overcoming mental 
illness, and eliminating stigma. The Foundation combines the knowledge and credibility of the world’s largest psychiatric 
organization with its patient and family-centered mission. Visit APAF at americanpsychiatricfoundation.org. 

Paul Burke, M.A., Executive Director

Amy Porfiri, M.B.A., Director, Finance and Administration

DISCLAIMER: This guide is intended for informational purposes only, with the understanding that no one should rely upon this information as the basis for 
medical decisions. Anyone requiring medical or other health care should consult a medical or health care professional. Any actions based on the information 
provided are entirely the responsibility of the user and of any medical or other health care professionals who are involved in such actions.

291291

http://www.americanpsychiatricfoundation.org


COPYRIGHT ©2018 
AMERICAN PSYCHIATRIC ASSOCIATION FOUNDATION. 
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

800 Maine Avenue, S.W., Suite 900, Washington, DC 20024 
psychiatry.org/faith

The American Psychiatric Association Foundation has produced two new resources to help faith leaders better 
understand mental illness and treatment, and better help individuals and families in their congregations facing mental 
health challenges. The resources,  Mental Health: A Guide for Faith Leaders and a companion two-page Quick 
Reference on Mental Health for Faith Leaders, are the culmination of work from the Mental Health and Faith 
Community Partnership, a collaboration of psychiatrists and faith leaders representing diverse faith traditions.

Many people facing a mental health challenge personally, or with a family member, turn first to a faith leader. And for 
many receiving psychiatric care, religion and spirituality are an important part of healing. In their role as “first 
responders,” faith leaders can help dispel misunderstandings, reduce stigma associated with mental illness and 
treatment, and facilitate access to treatment for those in need. The Guide and Quick Reference provide faith leaders 
with the knowledge, tools and resources to support that role. For more information see www.psychiatry.org/faith.

292292

www.psychiatry.org/faith
www.psychiatry.org/faith


Mayors’ Resource Guide on Behavioral Health Issues 

293293



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
 

2 

294294



 

 

                         

                     

                 

                     

           

           

       

       

               

                            

             

               

         

       

             

               

         

     ....................................................................................................................................

 .....................................................................................................................................................

Contents  

What Is Behavioral Health and Why Does it Matter to Mayors? ................................................................. 4
 

What You Can to Do to Engage Your Community......................................................................................... 6
 

1. National Children’s Mental Health Awareness Day...................................................................... 9
 

2. National Prevention Week and Substance Abuse Prevention Week............................................ 9
 

3. National Wellness Week ............................................................................................................. 10
 

4. National Recovery Month ........................................................................................................... 10
 

Suggested Resources ..................................................................................................................................12
 

Prevention/Promotion Resources .......................................................................................................... 12
 

1. Mental Health First Aid Training* ............................................................................................... 12
 

2. Three Bold Steps: A Toolkit for Community Leaders: Safe Schools/Healthy Students*............ 12
 

3. The Good Behavior Game* ......................................................................................................... 13
 

4. Triple P Positive Parenting Program* ......................................................................................... 13
 

5. Suicide Prevention ...................................................................................................................... 13
 

Treatment Resources.............................................................................................................................. 14
 

1. Crisis Intervention Team Training ............................................................................................... 14
 

2. National Child Traumatic Stress Network* ................................................................................. 15
 

3. Treatment Locator ...................................................................................................................... 15
 

Recovery Support 15
 

Appendix 16
 

3 

295295



What Is Behavioral Health and Why Does it Matter to Mayors? 

The term “behavioral health” refers to both mental health and substance use, and recognizes how the 

two are often inter‐related. Behavioral health problems include the misuse of alcohol or drugs, mental 

and substance use disorders, and suicide. Mental and substance use disorders include conditions such 

as schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, depression, and addiction to alcohol or prescription drugs. 

Preventing, treating, and supporting recovery from behavioral health problems is essential for 

communities to be healthy, safe, and successful. You can help ensure that everyone in your community 

has the best chance to succeed by addressing the behavioral health needs of your communities. You can 

do this by supporting the prevention and treatment of mental illness and supporting recovery from 

mental illness. Mayors and municipal leaders like you can have an important role in providing 

leadership and support to address the behavioral health needs of children, adults, and families in their 

communities. 

Unaddressed behavioral health problems may have a negative effect on the economy for cities, towns, 

and counties. Costs may increase across systems including health care, emergency and social services, 

special education, services for homelessness, law enforcement, criminal justice system, and health 

insurance for municipal employees. They may impact the productivity of local businesses and health 

care costs, impede the ability of children and youth to succeed in school, and lead to family and 

community disruption. 

Fortunately, many people with behavioral health problems can recover from these conditions and live 

healthy and productive lives. Many effective prevention, treatment, and recovery programs are 

available for mental and substance use disorders. Many mental and substance use disorders can be 

prevented and if symptoms do appear, and the severity of many of these problems can be reduced 

through programs focused on health promotion, illness prevention, and early treatment intervention. 

In addition, the passage of the Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act (MHPAEA) means that 

insurance groups that offer coverage for mental health or substance use disorders must provide 

coverage that is comparable to medical coverage. The Affordable Care Act (ACA) significantly extends 

the reach of MHPAEA's requirements. Because of the health care law, most small group and individual 

market health plans must also include coverage for mental health and substance use disorders as one of 

the ten categories of Essential Health Benefits, and that coverage must comply with the federal parity 

requirements set forth in MHPAEA. 

Mayors and local public officials can have a unique role in shaping community responses that will 

promote recovery, prevent behavioral health disorders, reduce the impact of behavioral health 

problems when they do occur and ensure that needed treatments and services are available. As a 

Mayor, city or county official, you can help amplify the message that the U.S. Department of Health and 

4 

296296



Human Services’ Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) is working to 

bring to communities and the nation: “Behavioral Health is Essential to Health; Prevention Works; 

People Recover; and Treatment is Effective.” 

5 

297297



What You Can to Do to Engage Your Community 

Engaging to prevent or reduce behavioral health problems in any community can help save money and 

improve lives by: 

Reducing 

 health care costs;

 emergency department use;

 prescription drug misuse;

 absenteeism from work and school;

 special education costs;

 crime;

Preventing 

 child maltreatment;

 tobacco, alcohol, and other drug use;

Improving 

 academic achievement, graduation rates, and college entry;

 community environment;

 community partnerships;

 family stability; and

 wages and productivity.

Community Conversations on Mental Health 

SAMHSA created a toolkit that can assist communities in organizing community conversations about 

mental health. Creating a local community conversation about mental health issues can be an effective 

way to bring community members together to determine how best to approach raising awareness and 

identifying ideas for solutions best suited for a specific local community. 

Local conversations can be formal or informal, big or small, and include a group of individuals who 

mirror the demographics and diversity of a given community or a group of persons who are simply 

interested in discussing the issues and ways to move forward. 

Local community organizations may be willing to organize and support these conversations and 

especially to collaborate with a mayor’s office to follow‐up on needed steps. The goal is a more 

informed and engaged citizenry willing to help increase mental health literacy and awareness and 

committed to helping those who need help are identified and assisted in receiving it. 

You can get copies of the toolkit at http://www.samhsa.gov/communityconversations/. 

6 

298298



Potential Next Steps 


Are you ready to implement policies, programs and strategies that promote positive mental and 

behavioral health and prevent behavioral health problems? The following steps could help move your 

community forward. Your mental health and public health agencies can collaborate together to assist 

with these processes. 

1.	 Assess Needs 

 Conduct a scan of your community to discover the risks and strengths present and how they 

affect the behavioral health of young people in your community. 

 Conduct a needs assessment to gather current data about your community’s behavioral health 

systems services and supports. Identify strengths, challenges and areas where there are gaps. 

2.	 Build Capacity 

 Reach out to others who have lead successful community efforts focusing on behavioral health; 

 Identify local leaders who are committed to take steps to address this issue and who are 

knowledgeable about behavioral health. 

	 Consider convening a summit on preventing and reducing mental, emotional, and substance use 

disorders in your community—ensuring representation from multiple sectors that can have an 

active role. Stakeholders might include: 

o	 Members of the business community 

o	 Groups involving families and parents of young people with mental health or substance 

abuse challenges 

o	 Representatives with lived experience of mental illness or substance use disorders 

o	 Youth and family leaders 

o	 Local college student representatives 

o	 Local charitable funders and foundations, faith‐based groups 

o	 School superintendents, board members, association/union representatives, teachers 

and students 

o	 Municipal and county law enforcement, city/county prosecutors, city/county parole and 

probation officers, emergency medical services and other first responders, crisis 

response teams and trauma resources 

o	 Local nonprofits (soup kitchens, housing providers, employment services, and others) 

o	 Local scientific experts and officials – researchers/university/college professors 

o	 Behavioral health providers or providers of prevention services 

o	 Local Tribal representatives 

7 

299299



3.	 Plan 

	 Identify goals, objectives, strategies and timelines 

	 Convene stakeholders. Consider using an effective facilitator or process leader to engage those 

present. Begin by creating a vision for behavioral health in your community. Include questions 

that are informed by your data regarding what to increase and what to decrease in the 

community. 

	 Consider the use of science informed community prevention frameworks such as: 

o	 The Strategic Prevention Framework: http://captus.samhsa.gov/access‐

resources/about‐strategic‐prevention‐framework‐spf 

o	 Communities that Care: http://store.samhsa.gov/product/Communities‐That‐Care‐

Curriculum/PEP12‐CTCPPT 

o	 Address the unique needs of different groups in your community paying attention to 

differences in culture, language, religion and gender or sexual identity 

 Discuss how to build on community strengths and move or reduce barriers; 

4.	 Implement 

 Determine needed next steps to address these issues.
 

 Engage others to help, create a timeline, and create a way to share early wins.
 

 Communicate with your community about successes.
 

5.	 Evaluate 

	 Consider developing an evaluation plan from the beginning. This plan could help your 

community be clear about what it is working to accomplish and how it plans to achieve these 

outcomes. An evaluation plan can be a valuable tool to help your community implement, 

monitor and continuously improve and refine its efforts. For more information about developing 

an evaluation plan, go to: 

http://nrepp.samhsa.gov/Courses/ProgramEvaluation/NREPP_0401_0010.html 

	 Develop processes to continually use data to inform decisions. 

8 

300300



Potential Events to Engage Your Community 

Are you looking for a way to engage your community in a conversation about behavioral health? 

Throughout the year, the nation recognizes many events related to mental health and substance use 

which can provide a great opportunity to get a discussion started. Here is a list of a few of the major 

events: 

1. National Children’s Mental Health Awareness Day:  

When: Second week in May 

Program Description: National Children’s Mental Health Awareness Day helps raise awareness 

about the importance of children's mental health. Over 1,100 communities participated in 

2012. Cities and towns across the nation participate in the annual National Children’s Mental 

Health Awareness Day by planning local events on the declared day during the second week in 

May each year, and throughout the year. As a mayor, you can work with your community to 

identify local priorities and then use the Proclamation Template to declare your city’s 

commitment. http://www.samhsa.gov/children/pnb_proclamation.asp. The Awareness Day 

materials include monthly data points, ideas from other communities for community activities 

and resources to help make your communities efforts a success. These resources can be used 

with local news and media outlets, social media such as Facebook and Twitter. 

Additional information: Examples of community activities from previous years’ events can be 

reviewed at http://www.samhsa.gov/children/state.asp 

2. National Prevention Week and Substance Abuse Prevention Week: 

When: May (National Prevention Week) and October (Substance Abuse Prevention Week) 

Description: National Prevention Week is an annual health observance dedicated to increasing 

public awareness of, and steps to address, substance abuse and mental health issues. This 

observance is an opportunity to join with other individuals, organizations, and coalitions in your 

community to promote prevention efforts, educate others about behavioral health issues, and 

create and strengthen community partnerships. National Prevention Week usually takes place 

in May each year during Mental Health Month. 

Substance Abuse Prevention Week usually occurs in October. National themes often emphasize 

that the prevention of substance abuse and promotion of mental health starts with us and with 
9 

301301



the choices each of us makes in our own lives. Through our choices, we can set an example of 

health and well‐being for others. With our voices—whether spoken or written—we can raise 

awareness of behavioral health issues and help create healthier and safer communities. 

Communities can join in planning for the next annual National Prevention Week. 

Additional information: 

http://beta.samhsa.gov/prevention‐week 

3. National Wellness Week

When: September

Description: National Wellness Week is part of SAMHSA’s Wellness Initiative. The Wellness

Initiative was established to increase life expectancy by promoting wellness as part of the

recovery path for substance use, mental health problems, and trauma. Mayors can play an

active role in this effort by signing the Pledge for Wellness on behalf of their communities and

by participating in National Wellness Week in September in a variety of ways. A mayor can

partner with clinicians, recovery centers, and faith‐ and community‐based organizations to

encourage local participation in National Wellness Week, sharing messages of how the

dimensions of wellness are part of recovery from trauma and/or mental health and substance

use problems. A mayor may decide to issue a proclamation for National Wellness Week,

participate in local events, or speak to the media about the importance of decreasing the

disparities for people with mental health and substance use problems in the community.

Additional information: http://www.promoteacceptance.samhsa.gov/10by10/default.aspx and

email 10x10@samhsa.gov for further information.

4. National Recovery Month

When: September

Description: An annual event held in September to recognize the gains made by those who

have attained recovery from substance use and mental health disorders. The observance also

recognizes the contributions of addiction and mental health treatment providers to the lives of

those who have achieved recovery. Each year, millions of people gather in walks, rallies, town

hall meetings, picnics, and other celebratory events in recognition of the contributions being

made by those who have achieved recovery and in recognition of the role that treatment

10 

302302

mailto:10x10@samhsa.gov


programs, mutual support, and other recovery efforts are playing in the lives of those in 

recovery. The observance targets individuals in recovery, their families, treatment providers 

and health care workers, civic and elected leaders, the private sector, and the general public and 

calls on everyone to “Join the Voices for Recovery.” Mayors can find sample proclamations in an 

Information Kit (http://www.recoverymonth.gov/Recovery‐Month‐Kit.aspx) that is adaptable 

their needs, as well as sample media materials and op‐ed pieces that facilitate public 

involvement in this effort. Communities and states can benefit from engaging in this 

observance, as millions of Americans are living in recovery from substance use or mental 

disorders nationwide. 

Additional information: www.recoverymonth.gov. 

5. Mental Illness Awareness Week

When: October

Description: In 1990, Congress established the first full week of October as Mental Illness 

Awareness Week (MIAW) in recognition of the efforts of the National Alliance on Mental Illness 

to raise awareness about mental illness across the nation. Since then, mental health advocates 

across the country have joined with others in their communities to sponsor activities, large or 

small, for public education about mental illness. MIAW often coincides with the National Day of 

Prayer for Mental Illness Recovery and Understanding and with National Depression Screening 

Day, both also in early October. MIAW provides a good opportunity for mayors to raise 

community awareness of the challenges of mental illness and the importance of screening for 

depression or other mental health issues. It is also an opportunity for local media to promote 

stories about mental health issues and persons who have experienced mental illness and are 

contributing to their families and their community. 

Please visit www.SAMHSA.gov for additional SAMHSA resources. 

11 

303303

http://www.SAMHSA.gov
http://www.recoverymonth.gov
http://www.recoverymonth.gov/Recovery-Month-Kit.aspx


Suggested Resources 


Below are some useful behavioral health resources that you can consider as you plan your community 

activities. Resources denoted with an asterisk (*) are provided by external organizations. The inclusion 

of these resources does not constitute an endorsement of these organizations. These organizations and 

their respective websites do not necessarily represent the views or opinions of SAMHSA or HHS. 

Prevention/Promotion Resources: 

1. Mental Health First Aid Training* 

Description: Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) is an interactive 12‐hour course that presents an 

overview of mental illness and substance use disorders in the United States. Those who take 

the 12‐hour course to certify as Mental Health First Aiders learn a five‐step plan encompassing 

the skills, resources, and knowledge to help an individual in crisis connect with appropriate 

professional, peer, social, and self‐help care. Individuals who participate in this public education 

program help their community identify, understand, and respond to signs of mental illnesses 

and substance use disorders. 

Additional Information: The MHFA training is operated and disseminated by the National 

Council for Community Behavioral Healthcare. They can be reached at 1701 K Street, NW., Suite 

400, Washington, DC 20006; phone: 202–684–7457; email: 

Communications@thenationalcouncil.org or visit www.TheNationalCouncil.org and 

http://www.mentalhealthfirstaid.org/cs/ 

2. Three Bold Steps: 	A Toolkit for Community Leaders: Safe Schools/Healthy 

Students* 

Description: Schools, family, youth, and community partners are the target audience for this 

guide. Community and school leaders learn to address challenges such as poverty and violence; 

mental health and substance abuse issues; growing truancy, expulsion, suspension, and dropout 

rates; disproportionate rates of achievement among children and youth of color; and shrinking 

resources. The Actions in Bold Step 1, 2 and 3 will guide you through the process of forging an 

effective school‐community partnership. Each action will contain an overview, voices from the 

field, and appropriate resources and tools. 

Additional information: http://3boldsteps.promoteprevent.org/ 

12 

304304

http://3boldsteps.promoteprevent.org
http://www.mentalhealthfirstaid.org/cs
http://www.TheNationalCouncil.org
mailto:Communications@thenationalcouncil.org


3. The Good Behavior Game* 

Description: The Good Behavior Game teaches children to have control over their attention and 

not be distracted by negative behavior from others, and it works by reinforcing appropriate 

social and classroom behavior by teams of children. The strategy works by addressing early 

aggressive and inattentive behavior that, left unchecked, can evolve into a well‐documented 

downward developmental trajectory and lead to multiple, costly problems in later life. 

Additional information: Contact Dennis D. Embry, Ph.D., President and Senior Scientist, PAXIS 

Institute, P.O. Box 31205, Tucson, AZ, 85751; phone: 520–299–6770; email: dde@paxis.org; or 

Jeanne Poduska, Sc.D.; Director, Center for Integrating Education and Prevention Research in 

Schools, American Institutes for Research; email: jpoduska@air.org; phone: 410–347–8553. 

4. Triple P Positive Parenting Program*  

Description: The Triple P Positive Parenting Program is a multilevel system or suite of parenting 

education and support strategies for families with children from ages 0–12, with extensions to 

families with teenagers ages 13–16. Triple P is designed to prevent social, emotional, 

behavioral, and developmental problems in children by enhancing their parents’ knowledge, 

skills, and confidence. The program, which also can be used for early intervention and 

treatment, is founded on social learning theory and draws on cognitive, developmental, and 

public health theories. The program offers parents five intervention levels of increasing 

intensity to meet each family’s specific needs. 

Additional information: Triple P America, phone: 803–451–2278, email: contact.us@triplep.net 

5. Suicide Prevention: 

Suicide Prevention Lifeline: 

Description: The National Suicide Prevention Lifeline provides free and confidential emotional 

support to people in suicidal crisis or emotional distress 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Since its 

inception, the Lifeline has engaged in a variety of initiatives to improve crisis services and 

advance suicide prevention. Additionally, materials and resources are available to provide to 

your community. 

Mayors can assure individuals and groups in the community that “No matter what problems you 

are dealing with, we want to help you find a reason to keep living. By calling 1‐800‐273‐TALK 

13 

305305

mailto:contact.us@triplep.net
mailto:jpoduska@air.org
mailto:dde@paxis.org


(8255) you’ll be connected to a skilled, trained counselor at a crisis center in your area, anytime 

24/7.” 

Additional information: http://www.suicidepreventionlifeline.org/ 

Suicide Prevention Resource Center: 

Description: The Suicide Prevention Resource Center (SPRC) is the nation’s only federally 

supported resource center devoted to advancing the National Strategy for Suicide Prevention 

(http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/national‐strategy‐suicide‐

prevention/full_report‐rev.pdf). Your community can benefit from understanding the strategic 

priorities and engaging in the development and implementation of community strategies. The 

SPRC provides technical assistance, training, and materials to increase the knowledge and 

expertise of suicide prevention practitioners and other professionals serving people at risk for 

suicide. These resources can be helpful to your community’s efforts to promote collaboration 

among a variety of stakeholders and organizations in your community and can play a role in 

developing your community’s strategies in preventing suicide and self injury. 

Additional information: http://www.sprc.org/ 

Treatment Resources: 

1. Crisis Intervention Team Training

Description: The crisis intervention team model is a strategy for improving the outcomes of law

enforcement interactions with people experiencing a behavioral health crisis. The model was

first developed by the Memphis Police Department in response to a shooting by an officer of a

man with mental illness. Training for law enforcement officers is only one component of the

model. Community collaboration, integration of people with lived experience and family

members, and a law enforcement‐friendly crisis stabilization center are also essential elements

of the crisis intervention team model.

Crisis intervention team training is intended for sworn officers of law enforcement agencies and 

first responder/911 dispatchers. The model has been adapted for corrections officers working in 

jails and prisons. 

14 

306306

http://www.sprc.org
http://www.suicidepreventionlifeline.org


Additional information: http://store.samhsa.gov/product/Crisis‐Counseling‐Assistance‐and‐

Training‐Program‐CCP‐/SMA09‐4373. 

The SAMHSA Gains Center at http://gainscenter.samhsa.gov/ emphasizes the provision of 

consultation and technical assistance to help communities achieve integrated systems of mental 

health and substance abuse services for individuals in contact with the justice system. 

2. National Child Traumatic Stress Network*

Description: The NCTSN provides information and resources to help communities serve the

needs of traumatized children and their families and raise public awareness of the scope and

serious impact of child traumatic stress on the safety and healthy development of America's

children and youth.

Additional information: http://www.nctsnet.org/

3. Treatment Locator:

Description: SAMHSA provides an online resource for locating mental health treatment facilities

and programs. The Mental Health Treatment Locator section of the Behavioral Health

Treatment Services Locator lists facilities providing mental health services to persons with

mental illness.

As a Mayor, you might consider creating a locator for substance use treatment and mental

health in your own community, region and state. This might be in the form of an information

card of city resources with the logo from your city—perhaps a wallet‐sized card that can be

carried by residents of your community. These might be placed in your local health

departments, hospitals, clinics, schools, faith organizations, and neighborhood settings.

Additional information: http://www.samhsa.gov/treatment/index.aspx.

Recovery Support: 

SAMHSA has a wide array of programs and information resources to support recovery. For 

more information on SAMHSA’s resources and working definition of Recovery, please visit: 

http://www.samhsa.gov/recovery. 

15 

307307

http://www.samhsa.gov/treatment/index.aspx
http://www.nctsnet.org
http://gainscenter.samhsa.gov


Appendix 

Frequently Asked Questions about Mental Health: 

Where can I find resources to help young people and their families in my community who have 

mental health challenges? 

It is important to have a clear picture of what your community’s needs, gaps and strengths are in 

responding to the mental health needs of young people and their families. A comprehensive system of 

care requires leadership and cross system efforts. Work closely with local, state, foundation, business, 

association, family, neighborhood, youth, national partners and others to stay on top of information 

and resources that may assist your community in advancing its mental health planning efforts. Beyond 

what your community resources are, SAMHSA offers a Mental Health Facility Locator 

(http://findtreatment.samhsa.gov/) for mental health and substance abuse treatment programs and 

resources nationwide. 

Where can I find information about mental health, mental illness, or mental disorders? 

Public information about mental health and mental illness is available at www.mentalhealth.gov. 

Publications on mental health topics can be ordered online from SAMHSA Publications 

(http://store.samhsa.gov/home). The following list includes examples of organizations that may be 

able to provide you with additional information: 

 American Psychological Association (http://www.apa.org/)

 Federation of Families for Children’s Mental Health (http://ffcmh.org/)

 National Alliance for the Mentally Ill (http://www.nami.org/)

 National Association of School Psychologists (http://www.nasponline.org/)

 American Psychiatric Association (http://www.psych.org/)

 American Association of Community Psychiatrists (http://www.communitypsychiatry.org/)

 American Psychiatric Nurses Association (http://www.apna.org/i4a/pages/index.cfm?pageid=1)

 National Council for Behavioral Health (http://www.thenationalcouncil.org/)

 National Coalition for Mental Health Recovery (http://www.ncmhr.org/)

 National Association of County Behavioral Health & Developmental Disability Directors

(http://www.nacbhdd.org/)

 National Institute of Mental Health, Public Information Branch

(http://www.nimh.nih.gov/index.shtml)

 SAMHSA Publications (http://store.samhsa.gov/home)

16 

308308

http://store.samhsa.gov/home
http://www.nimh.nih.gov/index.shtml
http://www.nacbhdd.org
http://www.ncmhr.org
http://www.thenationalcouncil.org
http://www.apna.org/i4a/pages/index.cfm?pageid=1
http://www.communitypsychiatry.org
http://www.psych.org
http://www.nasponline.org
http://www.nami.org
http://ffcmh.org
http://www.apa.org
http://store.samhsa.gov/home
http://www.mentalhealth.gov
http://findtreatment.samhsa.gov


The above referenced list of organizations is not comprehensive and does not constitute an 

endorsement of these organizations. These organizations and their respective websites do not 

necessarily represent the views or opinions of SAMHSA or HHS. 

What resources are available to help my community with suicide prevention efforts? 

The Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) considers suicide a significant public health 

problem. One activity to address Suicide Prevention is the Suicide Prevention Resource Center (SPRC) 

(http://www.sprc.org/). The SPRC provides prevention support, training, and resources to assist 

organizations and individuals to develop suicide prevention programs, interventions and policies, and 

to advance the National Strategy for Suicide Prevention 

(http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/national‐strategy‐suicide‐prevention/full_report‐

rev.pdf). The National Strategy for Suicide Prevention, collaborates and directs necessary prevention 

services and programs that are both public and private. Federal collaborators include the Centers for 

Disease Control and Prevention (http://www.cdc.gov/), the Health Resources and Services 

Administration (http://www.hrsa.gov/index.html), the National Institutes of Health 

(http://www.nih.gov/), the Office of the Surgeon General (http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/), the 

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) (http://www.samhsa.gov/), 

and the private collaborators include advocates, clinicians, researchers and suicide survivors. 

The National, 24‐hour, toll‐free telephone suicide prevention lifelines are available at:
 

 National Suicide Prevention Lifeline (http://www.suicidepreventionlifeline.org/) at

1.800.273.8255

 National Hopeline Network (http://www.hopeline.com/) at 1.800.784.2433

These resources provide immediate assistance and connect the caller to the nearest available suicide 

prevention and mental health service provider. 

Please visit www.SAMHSA.gov for additional SAMHSA resources. 

17 

309309

http://www.SAMHSA.gov
http://www.hopeline.com
http://www.suicidepreventionlifeline.org
http://www.SAMHSA.gov
http://www.surgeongeneral.gov
http://www.nih.gov
http://www.hrsa.gov/index.html
http://www.cdc.gov
http://www.sprc.org


 

Web: www.MentalHealthFirstAid.org Email: info@MentalHealthFirstAid.org 

 

 

Mental Health First Aid for Military Members, Veterans, and their Families 
 

While military service often fosters resilience in individuals and 

families, some service members may experience mental health or 

substance use challenges. Thirty percent of active duty and reserve 

military personnel deployed in Iraq and Afghanistan have a mental 

health condition requiring treatment – about 730,000 men and 

women – with many experiencing post-traumatic stress disorder and 

major depression. Sadly, less than 50 percent of returning veterans 

in need receive any mental health treatment. The U.S. Department 

of Veterans Affairs reports that approximately 22 veterans die by 

suicide every day.   

 
 
Mental Health First Aid is a valuable resource that can make a difference in the lives of the more than 22 
million veterans, their families, and the communities they live in.   
 

 

WHAT IS MENTAL HEALTH FIRST AID? 

Mental Health First Aid USA is a live training program 

— like regular First Aid or CPR — designed to give 

people the skills to help someone who is developing a 

mental health problem or experiencing a mental 

health crisis. The course uses role-playing and 

simulations to demonstrate how to recognize and 

respond to the warning signs of specific illnesses. 

 

Mental Health First Aid teaches participants a five-

step action plan, ALGEE, to support someone 

developing signs and symptoms of a mental illness or 

in an emotional crisis: 

 Assess for risk of suicide or harm 

 Listen nonjudgmentally 

 Give reassurance and information 

 Encourage appropriate professional help 

 Encourage self-help and other support 

strategies 

 

Since 2008, more than 150,000 people have been 

trained in Mental Health First Aid through a network of 

more than 3,700 certified instructors. 

 

Those trained include family members of persons 

with mental health challenges, healthcare 

professionals, first responders, law enforcement 

officials, public service employees, school and 

college staff, clergy and caring citizens. 

 

WHY MENTAL HEALTH FIRST AID? 

Mental Health First Aid helps people know that 

mental illnesses are real, common, and treatable 

and that it’s OK to seek help. Research has 

demonstrated the effectiveness of this program to 

improve knowledge of mental disorders and 

substance use, remove fear and misunderstanding, 

and enable those trained to offer concrete 

assistance.  

 

The program is listed in SAMHSA’s National 

Registry of Evidence Based Programs and 

Practices. Mental Health First Aid is a low-cost, 

high-impact program that generates tremendous 

community awareness and support.  

 

310310



 

Web: www.MentalHealthFirstAid.org Email: info@MentalHealthFirstAid.org 

 

 

MENTAL HEALTH FIRST AID FOR VETERANS 

Family members and personnel working with military and families are often not aware of how to engage veterans 

with mental illnesses and addictions. In addition to the impact of military service on the veteran, each has a circle of 

family (significant other, children, parents, siblings, etc.) and friends who are also impacted by their military service. 

Mental Health First Aid for Veterans, available beginning April 2014, focuses on the unique experiences and needs 

of the military, veteran and family population. 

 

Individuals trained in Mental Health First Aid for Veterans can help to: 

 Break down the stigma associated with mental illness like anxiety, depression, post-traumatic stress 
disorder (PTSD), schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and substance use disorders 

 Reach out to those who suffer in silence, reluctant to seek help 
 Let veterans know that support is available in their community 
 Provide community resource information 
 Make mental healthcare and treatment accessible to thousands in need 

 
Key components of Mental Health First Aid for Veterans include: 

 A discussion of military culture and its relevance to the topic of mental health  
 A discussion of the specific risk factors faced by many service members and their families, such as trauma 

(both mental and physical), stress, and separation 
 Applying the ALGEE action plan in a number of scenarios designed specifically for service members, their 

families and those that support them 
 A review of common mental health resources for service members, their families and those who support 

them 
 

Nearly 100 Mental Health First Aid courses have been provided to organizations that serve the military, veterans, 
and their families, including: 

 Army One Source, National webinar  
 Veterans Affairs and Veteran's Restoration Quarters 

in Buncombe County and the Asheville Buncombe 
Community Mission, North Carolina 

 Delaware County Veteran Affairs, Iowa 
 Ft. Leonard Wood, Missouri  
 Army National Guard and Air National Guard, 

Orange County, California 
 The University of Texas Pan American (UTPA), 

Texas 
 Wounded Warriors, Texas 
 California Army Guard & Reserve and U.S. Air Force 

personnel at Beale Air Force Base, California 
 Beyond the Yellow Ribbon, Minnesota 
 Family Life Chaplains Training Center at Fort Hood, 

Texas 

 Spokane VA Medical Center, Washington 

 Salt Lake City VA, Utah 

 Veterans Administration, Albuquerque, New 

Mexico 

 Charlotte Hall Veterans Home, Maryland 

 Hutchinson & Kansas City National Guard 

Armory, Kansas 

 California State University Veterans Group, 

Pomona, California 

 Veteran’s Affairs Hospital, Phoenix, AZ 

 The National Veterans Center, Washington, DC 

 

Upcoming courses will be held April 29-30 in Dubuque, Iowa; May 2 in Brookfield, Wis.; 
and May 16 in Dallas, Texas.  
 
Visit www.MentalHealthFirstAid.org/cs/veterans-military/  to find local instructors to set up 
a course near you. Look for the blue veterans icon on their profile. 

311311

http://www.mentalhealthfirstaid.org/cs/veterans-military/


Words Matter

nami.org/stigmafree

312312



Blogs
Home » UF/IFAS Extension Brevard County » What Is Mental Health ?

What is Mental
Health ?
� � � �

Written By Angelika Keene, Community
Development Agent

May is Mental Health Awareness Month, and since
the pandemic, a lot more people, organizations,
etc., have been starting to have conversations
about mental health. But what is mental health,
what are the barriers to it, and what can we do to
improve it?

According to the World Health Organization (WHO),
mental health is a state of mental well-being that
enables people to cope with the stresses of life,
realize their abilities, learn well, work well, and
contribute to their community. It is a critical
component in our overall physical health; simply
put, there is no health without mental health.

313313



Similar to physical health, there is an ecological
model of mental health, including individuals,
society, environment, etc. Individual factors may
include emotional skills, genetics, childhood
experiences, and substance. Social, economic, and
environmental factors may include economic
status, social interaction, quality education, and
neighborhood structure (safe or close to violence).
Whether these factors have a positive or negative
impact, it is essential to know that interacting
determinants of mental health serve to enhance or
undermine mental health. 

The good news is that, like all health, mental health
can change over time. There are active steps that
individuals and the community can take.

1. Fact vs. Fiction: The first step in addressing
any concern or making improvements is to
have the correct information; finding reliable
sources about mental health is essential. For
example, start with sites like these: National
Institute of Mental Health: NIMH studies mental
health in the US, and its website provides
information about mental health and related
topics. National Alliance on Mental
Illness: NAMI is a grassroots organization that
helps to reduce misinformation around mental
health and provides resources. American
Psychiatric Association: APA is an evidence-
based website with information for patients and
families. 

2. Know your strengths. It is essential to address
issues or make improvements to understand all
available resources. These resources will look

314314



different, but some examples might be national
suicide hotlines (988), peer support groups,
EAP (Employee Assistance Programs),
community groups, access to therapists, etc.
For national and Florida resources: Mental
Health Links | Florida Department of Health
(floridahealth.gov) For Brevard-specific
resources:
https://sites.google.com/view/prevention-
services-resources/local-resources/yellow-
card?authuser=0

3. Talk about it: Get comfortable having open and
honest conversations. Talking about mental
health can be difficult, whether you are the
person experiencing a mental illness or you
know someone who is. It is essential to
communicate about what you are experiencing
so you can receive the correct treatment and
support, similar to how you would if you were
experiencing physical symptoms. There are
many courses and opportunities to learn, one
example of which is Mental Health First Aid.   

To learn more about mental health programming in
Brevard County, contact angelika.keene@ufl.edu.   

You can also register for the next Adult Mental
Health First Aid course on Wednesday, May 29,
2024, by clicking: https://tinyurl.com/bdzxu627

References:

About mental health (2024) Centers for Disease
Control and Prevention. Available at:
https://www.cdc.gov/mentalhealth/learn/index.htm
(Accessed: 22 April 2024). 

315315



Mental health and well-being ecological model:
Leadership Education in Maternal & Child Public
Health (2023) Leadership Education in Maternal &
Child Public Health |. Available at:
https://mch.umn.edu/resources/mhecomodel/
(Accessed: 22 April 2024). 

Mental Health (no date) World Health Organization.
Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-
sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-our-
response (Accessed: 22 April 2024)

2

by Morgan Roth
Posted: May 9, 2024

Category: Health & Nutrition, Work & Life
Tags: Community, Emotional Health, Healh, Health
And Wellness, Health Benefits, Mental Health,
Mental Health Awareness, Mental Health First Aid

More From Blogs.IFAS
●

●

●

●

Egg Day June 3rd

Take A Sip Of Comfort - January Is National Soup Month

Unearthing The World Of Cemetery Turf Care

New Year, Resolutions, And New Habits: Setting Realistic
Goals In 2024

316316



Thursday, September 26

Mental Health First Aid Training - Youth
Did you know that 1 in 5 teens and young adults live with a mental health condition?

By UF/IFAS Extension Brevard County

9.4k attendees hosted 

Date and time

Thursday, September 26 · 9am - 3:30pm EDT

Location

UF/IFAS Extension - Brevard County

3695 Lake Drive Cocoa, FL 32926

1.3k followers

1.3k followers

Follow

Follow

Show map

$65 – $85

Get tickets

Find my tickets Log In Sign Up

Search events

317317



Refund Policy

Refunds up to 16 days before event
Eventbrite's fee is nonrefundable.

About this event

Event lasts 6 hours 30 minutes

Youth Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) teaches you how to identify, understand, and
respond to signs of mental health and substance use challenges among children and
adolescents ages 12-18. Like physical First Aid and CPR, MHFA helps you assist someone
experiencing a mental health or substance use crisis until professional assistance is
obtained or the crisis is resolved. Studies show that MHFA training reduces stigma,
improves knowledge, and increases first-aid actions toward people experiencing mental
health and substance use challenges.

The course will cover the following:

Common signs and symptoms of mental health challenges in this age group, including
anxiety, depression, eating disorders, and attention deficit hyperactive disorder
(ADHD).

Common signs and symptoms of substance use challenges.

How to interact with a child or adolescent in crisis.

How to connect the youth with help.

Expanded content on trauma, substance use, self-care, and the impact of social media
and bullying.

All registered learners will complete a 2-hour, self-paced online assignment PRIOR TO THE
TRAINING, and participate in a 5-hour, in-person Instructor-led training. The 2-hour
online portion MUST be completed before attending the instructor-led training.
Failure to complete the online portion will result in participants being turned away at the
door.

In the event that you need to reschedule your in-person training, please contact the
instructor at angelika.keene@ufl.edu

Please note - no lunch is provided during this training.

Cost:

318318



$85.00 with printed books and materials

$65.00 with only electronic copies of books and materials

NOTE: Classes and events may be canceled at any time due to low registration or other
circumstances, with full refunds issued for paid events. Similar classes or events often are
offered on future dates.

The University of Florida is committed to providing universal access to all of our events.
For disability accommodations such as sign language interpreters and listening devices,
please contact the UF/IFAS Brevard County Extension Office at brevard@ifas.ufl.edu or
(321) 633-1702 at least 2 weeks in advance. Advance notice is necessary to arrange for
some accessibility needs.

Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Institution

Tags

United States Events Florida Events Things to do in Cocoa West, FL

Cocoa West Classes Cocoa West Health Classes #training #workshop

#mental_health #mental_health_first_aid #mental_wellness

#mental_health_training #mental_health_awareness #mental_wellbeing

#mental_health_support #mental_health_courses

About the organizer

319319



Manage Cookie Preferences Do Not Sell or Share My Personal Information Privacy

© 2024 Eventbrite

● ●

UF/IFAS Extension Brevard County

The University of Florida Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences (UF/IFAS) Extension in

Brevard County is a partnership between UF/IFAS, the United States Department of

Agriculture (USDA), and Brevard County government, providing educational programs based

on the latest research and technology.

The University of Florida is committed to providing universal access to all of our events. Fo…

disability accommodations such as sign language interpreters and listening devices, please

contact the UF/IFAS Brevard County Extension Office at brevard@ifas.ufl.edu or (321) 633-

1702 at least 2 weeks in advance. Advance notice is necessary to arrange for some

accessibility needs.

Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Institution

Contact
brevard@ifas.ufl.edu (321) 633-1702 3695 Lake Drive Cocoa, FL 32926

Hours
Monday - Friday 8 am - 5 pm

 

View more

1.3k followers

9.4k attendees hosted

Contact Follow

Report this event

320320



Thursday, October 24

Adult Mental Health First Aid Training
Nearly 1 in 5 people in the U.S. live with a mental illness. Learn how to support your friends, families, and
neighbors with this training.

By UF/IFAS Extension Brevard County

9.4k attendees hosted 

!

Date and time

Thursday, October 24 · 9am - 4pm EDT

Location

UF/IFAS Extension - Brevard County

3695 Lake Drive Cocoa, FL 32926

Refund Policy

Refunds up to 16 days before event
Eventbrite's fee is nonrefundable.

About this event

Event lasts 7 hours

1.3k followers

1.3k followers

Follow

Follow

Show map

$65 – $85

Get tickets

Find my tickets Log In Sign Up

Search events
Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) is skills-based training that teaches people how to identify, understand and
respond to signs and symptoms of a mental health or substance use challenge. Like physical First Aid and CPR,
MHFA helps you assist someone experiencing a mental health or substance use crisis until professional assistance
is obtained or the crisis is resolved. Studies show that MHFA training reduces stigma, improves knowledge, and
increases first-aid actions toward people experiencing mental health and substance use challenges.

During the course, you’ll build the skills and confidence to reach out and provide initial support to struggling
people. You’ll also learn how to help connect them to appropriate support.

AFTER THE COURSE, YOU’LL BE ABLE TO:

Recognize common signs and symptoms of mental health challenges.

Understand how to interact with a person in crisis.

Know how to connect a person with help.

Use self-care tools and techniques.

Delivery:

All registered learners will complete a 2-hour, self-paced online assignment PRIOR TO THE TRAINING, and
participate in a 5.5-hour, in-person Instructor-led training. Please note- no lunch is provided during this
training.

Cost:

$85.00 with printed books and materials

$65.00 with only electronic copies of books and materials

NOTE: Classes and events may be canceled at any time due to low registration or other circumstances, with full
refunds issued for paid events. Similar classes or events often are offered on future dates.

The University of Florida is committed to providing universal access to all of our events. For disability
accommodations such as sign language interpreters and listening devices, please contact the UF/IFAS Brevard
County Extension Office at brevard@ifas.ufl.edu or (321) 633-1702 at least 2 weeks in advance. Advance notice is
necessary to arrange for some accessibility needs.

Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Institution

Tags

United States Events Florida Events Things to do in Cocoa West, FL Cocoa West Classes

Cocoa West Health Classes #training #workshop #mental_health #mental_health_first_aid

#mental_wellness #mental_health_training #mental_health_awareness #mental_wellbeing

#mental_health_support #mental_health_courses

About the organizer

321321



Manage Cookie Preferences Do Not Sell or Share My Personal Information Privacy

© 2024 Eventbrite

● ●

UF/IFAS Extension Brevard County

The University of Florida Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences (UF/IFAS) Extension in Brevard County is a

partnership between UF/IFAS, the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), and Brevard County government,

providing educational programs based on the latest research and technology.

The University of Florida is committed to providing universal access to all of our events. For disability accommodations

such as sign language interpreters and listening devices, please contact the UF/IFAS Brevard County Extension Office…

at brevard@ifas.ufl.edu or (321) 633-1702 at least 2 weeks in advance. Advance notice is necessary to arrange for

some accessibility needs.

Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Institution

Contact
brevard@ifas.ufl.edu (321) 633-1702 3695 Lake Drive Cocoa, FL 32926

Hours
Monday - Friday 8 am - 5 pm

 

View more

1.3k followers

9.4k attendees hosted

Contact Follow

Report this event

322322



Find a Course or Instructor

Mental Health First Aid is a skills-based training course that teaches participants to identify, understand
and respond to mental health and substance use challenges. Find a Mental Health First Aid

course or Instructor near you using the search tool below.

Adult Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) courses teach adult learners how to assist fellow adults, while Youth MHFA
courses teach adult learners how to assist adolescents between the ages of 12 and 18.

These courses are available completely in-person through an Instructor-led training, partially in-person (called
Blended In-person) or completely virtually (called Blended Virtual).

The location for Blended Virtual courses will appear as “N/A” as they can be taken from anywhere in the United
States with an Internet connection.

Course Details

COURSE TYPE COST:

$0.00

COURSE SCHEDULE

Day 1 Start
Date

Day 1 End
Date

10/14/2024
08:00 am

10/14/2024
05:00 pm

FUNDING SOURCE

SAMHSA FY21 – MHAT (Mental
Health Awareness Training) Grant

VENUE NAME

Titusville Police Department

ADDRESS

1100 John Glenn Blvd

CITY

Titusville

STATE

Florida

ZIPCODE

32780-
7910

VENUE NOTES

INSTRUCTOR:

Yvonne L. Ball (/instructor-
details/25719?
cd=541089&lo=Brevard%20County,
%20FL,%20USA&la=28.263933&ln
=-80.7214417&di=25&ssd=10/01/20
24&sct=Y&t=c&headless=true&nf=&
st=&sdt=after&sd=&ed=&blended=0
&blendedvirtual=0&inperson=0&cs-
1=1&sort-cs-start_date=3&idp=1)

CO-FACILITATOR:

Luis Rivera (/instructor-
details/25736?
cd=541089&lo=Brevard%20County,
%20FL,%20USA&la=28.263933&ln
=-80.7214417&di=25&ssd=10/01/20
24&sct=Y&t=c&headless=true&nf=&

Y

     Login Store Subscribe

GET TRAINED BE AN INSTRUCTOR IMPACT ABOUT MHFA

323323



24&sct=Y&t=c&headless=true&nf=&
st=&sdt=after&sd=&ed=&blended=0
&blendedvirtual=0&inperson=0&cs-
1=1&sort-cs-start_date=3&idp=1)

INSTRUCTOR EMAIL:

Yvonne.Ballmhfa@gmail.com
(mailto:Yvonne.Ballmhfa@gmail.co
m)

INSTRUCTOR PHONE:

CO-FACILITATOR EMAIL:

luis.rivera@ucf.edu
(mailto:luis.rivera@ucf.edu)

CO-FACILITATOR PHONE:

Phone: 4078498957
Mobile: 2692824559

REGISTRATION INFORMATION

In Person Youth Mental Health
Class

CONTACT EMAIL

yball444@gmail.com
(mailto:yball444@gmail.com)

CONTACT PHONE

4074090084

Course Location

DONATE  FAQ  PRIVACY POLICY
SITEMAP

� National Council for Mental Wellbeing
� Missouri Department of Mental Health

Mental Health First Aid USA is managed,
operated, and disseminated by the:

� Back to Top

©2024 National Council for Mental Wellbeing. All Rights Reserved.

324324



Find a Course or Instructor

Mental Health First Aid is a skills-based training course that teaches participants to identify, understand
and respond to mental health and substance use challenges. Find a Mental Health First Aid

course or Instructor near you using the search tool below.

Adult Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) courses teach adult learners how to assist fellow adults, while Youth MHFA
courses teach adult learners how to assist adolescents between the ages of 12 and 18.

These courses are available completely in-person through an Instructor-led training, partially in-person (called
Blended In-person) or completely virtually (called Blended Virtual).

The location for Blended Virtual courses will appear as “N/A” as they can be taken from anywhere in the United
States with an Internet connection.

Find Courses Find Courses by Instructor Name

FILTER BY:

START DATE

10/14/2024

COURSE TYPE

All

FIND BY LOCATION

Melbourne Beach, FL, USA

DISTANCE FROM ME

25 miles

Courses

Instructors

COURSES NEAR: Melbourne Beach, FL, USA

Click on any column heading to sort

DOWNLOAD RESULTS TO EXCEL

     Login Store Subscribe



GET TRAINED BE AN INSTRUCTOR IMPACT

ABOUT MHFA

325325



View results on map

Course Status

Open

Closed

� Course Delivery Format

Completely In-Person

Blended In-Person

Blended Virtual

� Courses

Adult

Youth

Korean - Adult

Korean - Youth

Chinese - Adult

Chinese - Youth

Khmer - Adult

Khmer - Youth

Spanish - Adult

Spanish - Youth

� Community-specific
Course

� Start Date

START DATE �
COURSE

TYPE
FORMAT INSTRUCTOR

FUNDING
SOURCE

CITY,
STATE

DISTANCE REGISTRATION

14 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

14 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

14 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Barbara
George,
Brenda
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

14 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual Christina Roup

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

15 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

15 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual Anthony Yates Local N/A N/A REGISTER

16 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Stephanie
McGreger

Non-profit
or

Foundation
N/A N/A REGISTER

16 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

17 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Amy
Anderson,
Teresa R
Gonzales

Texas
Schools
Initiative

N/A N/A REGISTER

17 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

17 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual Violet Adams
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

18 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

18 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

19 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

19 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Barbara
George,
Brenda
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

20 Oct 2024 Professor Ed
Personal
(i.e. the

326326



20 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

20 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

21 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

21 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

21 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Barbara
George,
Brenda
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

22 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Jameelah
Bennett

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

22 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

23 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Elizabeth
Charlton,
Breanna
Hamilton

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

23 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

23 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Alison

Boudreaux

Texas
Schools
Initiative

N/A N/A REGISTER

24 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

24 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

24 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Kelsey
Edwards,

Angie
Sauvage

Other
(specify)

N/A N/A REGISTER

25 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Suzanne

Clark, Karyn
Feeney

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

25 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Julie Hook,

Emily
Wilkerson

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

25 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

327327



26 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual Anthony Yates Local N/A N/A REGISTER

26 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Shani Young,

Thomia
Thompson

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

26 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

27 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

28 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

28 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

28 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Barbara
George,
Brenda
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

29 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual Anthony Yates Local N/A N/A REGISTER

29 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

30 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

31 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

31 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Monica M
Simpson,

Austin Coy

Non-profit
or

Foundation
N/A N/A REGISTER

31 Oct 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

01 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual Anthony Yates Local N/A N/A REGISTER

01 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Barbara
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

01 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Eve Krot,

Francheska
Parker

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

01 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

02 Nov 2024
Youth Blended Virtual

Yazmin M. Not
N/A N/A REGISTER

328328



02 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

03 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

04 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

04 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Barbara
George,
Brenda
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

04 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

05 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

06 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Yazmin M.

Aviles, LMFT
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

07 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

07 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Alison

Boudreaux

Texas
Schools
Initiative

N/A N/A REGISTER

08 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Barbara
George,
Brenda
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

11 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Barbara
George,
Brenda
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

12 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

13 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Stephanie
McGreger

Non-profit
or

Foundation
N/A N/A REGISTER

13 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Amy
Anderson,
Teresa R
Gonzales

Texas
HHSC

Initiative
N/A N/A REGISTER

14 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

Amy

329329



15 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Amy
Anderson,
Teresa R
Gonzales

Texas
Schools
Initiative

N/A N/A REGISTER

15 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Barbara
George,
Brenda
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

16 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Rose Karpov-
Kinrade,
Nanette
Barker

SAMHSA
FY21 –
MHAT

(Mental
Health

Awareness
Training)

Grant

N/A N/A REGISTER

18 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Barbara
George,
Brenda
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

19 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

19 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Carolyn
Conley

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

21 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Chuck Gee,
Carrie Latt

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

23 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Barbara
George,
Brenda
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

25 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Professor Ed

Frontera

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

25 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Barbara
George,
Brenda
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

29 Nov 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Barbara
George,
Brenda
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

05 Dec 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Julia M

Gaughan
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

11 Dec 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Stephanie
McGreger

Non-profit
or

Foundation
N/A N/A REGISTER

Amy
Texas



330330



11 Dec 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Anderson,
Teresa R
Gonzales

Texas
HHSC

Initiative
N/A N/A REGISTER

12 Dec 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Matt Nagy,
Valerie A

Toney

Other
(specify)

N/A N/A REGISTER

12 Dec 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Amy
Anderson,
Teresa R
Gonzales

Texas
Schools
Initiative

N/A N/A REGISTER

12 Dec 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Rose Karpov-
Kinrade,
Nanette
Barker

SAMHSA
FY21 –
MHAT

(Mental
Health

Awareness
Training)

Grant

N/A N/A REGISTER

12 Dec 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual Michele Pilon
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

14 Dec 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Tracee Black-
Fall, Regina

Bond

Non-profit
or

Foundation
N/A N/A REGISTER

14 Dec 2024
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Eve Krot,

Francheska
Parker

Personal
(i.e. the

instructor
themselves)

N/A N/A REGISTER

08 Jan 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Amy
Anderson,
Teresa R
Gonzales

Texas
HHSC

Initiative
N/A N/A REGISTER

09 Jan 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Stephanie
McGreger

Non-profit
or

Foundation
N/A N/A REGISTER

09 Jan 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Monica M
Simpson,

Austin Coy

Non-profit
or

Foundation
N/A N/A REGISTER

22 Jan 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Alison

Boudreaux

Texas
Schools
Initiative

N/A N/A REGISTER

03 Feb 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Alison

Boudreaux

Texas
Schools
Initiative

N/A N/A REGISTER

07 Feb 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Monica M
Simpson,

Austin Coy

Non-profit
or

Foundation
N/A N/A REGISTER

12 Feb 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Amy
Anderson,
Teresa R
Gonzales

Texas
HHSC

Initiative
N/A N/A REGISTER

331331



Gonzales

13 Feb 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Stephanie
McGreger

Non-profit
or

Foundation
N/A N/A REGISTER

17 Feb 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Barbara
George

Not
Applicable

N/A N/A REGISTER

06 Mar 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Monica M
Simpson,

Austin Coy

Non-profit
or

Foundation
N/A N/A REGISTER

12 Mar 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Amy
Anderson,
Teresa R
Gonzales

Texas
HHSC

Initiative
N/A N/A REGISTER

18 Mar 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Alison

Boudreaux

Texas
Schools
Initiative

N/A N/A REGISTER

28 Mar 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual David A Brown
Not

Applicable
N/A N/A REGISTER

04 Apr 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Monica M
Simpson,

Austin Coy

Non-profit
or

Foundation
N/A N/A REGISTER

09 Apr 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual

Amy
Anderson,
Teresa R
Gonzales

Texas
HHSC

Initiative
N/A N/A REGISTER

24 Apr 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Alison

Boudreaux

Texas
Schools
Initiative

N/A N/A REGISTER

08 May 2025
(1 day)

Youth Blended Virtual
Alison

Boudreaux

Texas
Schools
Initiative

N/A N/A REGISTER

LOAD MORE

332332



DONATE  FAQ  PRIVACY POLICY
SITEMAP

� National Council for Mental Wellbeing
� Missouri Department of Mental Health

Mental Health First Aid USA is managed,
operated, and disseminated by the:

� Back to Top

©2024 National Council for Mental Wellbeing. All Rights Reserved.

333333



ABOUT THE MISSION

MISSION 22 STORY

At Mission 22, our commitment could not be more personal. Mission 22 was founded by Veterans. Most of our staff are Veterans, spouses of Veterans, or have
immediate family members who have served in the US military.  

We provide extensive, personalized support and resources to help Veterans and their families thrive. Mission 22’s programs for Veterans and military spouses
offer everything from biometric monitoring of stress, sleep, and activity levels; to meditation and coaching; to exercise programs and a wellness supplement

regimen; to books and learning resources to help Veterans put their experience in context. 

Mission 22 recognizes that a Veteran’s experience is a family’s experience – families live through all of the ups and downs that soldiers returning home do.
We’ve developed a support program exclusively for spouses to take positive steps that renew their identities as individuals and the strengths they bring to

their household. 

Our Ambassador program further supports Veterans and military families – a network of more than 3,500 Veterans and civilians in all 50 states and around the
world. We work to advance society’s collective understanding of the issues faced by active service members, Veterans, and their families. 

At Mission 22, we know firsthand that Veterans and service members bring extensive skills and assets to any situation. Their leadership capabilities,
experiences, and sense of teamwork and integrity are unmatched. Veterans know how to rise to a challenge. 

 America’s Veterans make our society stronger. They deserve a community worthy of all they have given, and all they will yet achieve.  We are proud to
continue designing programs for Veterans and their families, and to welcome them into our community.

0

334334



(/index.html)
 Search

About Us (https://www.floridahealth.gov/about/index.html) | Contact Us (https://wa-oit-contactus-prd.azurewebsites.net/) | Newsroom
(https://www.floridahealth.gov/newsroom/index.html)

FILE COMPLAINT
Vaccine/Testing/Mask

Requirements

 (https://www.floridahealth.gov/diseases-and-conditions/respiratory-illness/COVID-

19/file-a-complaint.html)

It's a New Day in Public Health.
The Florida Department of Health works to protect, promote, and improve the health
of all people in Florida through integrated state, county, and community efforts.

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Prevention (/programs-and-
services/prevention/index.html)

Dog Bite Prevention
(/programs-and-
services/prevention/dog-bite-
prevention/index.html)

Drowning Prevention
(/programs-and-
services/prevention/drowning-
prevention/index.html)

Healthy Weight (/programs-
and-
services/prevention/healthy-
weight/index.html)

Human Trafficking
(/programs-and-
services/prevention/human-
trafficking/index.html)

Violence and Injury
Prevention (/programs-and-
services/prevention/injury-
prevention/index.html)

Mental Health (/programs-
and-
services/prevention/mental-
health/index.html)

Older Adult Falls
Prevention (/programs-and-
services/prevention/older-
adult-falls-
prevention/index.html)

Pharmacies (/programs-
and-
services/prevention/pharmacies/index.html)

Preventive Health and
Health Services Block
Grant (/programs-and-
services/prevention/phhsbg/index.html)

Sexual Violence Prevention
(/programs-and-
services/prevention/sexual-
violence-
prevention/index.html)

Stress (/programs-and-
services/prevention/stress/index.html)

Substance Abuse
(/programs-and-
services/prevention/substance-
abuse/index.html)

Violence and Injury Prevention
SectionIf you are feeling suicidal or in emotional distress:

Please call or text the Suicide Prevention Lifeline at 988 or reach out
through chat by visiting www.988lifeline.org/chat/
(https://www.988lifeline.org/chat/).

Veterans can call 988 and press 1.

Public Health Approach to Veteran Suicide
Prevention
Incorporating the CDC’s Preventing Suicide: A Technical Package of
Policy, Programs and Practices
(https://www.cdc.gov/suicide/pdf/preventionresource.pdf), taking a
comprehensive approach to suicide prevention requires coordinating
public health, healthcare, jobs and economic development, education,
housing and other sectors. By joining multiple sectors, an upstream
approach to prevention, as well as responding to people in crisis and
connecting them to services and support is possible. To do so, the
Department works to follow a series of steps together with our partners
and programs.

Step 1: Veteran Suicide Prevention
Step 2: Veteran Risk and Protective Factors
Step 3: Veteran Suicide Prevention Strategies
Step 4: Veteran Suicide Prevention Strategy Dissemination
Resources for Veterans
Partnerships and Contact Information
Step 1: Veteran Suicide Prevention
According to the US Department of Veteran Affairs (VA), Florida is
home to over 1,400,000 veterans.* This represents 6.5% of Florida’s
total population and makes Florida the highest-ranking state. Suicide
death rates among veterans (40.4 per 100,000 population) residing in
Florida is at least 2.6 times higher than the general population (13.1
per 100,000 population).
The VA presented the latest findings in 2020

Home (../../../index.html) � Programs & Services (../../index.html) � Prevention (../index.html) � Suicide
Prevention (index.html) � Veteran Suicide Prevention

Veteran Suicide Prevention

850-245-4455 (tel:850-245-4455)� 
Mailing Address
4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin A13 
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1722 
 

� 

     Programs & Services
(/programs-and-

services/index.html)

Licensing & Regulation
(/licensing-and-

regulation/index.html)

Statistics & Data
(/statistics-and-
data/index.html)

Certificates
(/certificates/index.html)

Diseases & Conditions
(/diseases-and-

conditions/index.html)

Environmental Health
(/environmental-

health/index.html)

335335



�

�

Suicide Prevention
(/programs-and-
services/prevention/suicide-
prevention/index.html)

Tobacco Free Florida
(/programs-and-
services/prevention/tobacco-
free-florida/index.html)

(https://www.mentalhealth.va.gov/docs/data-sheets/2020/2020-State-
Data-Sheet-Florida-508.pdf), highlighting Veteran suicide in Florida
compared to the US.

Florida was not significantly different than the national Veteran
suicide rate but was higher than the national general population
suicide rate.
The most common method of veteran suicide was firearms
(74%), followed by suffocation (10.5%).

Back to Top

Step 2: Veteran Risk and Protective Factors
There are no single causes of suicide. Risk and protective factors at
individual, community and societal levels can interact to lessen or
increase the likelihood of dying by suicide. While the risk and protective
factors that affect the general population still apply to veterans, there
are some unique factors that should be identified.

Risk Factors:

Service-related injury
Recent transition from military service to civilian life

Protective Factors:

Resilience or strong sense of belonging

*Veterans refers to those who have ever served in the military in any
capacity.

Back to Top

Step 3: Veteran Suicide Prevention Strategies
1. Strengthen economic supports

Improve household financial
security
Stabilize housing

2. Create protective environments
Reduce access to lethal
means among persons at
risk of suicide
Create healthy
organizational policies and
culture
Reduce substance use
through community-based
policies and practices

3. Improve access and delivery of
suicide care Cover mental health

conditions in health
insurance policies
Increase provider availability
in underserved areas
Provide rapid and remote
access to help
Create safe suicide care
through systems change

4. Promote healthy connections
Promote healthy peer norms
Engage community
members in shared activities

5. Teach coping and problem-
solving skills Support social-emotional

learning programs
Teach parenting skills to
improve family relationships
Support resilience through
education programs

6. Identify and support people at
risk Train gatekeepers

Respond to crises
Plan for safety and follow-up
after an attempt

336336



Provide therapeutic
approaches

7. Less harms and prevent future
risk Intervene after a suicide

(postvention)
Report and message about
suicide safely

Back to Top

Step 4: Veteran Suicide Prevention Strategy
Dissemination

 (https://www.saveflvets.org)

The Florida Governor’s Challenge Team began in 2019 to help local
leaders in community and state governments work together to prevent
suicide among Veterans. This is a multi-sectoral coalition convening
military and civilian leaders to develop an implementation plan to
prevent suicide among service members, Veterans, and their families
that will advance the VA’s National Strategy for Preventing Suicide and
incorporate evidence-based strategies from the CDC’s Preventing
Suicide: A Technical Package of Policy, Programs and Practices.

The Florida’s Governor’s Challenge is a state-level initiative that works
in conjunction with the President’s national PREVENTS Office and
Task Force.

Main Priorities include:

1. Identifying Service Members, Veterans, and Their Families and
screening for suicide risk

2. Promoting connectedness and improving care transitions, and
3. Lethal means safety and safety planning.

In efforts to increase the awareness of Veteran suicide by creating a
call to all Floridians to join the fight in connecting Veterans to the help
they need, The Florida Governor’s Challenge recently published the
following Public Service Announcements:

https://youtu.be/cUq4KlKNv0Q (https://youtu.be/cUq4KlKNv0Q) -
Gary Littrell 30 second
https://youtu.be/d-MT9nBWDIs (https://youtu.be/d-MT9nBWDIs) -
Gary Littrell 60 second
https://youtu.be/AD7m2ebqpfo (https://youtu.be/AD7m2ebqpfo) -
Rick Monday 30 second
https://youtu.be/rsOw7bOQVIc (https://youtu.be/rsOw7bOQVIc) -
Rick Monday 60 second

Back to Top

Resources for Veterans
In a Crisis

988 Suicide & Crisis Lifeline (https://988lifeline.org/)

Provides resources on accessing the crisis support line, is
available by telephone, online or veterans can text 838255 to
reach the Veteran Crisis Line

DCF Statewide Office of Suicide Prevention – Service Members,
Veterans, and Families
(https://www.myflfamilies.com/suicideprevention/browse-personal-
identity-or-population/service-members-veterans-and-families)

Offers resources relevant to service members, veterans and their
families

Mobile Response Crisis Teams (http://www.namiflorida.org/crisis-info)

On-demand crisis intervention services offered in any setting.

337337



(https://www.facebook.com/FLDepartmentofHealth)(https://twitter.com/HealthyFla)(https://www.youtube.com/user/fldoh)(https://www.pinterest.com/HealthyFla/)

Connect with DOH

State Surgeon General (/about/ssg/index.html)
State Leadership (/about/ssg/leadership/index.html)
County Health Department Leadership (/about/ssg/chd-
leadership/index.html)

Boards, Councils & Committees (/provider-

About Florida Health (/about/index.html)
Accreditation (/about/accreditation/index.html)
Careers (/about/careers/index.html)
Public Meeting Notices (/about/sunshine-info/public-
meeting-notices/index.html)
Public Notices (/about/sunshine-info/public-

FEATURED PROGRAMS

(http://www.healthiestweightflorida.com/)

Last Modified Date: Dec 20, 2023 2:30:25 PM

Last Reviewed Date: Dec 20, 2023 2:30:25 PM

Florida Health Across the State

Available 24/7 by a team of professionals trained in crisis
intervention skills to ensure timely access to supports and
services

The Fire Watch (http://www.thefirewatch.org/) – Covers Baker, Clay,
Duval, Nassau and St. Johns Counties

A network of community members and organizations trained to
identify warning signs of veterans in crisis and connect them to
care

Hope for Healing Florida (https://www.hopeforhealingfl.com/)

Online database facilitated by First Lady Casey DeSantis,
providing several mental health and substance abuse resources
for service members, Veterans and their families

Connecting Florida’s SMVF to Care and Support
(https://floridavets.org/governors-challenge/resources/)

Resources for service members, veterans and their families and
organizations that support military-connected individuals. Supported by
the Florida Governor’s Challenge, these resources include:

Peer Support Programs
Benefits/Housing/Financial Assistance/Health
Organizational and Workforce Resources
Invisible Wounds (Mental Health and Traumatic Brain Injury)
Family Support
Provider Resources

Safety Plan Worksheet (https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?
src=https%3A%2F%2Ffloridavets.org%2Fwp-
content%2Fuploads%2F2022%2F08%2FFlorida-Governors-
Challenge-Make-a-Safety-Plan.docx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK)

Providers and patients can complete this Safety Plan together,
and patients can refer to them in times of need. Safety planning
helps people identify their strengths, identify their personal coping
mechanisms that help them navigate a potential crisis, and to
know where to turn for help.

Back to Top

Partnerships and Contact Information
Florida Department of Children and Families - Statewide Office of
Suicide Prevention (https://www.myflfamilies.com/suicideprevention)
2415 North Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32303
850-487-2920 (https://www.fldoe.org/schools/k-12-public-schools/sss/)

Florida Department of Veterans Affairs
(https://floridavets.org/governors-challenge/resources/)
400 South Monroe Street
Ste. 2105
Tallahassee, FL 32399
850-487-1533

Back to Top

*Note: This page contains materials in the Portable Document Format
(PDF). The free Adobe Reader (https://get.adobe.com/reader/) may be
required to view these files.

338338



and-partner-resources/advisory-councils-
stakeholder-groups/index.html)

notices/index.html)
Public Records Requests (/about/sunshine-info/public-
records-requests/index.html)
State Health Improvement Plan (https://floridaship.org/?
utm_source=flhealth.gov%26utm_medium=text_linkredirect%26utm_campaign=ship_sha%26utm_content=footer)
Annual Regulatory Plans—Florida Department of Health
(pdf) (/_documents/annual-regulatory-plan-fdoh.pdf)
Annual Regulatory Plans—Boards (pdf)
(/_documents/annual-regulatory-plan-boards.pdf)

Certificates and Registries
(/certificates/index.html)
Birth Certificates
(/certificates/certificates/birth/index.html)
Death Certificates
(/certificates/certificates/death/index.html)
Divorce Certificates
(/certificates/certificates/divorce/index.html)
Marriage Certificates
(/certificates/certificates/marriage/index.html)

(https://www.tobaccofreeflorida.com/)

Site Map (https://www.floridahealth.gov/site-map.html) Disclaimer (/disclaimer.html)
Accessibility Information (/accessibility-information.html) Email Advisory (/email-advisory.html)
Social Media (/about/social-media.html)

 (/index.html)
By using this site, you agree to the Privacy Policy (https://www.floridahealth.gov/privacy-policy.html).

339339



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   New Business  

Meeting Date:  September 18, 2024 

From:   Town Manager 

Re:   HR Complaint 

 

Background: 

On September 5, 2024 an email was sent to Jennifer Kerr as Human Resources and Ryan Knight 

as our Town Attorney.  The complaint as copied from the email dated 9/5/2024 at 2:00pm is below: 

“Mr. Knight, and HR 

  

Thus is a formal complaint and "grievance" and more specifically a request for an outside 

company to do an internal investigation for violations by one or more employees/personnel for 

violations of the Towns P&Ps that constitute or could numerous civil and even potentially 

criminal violations (such as obstruction - possibly obstructing official businesss, obstruction 

access to federal property and/or to a mailbox in violation of required policy of access), and also 

grounds suspension or immediate termination for cause of one or more employees or officials, 

including the Manager or others. 

  

I am requesting a real - not a sham conflicted fake investigation - but a real actual, appropriate, 

independent  investigation and advice and recommended and required steps and procedures 

under law and Town actual policy and ask that it be applied TO the manager also as is 

required.” 

 

There are 24 items listed in the complaint. 
 

Recommendation:  

The Commission will need to vote on whether or not they would like to proceed with a formal 

investigation.  If yes, then how much will the Commission allow for the cost of the investigation 

and who should engage the individual or company for an investigation. 

Attachments:   

Email complaint from September 5, 2024. No.’s 1 and 2 

340340



341341



342342



343343



344344



345345



From: Alison Dennington <adennington@melbournebeachfl.org> 

Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2024 2:32 PM 

To: Ryan Knight <rknight@shepardfirm.com>; Melbourne Beach Finance <Finance@melbournebeachfl.org> 

Subject: Re: Confidential HR Investigation, grievance and complaint - advice sought re discrimination, retaliation and 

obstruction ongoing 

A few corrections: 

Below 4) was cutoff 
Add this pertinent part: 
" ... against me for my prior (and now current) political views, political positions, political beliefs, and because of 
my expression of those views/viewpoint prior to taking to office, which is my protected free speech, and 
viewpoints, and further as to retaliations, discriminated/discriminating and retaliating against me again for those 
above because my speech they didn't like prior to office (and now for my speech, and for my statements and 
questions - legitimate- also now as Mayor), esp if it was critical of them, or their protectors/friends 
And this illegal discrimination, retaliation, policy violations and inconsistency and obstruction continues now 
from that old animus and continuing animus" 

Correction as Joyce key: 
fob 
Joyce use was August 2023 (not 2024). 
I witnessed her use it when turned in her election paperwork last year ( contradicts Griswold false claims she 
never provided any proof of a written policy change) 
I sat waiting on the clerk 
She/barton - mid-August 2023 walked in using her fob and went straight back into building 

This new part to TA only 
Mr. Knight-I request all records related to tracking use of fob use at the mail building - from the front or any of 
side or back entrances. As far back as you have it for the use by any current or prior TC/Mayor. 

2 

346346



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   New Business  

Meeting Date:  September 18, 2024 

From:   Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro 

Re:   Private Provider for Building Official 

 

Background: 

The current Building Official has resigned his position effective October 4, 2024.  Florida State 

Law provides that every municipality shall have a licensed Building Official.  While the Town 

advertised for a full time replacement, the Town will need to have a Building Official providing 

inspections.   

The Town has a contract with Bureau Veritas dated 6/18/2024.  Their hourly rate for a Building 

Official is $140.00 per hour.  Since we have had our contract with Vertias they have been unable 

to provide us with a B.O., which would have allowed our Building Official to take a vacation.  Many 

times, they do not even return my phone calls. 

I have asked for a contract with Universal Engineering Services, who we have used in the past to 

provide boring samples and other road engineering work.  Universal has provided me with a 

contract rate of $140.00 for a Building Official.  They are willing to provide coverage 5 days per 

week, 4 hours per day. 

I have requested a contract from SafeBuilt, however to date I have not received a contract.   

Recommendation:  

Consider approving Universal Engineering to take over the Building Official position beginning 

October 7, 2024 until the Town hires a full time, in house Building Official. 

 

 

 

Attachments:   

Bureau Veritas Contract 

Universal Engineering Services Contract. 

347347



348348



349349



350350



351351



352352



353353



354354



355355



356356



357357



358358



359359



360360



361361



362362



363363



364364



365365



366366



367367



368368



369369



370370



371371



372372



TeamUES.com

PROPOSAL

373373



Town of Melbourne Beach Municipal Support                                      September 12, 2024 
Universal Opportunity No: 0315.0924.00002  Page 1 

 
 
 
 
September 12, 2024 
 
Town of Melbourne Beach 
507 Ocean Avenue 
Melbourne, FL 32951 
 
Attention:  Ms. Elizabeth Mascaro 
 
Reference: Building Official Municipal Support   

Town of Melbourne Beach Municipal Support 
UES Opportunity No.: 0315.0924.00002 
UES Document No.: 2109676 
 

Dear Ms. Mascaro, 
 
UES Professional Solutions, LLC is pleased to submit our proposal to conduct Building 
Official Municipal Support.  Our understanding of this project, with our proposed scope of 
services and costs, is presented in the following paragraphs. 
 
Project Understanding  
 
We understand your project consists of Building Official Municipal Support. In an effort to 
facilitate construction and occupancy, you have expressed interest in having UES 
Professional Solutions, LLC perform the building official duties under the “Private Provider 
Inspection” (PPI) statute.  
 
Scope of Services 
 
Building Official Services 
 
UES Proposes to provide Building Official services pursuant to Building Code and Florida 
Statute.  This may include plan review, inspection services and any other duties that may 
need the assistance of a Building Official. 
 
Fees and Terms 
 
Universal will complete the scope of work outlined within this proposal for the fees listed 
below: 
 
Building Official Municipal Support = $140.00 per hour with a 3-hour minimum charge per 
visit. 
 
 
 
 

374374



Town of Melbourne Beach Municipal Support                                      September 12, 2024 
Universal Opportunity No: 0315.0924.00002  Page 2 

 
 
 
Qualifications 
 
UES Professional Solutions, LLC. is one of the largest family-owned engineering companies 
in the United States.  Being headquartered in Orlando, and possessing branch offices 
throughout the State of Florida, provides us with the ability to staff your project efficiently. We 
understand the importance of working together to keep your project on schedule. 
 
Closure 
 
UES appreciates this opportunity to offer our services, and we are looking forward to the 
assignment.  Please do not hesitate to contact us at 321-638-0808 if you have any questions. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
UES Professional Solutions, LLC 
 
 
 
 
 
Richard Hoaglin 
Branch Manager 
Phone: 321-638-0808 
rhoagline@teamues.com  

 
Attachments: Work Authorization, General Conditions 

375375



 
 

Building Inspections Department 
Work Authorization / Proposal Acceptance Form 

 
PLEASE SIGN AND RETURN ONE COPY VIA EMAIL OR FAX 

 
UES Professional Solutions, LLC is pleased to provide the services described below. The purpose of this document is to describe the 
terms under which the services will be provided and to obtain formal authorization. 
 
OPPORTUNITY NAME:  Town of Melbourne Beach Municipal Support  
OPPORTUNITY LOCATION: Melbourne Beach, FL              PHONE: 321-724-5860 
CLIENT NAME: Town of Melbourne Beach               CONTACT: Ms. Elizabeth Mascaro 
CLIENT ADDRESS:   507 Ocean Avenue, Melbourne Beach, FL 32951                 EMAIL: townmanager@melbournebeachfl.org 

 
I. Scope of Services & Understanding of Project (See attached proposal or as indicated below). 

UES Opportunity No.: 0315.0924.00002 UES Docs No.: 2109676 
Fees and Terms 

 
Building Official Support = $140.00 per hour with a 3-hour minimum charge per visit. 

 
I. Contract Documents. The following documents form part of the Agreement and are incorporated herein by referral: 
 
A. UES General Conditions.   
In the event of any inconsistency or conflicting among the Contract Documents, the provision in that Contract Documents first listed 
above shall govern.  
II. Authority to proceed and for payment.  (To be completed by Client) 
 

A. For payment of Services, invoice to the account of: 
  Social Security Number or 
Firm:   Federal Identification No.:   

Address:   City:   Zip Code:   

Attention:   Title:   

Phone:   Fax:   

 
B. If the invoice is to be mailed for approval to someone other than the account charged, please indicate where, below: 
 
Firm:   

Address:   City:   Zip Code:   

Attention:   Title:   

Phone:   Fax:   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duty authorized representatives 
this   day of   2024. 
 
CLIENT:   UES Professional Solutions, LLC 

BY (signature):   BY (signature):  ______________________________________  

NAME:   SIGNATORY:       Richard E. Hoaglin, P.E.  

TITLE:   TITLE:                  Branch Manager   

DATE:   DATE:                   September 12, 2024  

 

UES Professional Solutions, LLC 
Attention: Rockledge BID 

820 Brevard Avenue, Rockledge, FL 32955 Office 321 638 0808 Fax 321 638 0978 
 

376376



UES
GENERAL CONDITIONS

SECTION 1:  RESPONSIBILITIES 1.1 UES, and its subsidiaries and affiliated companies (“UES”), is responsible for providing the services described 
under the Scope of Services. The term "UES" as used herein includes all of UES’s agents, employees, professional staff, and subcontractors. 1.2 The Client or 
a duly authorized representative is responsible for providing UES with a clear understanding of the project nature and scope. The Client shall supply UES with 
sufficient and adequate information, including, but not limited to, maps, site plans, reports, surveys, plans and specifications, and designs, to allow UES to 
properly complete the specified services. The Client shall also communicate changes in the nature and scope of the project as soon as possible during 
performance of the work so that the changes can be incorporated into the work product. 1.3 The Client acknowledges that UES’s responsibilities in 
providing the services described under the Scope of Services section is limited to those services described therein, and the Client hereby assumes any 
collateral or affiliated duties necessitated by or for those services. Such duties may include, but are not limited to, reporting requirements imposed by any third 
party such as federal, state, or local entities, the provision of any required notices to any third party, or the securing of necessary permits or permissions 
from any third parties required for UES’s provision of the services so described, unless otherwise agreed upon by both parties in writing.

SECTION 2:  STANDARD OF CARE 2.1 Services performed by UES under this Agreement will be conducted in a manner consistent with the level of care 
and skill ordinarily exercised by members of UES's profession practicing contemporaneously under similar conditions in the locality of the project. No other 
warranty, express or implied, is made. 2.2 Execution of this document by UES is not a representation that UES has visited the site, become generally familiar 
with local conditions under which the work is to be performed, or correlated personal observations with the requirements of the Scope of Services. It is the 
Client’s responsibility to provide UES with all information necessary for UES to provide the services described under the Scope of Services, and the Client 
assumes all liability for information not provided to UES that may affect the quality or sufficiency of the services so described.

SECTION 3:  SITE ACCESS AND SITE CONDITIONS 3.1 Client will grant or obtain free access to the site for all equipment and personnel necessary for UES 
to perform the work set forth in this Agreement.  The Client will notify any possessors of the project site that Client has granted UES free access to the site. 
UES will take reasonable precautions to minimize damage to the site, but it is understood by Client that, in the normal course of work, some damage may 
occur, and the correction of such damage is not part of this Agreement unless so specified in the Scope of Services. 3.2 The Client is responsible for the 
accuracy of locations for all subterranean structures and utilities. UES will take reasonable precautions to avoid known subterranean structures, and the Client 
waives any claim against UES, and agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold UES harmless from any claim or liability for injury or loss, including costs of defense, 
arising from damage done to subterranean structures and utilities not identified or accurately located. In addition, Client agrees to compensate UES for any 
time spent or expenses incurred by UES in defense of any such claim with compensation to be based upon UES's prevailing fee schedule and expense 
reimbursement policy.

SECTION 4:  BILLING AND PAYMENT 4.1 UES will submit invoices to Client monthly or upon completion of services.  Invoices will show charges for different 
personnel and expense classifications. 4.2 Payment is due 30 days after presentation of invoice and is past due 31 days from invoice date. Client agrees to 
pay a finance charge of one and one-half percent (1 ½ %) per month, or the maximum rate allowed by law, on past due accounts. 4.3 If UES incurs any 
expenses to collect overdue billings on invoices, the sums paid by UES for reasonable attorneys' fees, court costs, UES's time, UES's expenses, and interest 
will be due and owing by the Client.

SECTION 5:  OWNERSHIP AND USE OF DOCUMENTS 5.1 All reports, boring logs, field data, field notes, laboratory test data, calculations, estimates, and 
other documents prepared by UES, as instruments of service, shall remain the property of UES. Neither Client nor any other entity shall change or modify 
UES’s instruments of service. 5.2 Client agrees that all reports and other work furnished to the Client or his agents, which are not paid for, will be returned 
upon demand and will not be used by the Client for any purpose. 5.3 UES will retain all pertinent records relating to the services performed for a period of five 
years following submission of the report or completion of the Scope of Services, during which period the records will be made available to the Client in a 
reasonable time and manner. 5.4 All reports, boring logs, field data, field notes, laboratory test data, calculations, estimates, and other documents prepared by 
UES, are prepared for the sole and exclusive use of Client, and may not be given to any other entity, or used or relied upon by any other entity, without the 
express written consent of UES. Client is the only entity to which UES owes any duty or duties, in contract or tort, pursuant to or under this Agreement.

SECTION 6:  DISCOVERY OF UNANTICIPATED HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 6.1 Client represents that a reasonable effort has been made to inform UES of 
known or suspected hazardous materials on or near the project site. 6.2 Under this agreement, the term hazardous materials include hazardous materials, 
hazardous wastes, hazardous substances (40 CFR 261.31, 261.32, 261.33), petroleum products, polychlorinated biphenyls, asbestos, and any other material 
defined by the U.S. EPA as a hazardous material. 6.3 Hazardous materials may exist at a site where there is no reason to believe they are present. The 
discovery of unanticipated hazardous materials constitutes a changed condition mandating a renegotiation of the scope of work. The discovery of unanticipated 
hazardous materials may make it necessary for UES to take immediate measures to protect health and safety. Client agrees to compensate UES for any 
equipment decontamination or other costs incident to the discovery of unanticipated hazardous materials. 6.4 UES will notify Client when unanticipated 
hazardous materials or suspected hazardous materials are encountered. Client will make any disclosures required by law to the appropriate governing 
agencies. Client will hold UES harmless for all consequences of disclosures made by UES which are required by governing law. In the event the project site is 
not owned by Client, it is the Client's responsibility to inform the property owner of the discovery of unanticipated hazardous materials or suspected 
hazardous materials. 6.5 Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement, Client waives any claim against UES, and to the maximum extent permitted 
by law, agrees to defend, indemnify, and save UES harmless from any claim, liability, and/or defense costs for injury or loss arising from UES's discovery of 
unanticipated hazardous materials or suspected hazardous materials including any costs created by delay of the project and any cost associated with possible 
reduction of the property's value. Client will be responsible for ultimate disposal of any samples secured by UES which are found to be contaminated.

SECTION 7:  RISK ALLOCATION 7.1 Client agrees that UES's liability for any damage on account of any breach of contract, error, omission, or professional 
negligence will be limited to a sum not to exceed $50,000 or UES’s fee, whichever is greater. If Client prefers to have higher limits on contractual or professional 
liability, UES agrees to increase the limits up to a maximum of $1,000,000.00 upon Client’s written request at the time of accepting UES’s proposal provided 
that Client agrees to pay an additional consideration of four percent of the total fee, or $400.00, whichever is greater. If Client prefers a $2,000,000.00 limit on 
contractual or professional liability, UES agrees to increase the limits up to a maximum of $2,000,000.00 upon Client’s written request at the time of accepting 
UES’s proposal provided that Client agrees to pay an additional consideration of four percent of the total fee, or $800.00, whichever is greater. The additional 
charge for the higher liability limits is because of the greater risk assumed and is not strictly a charge for additional professional liability insurance. 7.2 Client 
shall not be liable to UES and UES shall not be liable to Client for any incidental, special, or consequential damages (including lost profits, loss of use, and 
lost savings) incurred by either party due to the fault of the other, regardless of the nature of the fault, or whether it was committed by Client or UES, their 
employees, agents, or subcontractors; or whether such liability arises in breach of contract or warranty, tort (including negligence), statutory, or any other 
cause of action. 7.3 As used in this Agreement, the terms “claim” or “claims” mean any claim in contract, tort, or statute alleging negligence, errors, omissions, 
strict liability, statutory liability, breach of contract, breach of warranty, negligent misrepresentation, or any other act giving rise to liability.

SECTION 8:  INSURANCE 8.1 UES represents it and its agents, staff and consultants employed by UES, is and are protected by worker's compensation 
insurance and that UES has such coverage under public liability and property damage insurance policies which UES deems to be adequate. Certificates for 
all such policies of insurance shall be provided to Client upon request in writing. Within the limits and conditions of such insurance, UES agrees to indemnify 
and save Client harmless from and against loss, damage, or liability arising from negligent acts by UES, its agents, staff, and consultants employed by it. UES 
shall not be responsible for any loss, damage or liability beyond the amounts, limits, and conditions of such insurance or the limits described in Section 7, 
whichever is less. The Client agrees to defend, indemnify, and save UES harmless for loss, damage or liability arising from acts by Client, Client's agents, staff, 
and others employed by Client. 8.2 Under no circumstances will UES indemnify Client from or for Client’s own actions, negligence, or breaches of contract. 8.3 

377377



To the extent damages are covered by property insurance, Client and UES waive all rights against each other and against the contractors, consultants, agents, 
and employees of the other for damages, except such rights as they may have to the proceeds of such insurance.

SECTION 9:  DISPUTE RESOLUTION 9.1 All claims, disputes, and other matters in controversy between UES and Client arising out of or in any way related 
to this Agreement will be submitted to mediation or non-binding arbitration, before and as a condition precedent to other remedies provided by law. 9.2 If a 
dispute arises and that dispute is not resolved by mediation or non-binding arbitration, then: (a) the claim will be brought in the state or federal courts having 
jurisdiction where the UES office which provided the service is located; and (b) the prevailing party will be entitled to recovery of all reasonable costs incurred, 
including staff time, court costs, attorneys’ fees, expert witness fees, and other claim related expenses.

SECTION 10:  TERMINATION 10.1 This agreement may be terminated by either party upon seven (7) days written notice in the event of substantial failure by 
the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof, or in the case of a force majeure event such as terrorism, act of war, public health or other 
emergency. Such termination shall not be effective if such substantial failure or force majeure has been remedied before expiration of the period specified in 
the written notice.  In the event of termination, UES shall be paid for services performed to the termination notice date plus reasonable termination expenses. 
10.2 In the event of termination, or suspension for more than three (3) months, prior to completion of all reports contemplated by the Agreement, UES may 
complete such analyses and records as are necessary to complete its files and may also complete a report on the services performed to the date of notice of 
termination or suspension. The expense of termination or suspension shall include all direct costs of UES in completing such analyses, records, and reports.

SECTION 11:  REVIEWS, INSPECTIONS, TESTING, AND OBSERVATIONS 11.1 Plan review, private provider inspections, and building inspections are 
performed for the purpose of observing compliance with applicable building codes. Threshold inspections are performed for the purpose of observing 
compliance with an approved threshold inspection plan.  Construction materials testing (“CMT”) is performed to document compliance of certain materials or 
components with applicable testing standards. UES’s performance of plan reviews, private provider inspections, building inspections, threshold inspections, 
or CMT, or UES’s presence on the site of Client’s project while performing any of the foregoing activities, is not a representation or warranty by UES that 
Client’s project is free of errors in either design or construction. 11.2 If UES is retained to provide construction monitoring or observation, UES will report to 
Client any observed work which, in UES’s opinion, does not conform to the plans and specifications provided to UES. UES shall have no authority to reject 
or terminate the work of any agent or contractor of Client. No action, statements, or communications of UES, or UES’s site representative, can be construed 
as modifying any agreement between Client and others. UES’s performance of construction monitoring or observation is not a representation or warranty by 
UES that Client’s project is free of errors in either design or construction. 11.3 Neither the activities of UES pursuant to this Agreement, nor the presence of 
UES or its employees, representatives, or subcontractors on the project site, shall be construed to impose upon UES any responsibility for means or methods 
of work performance, superintendence, sequencing of construction, or safety conditions at the project site.  Client acknowledges that Client or its contractor 
is solely responsible for project jobsite safety. 11.4 Client is responsible for scheduling all inspections and CMT activities of UES. All testing and inspection 
services will be performed on a will-call basis. UES will not be responsible for tests and inspections that are not performed due to Client’s failure to schedule 
UES’s services on the project, or for any claims or damages arising from tests and inspections that are not scheduled or performed.

SECTION 12: ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENTS Client acknowledges that an Environmental Site Assessment (“ESA”) is conducted solely to permit UES 
to render a professional opinion about the likelihood or extent of regulated contaminants being present on, in, or beneath the site in question at the time 
services were conducted. No matter how thorough an ESA study may be, findings derived from the study are limited and UES cannot know or state for a fact 
that a site is unaffected by reportable quantities of regulated contaminants as a result of conducting the ESA study. Even if UES states that reportable 
quantities of regulated contaminants are not present, Client still bears the risk that such contaminants may be present or may migrate to the site after the 
ESA study is complete.

SECTION 13: SUBSURFACE EXPLORATIONS 13.1 Client acknowledges that subsurface conditions may vary from those observed at locations where 
borings, surveys, samples, or other explorations are made, and that site conditions may change with time.  Data, interpretations, and recommendations by 
UES will be based solely on information available to UES at the time of service.  UES is responsible for those data, interpretations, and recommendations, but 
will not be responsible for other parties’ interpretations or use of the information developed or provided by UES. 13.2 Subsurface explorations may result in 
unavoidable cross-contamination of certain subsurface areas, as when a probe or boring device moves through a contaminated zone and links it to an aquifer, 
underground stream, or other hydrous body not previously contaminated. UES is unable to eliminate totally cross-contamination risk despite use of due care. 
Since subsurface explorations may be an essential element of UES’s services indicated herein, Client shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, waive any 
claim against UES, and indemnify, defend, and hold UES harmless from any claim or  liability  for  injury  or  loss  arising from  cross-contamination  allegedly 
caused by UES’s subsurface explorations. In addition, Client agrees to compensate UES for any time spent or expenses incurred by UES in defense of any 
such claim with compensation to be based upon UES's prevailing fee schedule and expense reimbursement policy. 

SECTION 14: SOLICITATION OF EMPLOYEES Client agrees not to hire UES's employees except through UES. In the event Client hires a UES employee 
within one year following any project through which Client had contact with said employee, Client shall pay UES an amount equal to one-half of the employee's 
annualized salary, as liquidated damages, without UES waiving other remedies it may have.

SECTION 15:  ASSIGNS Neither Client nor UES may delegate, assign, sublet, or transfer its duties or interest in this Agreement without the written consent 
of the other party.

SECTION 16:  GOVERNING LAW AND SURVIVAL 16.1 This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction 
in which the UES office performing the services hereunder is located. 16.2 In any of the provisions of this Agreement are held illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, 
the enforceability of the remaining provisions will not be impaired and will survive. Limitations of liability and indemnities will survive termination of this agreement 
for any cause.

SECTION 17:  INTEGRATION CLAUSE 17.1 This Agreement represents and contains the entire and only agreement and understanding among the parties 
with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, and supersedes any and all prior and contemporaneous oral and written agreements, understandings, 
representations, inducements, promises, warranties, and conditions among the parties. No agreement, understanding, representation, inducement, promise, 
warranty, or condition of any kind with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement shall be relied upon by the parties unless expressly incorporated herein. 
17.2 This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by an agreement in writing signed by the party against whom the enforcement of any modification 
or amendment is sought.

SECTION 18: WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL Both Client and UES waive trial by jury in any action arising out of or related to this Agreement.

SECTION 19: INDIVIDUAL LIABILTY PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STAT. 558.0035, AN 
INDIVIDUAL EMPLOYEE OR AGENT OF UES MAY NOT BE HELD INDIVIDUALLY LIABLE 
FOR NEGLIGENCE.

Revised 7/24/2024

378378



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   New Business  

Meeting Date:  September 18, 2024 

From:   Town Clerk, Amber Brown 

Re:   Consider changing the date for the October Regular Town   

   Commission Meeting 

 

Background: 

The Town Clerk will be unable to attend the October Regular Town Commission Meeting 

on October 16th as she will be attending the Florida Association of City Clerks 2024 Fall 

Academy October 13th-17th.  

 

Recommendation:  

Consider alternative dates for the October Regular Town Commission Meeting 

 

 

Attachments:   

None 

379379



M E M O R A N D U M 
 

TO:  Elizabeth Mascaro (TownManager@melbournebeachfl.org) 
 
FROM: Ryan Knight 
 
SUBJECT: Outline of Code Enforcement Process 
 
DATE:  September 12, 2024 
 

 
Ms. Mascaro, 
 
 Below is an outline of the standard code enforcement process required pursuant to Chapter 
162, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 11, Article II of the Town’s Code of Ordinances.  

 
The Standard Code Enforcement Process 

 
 The code enforcement process is governed by Chapter 162, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 
11, Article II, of the Town’s Code of Ordinances. Generally, the standard code enforcement process 
is as follows: 
 

1. Complaint received 
2. Confirmation of validity of violation through research and site visit 
3. If violation is found, notice of violation letter sent to owner 

a. This will contain a reasonable time for compliance 
4. Follow-up inspection at expiration of time for compliance 
5. If property is still not in compliance, a notice of violation is sent to owner and the matter 

is scheduled for a hearing 
6. Special Magistrate Hearing 

a. Special Magistrate will issue an order specifying the date for compliance and any 
fines 

b. If property is not in compliance on date set forth in order, as verified by code 
inspector, fines begin to accrue 

7. Lien recorded 
8. Foreclosure of lien after 90 days of recording 

 
Once a complaint is received by Code Enforcement, the code inspector must confirm the 

validity of the violation and often requires research and a site visit. A code inspector may not 
initiate enforcement proceedings by way of an anonymous complaint.1 If a violation of the Town’s 
Code is found, the code inspector must notify the violator and give him or her a reasonable time 
to correct the violation.2 The focus of any code enforcement violation is to obtain compliance with 
the Town’s Code. If the violation continues beyond the time specified for correction, then the code 

 
1 Fla. Stat. § 162.06(1)(b). 
2 Fla. Stat. § 162.06(2); Section 11-19(b), Town Code. 

380380

mailto:TownManager@melbournebeachfl.org


inspector shall notify the special magistrate and request a hearing.3 Notice of the hearing must be 
provided by written notice to the violator and the case may be presented to the special magistrate 
even if the violation has been corrected prior to the hearing.4 An exception exists if the violation 
is a repeat violation, and the code inspector is not required to give the violator a reasonable time 
to correct the violation.5 
 
 Once a hearing is scheduled, the Town and the alleged violator shall present evidence and 
testimony, with the Town having the burden of proving the existence of the alleged violation by a 
preponderance of the evidence.6 Formal rules of evidence shall not apply, but fundamental due 
process shall be observed and shall govern the proceedings.7 Moreover, any testimony shall be 
under oath and shall be recorded.8 At the conclusion of the hearing, the special magistrate must 
issue findings of fact, based on evidence of record and conclusions of law, and shall issue an order 
affording relief consistent with the powers granted pursuant to Florida Statutes and the Town 
Code.9 The order may include a notice that the order must be complied with by a specified date 
and that a fine may be imposed if the order is not complied with by said date as provided in § 
162.09(1), Fla. Stat., which provides, in pertinent part: 
 

An enforcement board (or special magistrate), upon notification by the code 
inspector that an order of the enforcement board has not been complied with by the 
set time or upon finding that a repeat violation has been committed, may order the 
violator to pay a fine in an amount specified in this section for each day the violation 
continues past the date set by the enforcement board for compliance or, in the case 
of a repeat violation, for each day the repeat violation continues, beginning with the 
date the repeat violation is found to have occurred by the code inspector. 
 

 If the violator does not comply within the time set by the order issued by the special 
magistrate, only then may the fine begin to accrue for each day the violation continues past the 
date set forth in the order for compliance, unless it is a repeat violation. Thus, in order for fines to 
begin, there must be: (1) an order from the special magistrate providing a compliance date and 
fine, and (2) non-compliance with the order by the violator by the prescribed date. Once the 
compliance date prescribed in the order passes, and the violation is not corrected, only then will 
the fine start to accrue. The fine shall not exceed $250 per day for a first violation and shall not 
exceed $500 per day for a repeat violation.10 If the special magistrate finds the violation to be 
irreparable or irreversible in nature, it may impose a fine not to exceed $5,000 per violation.11 
 
 The fine will continue to accrue until the violation is corrected. The Town may file a lien 
against the property and record such lien in the public records.12 After three months from the filing 

 
3 Id. 
4 Id. 
5 Fla. Stat. § 162.06(3); Section 11-19(c), Town Code. 
6 Section 11-20(c), Town Code. 
7 Fla. Stat. § 162.07(3); Section 11-19(c), Town Code. 
8 Id. 
9 Fla. Stat. § 162.07(4); Section 11-19(d), Town Code. 
10 Fla. Stat. § 162.09(2)(a); Section 11-21(b)(1), Town Code. 
11 Id. 
12 Fla. Stat. § 162.09(3); Section 11-21((b)(3)(D), Town Code. 

381381



of the lien which remains unpaid, the special magistrate may authorize the Town Attorney to 
foreclose on the lien.13 However, no lien created pursuant to this procedure may be foreclosed on 
any property which is a homestead.14 
 
 
       Sincerely, 
 
       /s/ Ryan G. Knight  

 
13 Id. 
14 Id. 

382382



       Town Manager Report for September 2024 
 

  

 

 1.  Meeting 9/6/2024 to vote tentative millage-passed 

 2.  Meeting 9/17/2024 to vote final millage. 

 3. Meeting 9/3/024 P&Z –passed including DEP - 1609 Atlantic-new home  

  build 

 4. Riverside paving-curb work to begin week of September 23, 2024. 

 5.  Meeting with resident, F. LaGrasse 8/23/2024 

 6. Magistrate Hearing 8/29/2024-204 Cherry with Town Attorney.  

 7.  Vacation workshop 9/29/2024-Vacation rental workshop with Town  

      Attorney. R. Knight to update VR Ordinance with additional language. 

 8.  Website training 8/30/2024 (2 hours) 

 9.  Researching VR software- Allowing $50k in 2025 budget for purchase 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

383383



 SEPTEMBER 2024 TASK LIST 
 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

Clarify the difference between 

Special Event and Town Event, 

inform the Boards, and update forms 

7/17/2024  8/21/2024 Mayor 

Dennington  

Town Manager 

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

8/21/2024 Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about this task list item has been completed.  

7/17/2024 Mayor Dennington requested the Town to clarify the difference between Special Event and Town Event, inform the 

Town Boards, and update the forms. 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

Sixth Ave boat ramp improvements 8/17/2022 12/18/2024  Commissioner 

Runte  

Town Manager/ PW Director 

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

6/19/2024 Push to December after hurricane season. 

3/20/2024 Corey Runte- Pushed for 3 months 

8/16/2023 At the workshop next week. 

7/19/2023 Mayor – Neighboring property put in a taller dock that is getting destroyed, so if the Town put in a small dock it would 

not last long 

6/28/2023 Look into grant opportunities 

3/15/2023 Put on the Town Commission Workshop 

2/15/2023 Tom Davis- met with Bowman Engineering at Sixth Ave boat ramp to get them to draw something up 

1/18/2023 Tom Davis – installed the geogrid and painted the wall, considering installing a kayak rack 

Commissioner Corey Runte – come up with future vision plans and get concept drawings/proposals to beautify it and 

address parking 

11/16/2022 Joyce Barton – Spoke about possible grant options 

Corey Runte – Research funding options 

Mayor Hoover – Start with fixing the seawall 

9/21/2022 Discussed under new business agenda item D. 

384384



 SEPTEMBER 2024 TASK LIST 
 

8/17/2022 Research what the exact issue is with parking that prevents the Town from getting grant money  

 

385385


	1 Agenda Packet Cover Page(1).pdf (p.1)
	2 Table of Contents(1).pdf (p.2-3)
	3 240918 RTCM Agenda.pdf (p.4-6)
	5 A 240906 STCM Minutes(1).pdf (p.7-11)
	5 B 240906 STCM Tentative Budget Hearing Minutes(1).pdf (p.12-15)
	5 C 240827 TCW Minutes(1).pdf (p.16-21)
	5 D 240822 TCW Minutes(1).pdf (p.22-28)
	5 E 240821 STCM Minutes(1).pdf (p.29-31)
	5 F 240821 RTCM Action Minutes(1).pdf (p.32-39)
	5 G 240703 TCW Minutes(1).pdf (p.40-43)
	5 H 5240618 TCW Minutes(1).pdf (p.44-49)
	5 I 240515 RTCM Minutes(1).pdf (p.50-57)
	5 J 1609 Atlantic St Site Plans.pdf (p.58-128)
	6 A Proclamation - Constitution Week.pdf (p.129)
	6 B 1 Parks Board - Sept 18 Town Commission - Summary Agenda Cover Page(1).pdf (p.130-131)
	6 B 2 MB Parks Board - Sept 18 Town Commission Meeting(1).pdf (p.132-145)
	6 B 3 Circle Park Enhancement FINAL.pdf (p.146-147)
	6 B 4 Melbourne Lawn and Landscape Estimate.pdf (p.148)
	6 B 5 Melbourne Lawn and Landscape digital rendering and sample native plants(1).pdf (p.149-151)
	6 B 6 Sun Harbor Response to Circle Park(1).pdf (p.152)
	6 B 7 Bicentennial Park Water Feature.pdf (p.153-156)
	6 B 8 240701 Parks Board Meeting Minutes(1).pdf (p.157-160)
	6 C Planning and Zoning Board Presentation.pdf (p.161-166)
	6 D Eagle Scout Recognition.pdf (p.167-168)
	7 A August FY24 Finance Memo(1).pdf (p.169)
	7 B AUG FY2024 REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE.pdf (p.170-184)
	REVENUEANDEXPENDITURE

	7 C Aug FY24 Parking Revenue Comparison.pdf (p.185)
	Sheet1

	8 A Public Works Activities AUGUST 2024.pdf (p.186-187)
	8 B 1 2024_08 Building Department Report.pdf (p.188)
	8 B 2 Monthly Permit List.pdf (p.189-193)
	8 B 3 Inspection Totals.pdf (p.194-195)
	8 C 1 Open Enforcement Cases 9.10.24.pdf (p.196-197)
	8 C 2 Closed Enforcement Cases 9.10.24.pdf (p.198)
	8 C 3 Vacation Rentals Active 9.12.24.pdf (p.199)
	8 C 4 Vacation Rentals Expired 9.12.24.pdf (p.200)
	8 C 5 Vacation Rentals Ready to Issue 9.10.24.pdf (p.201)
	8 D Fire Department Report.pdf (p.202-205)
	8 E PD 1 August 2024.pdf (p.206-207)
	8 F Dept Reports Town Clerk Report(1).pdf (p.208)
	9 A Public Comment Cover Page.pdf (p.209)
	9 B Walter Hardman Public Comment.pdf (p.210)
	11 A 1 Appointment of New Commissioner(1).pdf (p.211)
	11 A 2  Robert Baldwin(1).pdf (p.212)
	11 A 3 Robert Baldwin Resume.pdf (p.213)
	11 A 4 Dawn Barlow.pdf (p.214)
	11 A 5 Dawn M Barlow Letter of Intent.pdf (p.215-216)
	11 A 6 Robin Davis.pdf (p.217)
	11 A 7 Robin Davis Letter of Intent.pdf (p.218-220)
	11 A 8 Bruce Larson.pdf (p.221)
	11 A 9 Bruce Larson Letter of Intent.pdf (p.222-223)
	11 A 10 Kate Wilborn.pdf (p.224)
	11 A 11 Kate Wilburn Resume.pdf (p.225)
	11 B 240306 TCW Minutes.pdf (p.226-234)
	11 C Reduced Cost for Annual Parking Pass.pdf (p.235)
	11 D 1 ADA Ramp Design Approval.pdf (p.236)
	11 D 2 ADA Building Plans.pdf (p.237-238)
	12 A 1 Sept 18th agenda itemcover sheet 9-18 RTCM.pdf (p.239)
	12 A 2 Robert Bittgood resignation email.pdf (p.240)
	12 A 3 Signed Resignation Robert Bittgood.pdf (p.241-242)
	12 B 1 Town Sponsored Candidate Forum Cover.pdf (p.243)
	12 B 2 Dicsussion and Vote on Holding Meet the Candidates Forum.pdf (p.244-245)
	12 C 1 Mental Health Awareness and Suicide PreventionCover.pdf (p.246)
	12 C 2 22.06.17_Adult-MHFA-Flier.pdf (p.247)
	12 C 3 22.06.17_Youth-MHFA-Flier.pdf (p.248)
	12 C 4 A Guide for Coworkers - Printable.pdf (p.249)
	12 C 5 discussion_guide_07-22-13.pdf (p.250-269)
	The Discussion Guide for Community Conversations About Mental Health
	Goals and Objectives of the 
Toolkit for Community Conversations About Mental Health
	Overview of 
Session Ideas
	Session 1: Sharing Personal Experiences
	Session 2: Discussion of Challenges
	Session 3: Exploration of How to Respond
	Session 4: Community Solutions
	Facilitation Tips and Recommendations
	Appendix 1: Helpful Resources and Websites

	12 C 6 Guide for Leadership - printable.pdf (p.270)
	12 C 7.pdf (p.271)
	12 C 8 Mental Health First Aid - NAMI Florida.pdf (p.272)
	12 C 9 Mental_Health_Guide_Tool_Kit_2018.pdf (p.273-298)
	12 C 10 pep14-mayorsrg.pdf (p.299-315)
	Contents  
	What Is Behavioral Health and Why Does it Matter to Mayors? 
	What You Can to Do to Engage Your Community 
	Potential Next Steps .
	Potential Events to Engage Your Community 
	1. National Children’s Mental Health Awareness Day:  
	2. National Prevention Week and Substance Abuse Prevention Week: 
	3.National Wellness Week
	4.National Recovery Month
	5.Mental Illness Awareness Week
	Suggested Resources .
	Prevention/Promotion Resources: 
	1. Mental Health First Aid Training* 
	2. Three Bold Steps: .A Toolkit for Community Leaders: Safe Schools/Healthy Students* 
	3. The Good Behavior Game* 
	4. Triple P Positive Parenting Program*  
	5. Suicide Prevention: 
	Treatment Resources: 
	1.Crisis Intervention Team Training
	2.National Child Traumatic Stress Network*
	3.Treatment Locator:
	Recovery Support: 
	Appendix 
	Frequently Asked Questions about Mental Health: 

	12 C 11 Veterans-MHFA-Fact-Sheet.pdf (p.316-317)
	12 C 12 Words Matter - printable.pdf (p.318)
	12 C 13 What is Mental Health   - UF%2FIFAS Extension Brevard County.pdf (p.319-322)
	12 C 14 Mental Health First Aid Training - Youth Tickets, Thu, Sep 26, 2024 at 9_00 AM.pdf (p.323-326)
	12 C 15 Adult Mental Health First Aid Training Tickets, Thu, Oct 24, 2024 at 9_00 AM   E.pdf (p.327-328)
	12 C 16.pdf (p.329-330)
	12 C 17 Find a Course or Instructor « Mental Health First Aid 3.pdf (p.331-339)
	12 C 18 About Mission 22 I Our Start, Our Story, and Our Mission.pdf (p.340)
	12 C 19 Veteran Suicide Prevention   Florida Department of Health.pdf (p.341-345)
	12 D 1 Dennington HR Complaint.pdf (p.346)
	12 D 2 Dennington HR Complaint -1.pdf (p.347-351)
	12 D 3 Dennington Complaint Page -2.pdf (p.352)
	12 E 1 Contract for Private Provider Building Services.pdf (p.353)
	12 E 2 Veritas Piggyback.pdf (p.354-379)
	12 E 3 Veritas.pdf (p.380-403)
	12 E 4 UESDOCS-#2109676-v1-PRO_BID_Town_of_Melbourne_Beach_Municipal_Support.pdf (p.404-409)
	1a - Proposal Front Cover

	12 F Request to Change the October RTCM Date.pdf (p.410)
	13 A Code Enforcement Process.pdf (p.411-413)
	13 B Town Manager Memo.pdf (p.414)
	Task List.pdf (p.415-416)

	I Scope of Services  Understanding of Project See attached proposal or as indicated below UES Opportunity No 0315092400002 UES Docs No 2109676 Fees and Terms Building Official Support  14000 per hour with a 3hour minimum charge per visit: 
	Firm: 
	Federal Identification No: 
	Address: 
	City: 
	Zip Code: 
	Attention: 
	Title: 
	Phone: 
	Fax: 
	Firm_2: 
	Address_2: 
	City_2: 
	Zip Code_2: 
	Attention_2: 
	Title_2: 
	Phone_2: 
	Fax_2: 
	this: 
	day of: 
	CLIENT: 
	NAME: 
	TITLE: 
	DATE: 
	Signature1_es_:signer:signature: 
	Signature2_es_:signer:signature: 


